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This annual report is a straightforward 

overview of Airgas  — our business 

model, operating philosophy and 

financial performance — and an insight 

into the ways we will continue moving 

straight forward to achieve our long-

term growth goals despite the current 

economic downturn. 



k
Peter McCausland

In this space last year, I wrote that we were keeping a “weather 
eye on the U.S. economy.” The storm that hit was bigger than 
anybody could have predicted, which is why I’m prouder than 
ever of our company’s performance. 

Even after the economy dropped off a cliff in the second half 
of the year, our value proposition and dedicated associates 
came to the fore and we posted another year of record earnings 
and increased sales, with record operating cash flow to boot.

This shouldn’t surprise anybody familiar with our company. 
Over the past three decades, Airgas has grown from a $4 
million company to a $4 billion leader in the packaged gas 
industry. It hasn’t always been easy, but we have a history of 
moving forward in boom or bust times, and our long-term 
view of the business has always served us well.

As I write this, in June 2009, we don’t yet see the light at the 
end of the economic tunnel. Business conditions in the U.S. 
industrial economy are still dreary, demand levels for some of 
our products remain low and there’s no guarantee that it will 
turn around next month or next year. 

Still, none of that will deter us from pushing forward and 
pursuing the best available growth opportunities. That’s the 
Airgas way.

A strong year despite the downturn
With all that occurred last year – from the housing collapse 
to auto bailouts – I could easily be writing about the worst 
financial year in Airgas history. Instead, I’m writing about the 
best.

Sales increased 8 percent to $4.3 billion and we posted record 
earnings of $3.12 per diluted share, up 17 percent from $2.66 
in the previous year. This strong performance was driven by 
healthy sales growth in the first half of the year and our ability 
to quickly curtail costs and capital spending in response to the 
slowing economy in the second half of the year.

We also reached $328 million in free cash flow, a 46 percent 
increase from the previous year and the highest level in 
our company history. In a down economy, our free cash 
flow actually rises because our capital spending reverts to 

To Our Shareholders, Customers, Associates and Friends:

maintenance levels, working capital shrinks, and variable 
expenses fall. The increase in cash flow means we can pay down 
debt and realize interest savings, and gives us the flexibility and 
resources to pursue our growth strategies. 

Last year, we completed 14 acquisitions, adding more than $205 
million in annual revenues. This coming year, potential sellers 
will be harder to find, as they step back to assess their business 
in the wake of economic challenges. We will, however, continue 
to be aggressive in our search for businesses that bolster our core 
gas business, strengthen our adjacent offerings and give us entry 
into new markets.

Our solid financial performance even in the face of such a 
weak sales environment can be attributed in large part to 
the performance of our strategic products. Ten years ago, 
we expanded our business to include these higher-growth 
categories: bulk, medical and specialty gases; safety products, 
and carbon dioxide and dry ice. Today, they account for about 
40 percent of our revenues and continue to outperform the 
traditional industrial gas and welding supply offerings. 

In fiscal 2009, we grew organic revenues in medical gases by 
7 percent, specialty gases by 8 percent and bulk gases by 10 
percent, all enviable increases in today’s economy. Safety sales 
were up by 1 percent and carbon dioxide and dry ice were up by 
2 percent, still welcome growth in a year when other gases and 
hardgoods were down overall. 

We weren’t immune to the economic impact
While we racked up another record year, the economic downturn 
certainly dampened the celebration. 

In the fourth quarter, we saw year-over-year declines in same-
store sales and earnings. 

These decreases speak to the hard times now facing the 
industrial markets, our core customer group, but even here there 
are encouraging signs of life.

To survive in this tough economic climate, many of our welding 
customers are moving forward with automation projects that 
require our expertise, gases and hardgoods. Larger, national 
customers are also implementing vendor consolidation 
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initiatives that play to our strength as a strategic accounts 
provider, able to offer the broadest product and service offering 
and the largest geographic scope of any competitor in the 
market. During times like these, our value proposition becomes 
more evident to customers.

We’re experiencing a similar good news-bad news scenario 
in the construction market, a growing customer segment for 
Airgas. On one hand, there have been cancellations and delays 
in highway projects and the building of coal-fired plants. On the 
other hand, we’re selling more products to contractors building 
bio-fuel plants and expanding airports and refineries. And since 
we still have a relatively small portion of the total spend of the 
top U.S. construction contractors, there’s definite opportunity 
for growth even in a slowing economy.

And while we did see growth in all our strategic product 
categories last year, customer caution throttled down the growth 
rates. The positive news is that all of our strategic products 
have good long-term growth profiles due to cross-selling 
opportunities, favorable customer exposure, applications 
development and regulatory acceleration.

Quick actions protect us now and position us for the future
While no company can say that they saw the economic freefall 
coming, we weren’t unprepared and that has helped us to 
minimize the impact. Airgas is a fairly conservative company. 
When the financial markets began heading south, we took 
immediate actions.

At the leadership level, we made rapid adjustments in 
variable compensation and discretionary expenses, inventory, 
receivables and capital expenditures. On the front lines, our 
managers and associates responded with amazing speed to 
reign in expenses, reduce local expenditures and reach out to 
customers. 

Additionally, we had a number of our major efficiency projects 
already under way, including ultrasonic cylinder testing, 
computer-generated delivery routes and improved plant 
efficiencies. These projects saved millions of dollars in fiscal 
2009 and will continue to reduce our expenses going forward.  
We also realized significant savings from acquisition synergies 
as a result of our unhurried approach to business integrations.

We’ve recently reduced annual operating expense by more than 
$45 million and have contingency plans ready for further cost 
reductions if necessary. The actions we have taken to date are 
saving money and making us more efficient, which will help 
build business over the long-term. 

New programs and forward progress
While these cost-saving measures are necessities in today’s 
tough times, we know we can’t cut our way to success. I’m very 
encouraged with the amount of forward progress Airgas is 
making in this challenging marketplace. 

Overall, we increased the amount of associate training 
significantly, including a twenty-fold increase in on-line 
training. Right now, our entire organization is participating in 
comprehensive customer service training programs to ensure 
that every stage of the Airgas customer experience – from price 
quoting to gas delivery – is second to none. 

Customer service is the driving force behind a number of other 
business-building advances. Our OUTLOOK® service allows us to 
manage the supply chain of gases for our customers so they can 
concentrate on their primary businesses. To speed delivery of 
gases to new and existing customers, we recently built, acquired, 
or renovated a number of fill plants. And, for the longer term, 
we're on the front end of a multi-year phased transition to 
a common information platform that will make it easier for 
customers to do business with Airgas.

In fiscal 2009, acquisitions and internal process improvements 
continued to strengthen our strategic product categories. 

In the healthcare sector, we now offer certification of medical 
piping systems and have introduced a cylinder rehabilitation 
and testing service for homecare medical distributors. Our 
acquisition of Oilind Safety enhanced our construction offering 
with the addition of air masks and gas detection equipment, 
and the purchase of A&N Plant expanded our range of rental 
equipment and gave us a presence in the European market.

For specialty gas customers, we developed a returnable lecture 
bottle so they don’t have to deal with hazardous waste disposal 
issues. We also acquired Refron which gave us the critical mass 
to form Airgas Refrigerants, a new and promising business 
focused on the reclamation and sale of refrigerant products used 
by our diversified customer base.
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In the past six months, we have opened two new air separation 
units. Airgas now has 16 facilities producing oxygen, nitrogen 
and argon for pipeline and bulk delivery customers – and 
helping us build a more robust infrastructure for our growing 
bulk gas business.

Our core strengths will carry the day
I believe Airgas is striking the right balance between reasonable 
caution and forward progress. I’m not an economic forecaster, 
but I know that our business model has guided us through down 
times before and that we provide products and services that are 
essential to keeping America running.

We touch all parts of America’s infrastructure and have a 
diversified customer base – from factories and hospitals 
to construction sites and research laboratories – and that’s 
why we’re in a much better position than many companies to 
weather this economic downturn.

Our associates are another powerful weapon. Airgas is a 
company filled from top to bottom with practical, common 
sense people. We’re not Wall Street, we’re Main Street. And our 
associates' ability to see what needs to be done – and then do it 
quickly and in a quality manner – will serve our customers and 
our company well as we navigate upon these uncertain waters.

Sadly, this past year, we lost an associate who was with Airgas 
since the beginning and exemplified all of the traits we value 
in our employees. Todd Craun, our associate general counsel, 
passed away in early 2009, and we will miss him greatly. 
Another invaluable contributor to our company, board member 
Bill Albertini, also passed away. His on-target insights and 
informed decisions guided our company to new heights, and 
I’m confident that our newest board member, Ellen Wolf, will 
help us keep moving forward and achieving even greater goals.

We’re okay today and will be better tomorrow
I always say that you make your money during hard times, and 
count it when times are good. 

Depending on the duration of this soft market, Airgas is 
probably looking at slight to moderate revenue declines across 
most of our product portfolio in fiscal 2010, and will continue 
looking for ways to take costs out of our business. These efforts 
will multiply the rewards we reap when the economy does 
rebound.

While it’s not exactly business-as-usual in the short term, 
we remain committed to our long-term growth strategy. Our 
strong position in free cash flow, which allowed us to reward 
our shareholders with recent dividend increases, gives me 
confidence that we can stay on course and weather this storm. 
We also remain watchful for opportunities from the stimulus 
spending plan. A focused infrastructure build supports demand 
for our industrial gases, welding goods and safety supplies, 
and stimulus money for research and healthcare should drive 
demand for our specialty and medical gases.

While there is still a considerable degree of economic obscurity 
out there, we have a great deal of clarity about the realization 
of our strategic vision. Our customers now benefit from a vast 
network of locations supported by outstanding product and 
process specialists across the broadest product and service 
offering in the industry. Every day we draw closer to being the 
kind of dynamic, world-class distribution organization we want 
to be. 

This coming year isn’t going to be easy for any business. The 
best companies will succeed because of sound strategies and 
hard work. That’s been our straightforward operating philosophy 
since the earliest days and it will continue to guide Airgas to new 
levels of success no matter what challenges we face.

Peter McCausland
Chairman and Chief Executive
June 12, 2009
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Airgas is an essential business. Our products and services 
provide the fundamental and necessary building blocks for 
the U.S. economy and form the backbone of America’s 
infrastructure. 

When a power plant or bridge goes up, construction workers 
put on personal protective safety equipment and weld with 
gases and hardgoods, as they work to improve our skylines 
and highways. Not only does Airgas supply these necessary 
products, we provide the expertise to use them.

Factory workers rely on our industrial gases to produce their 
goods. Food manufacturers use our carbon dioxide and 
nitrogen to process and protect their shipments. Oil refineries 
turn to Airgas experts to manage their gas cylinder inventory. 
Hospitals depend on our medical oxygen to help their patients 
breathe. And research laboratories use our specialty gases to 
further the cause of scientific development.

We don’t provide nice-to-have products. We provide necessary 
ones that companies of all types and sizes count on to do the 
vital work – the hard jobs, the dirty jobs, the important jobs that 
improve our world and our lives.

Our recent acquisition of 
Oilind Safety provides Airgas 
customers with a new line of 

products and services to protect 
workers in confined spaces.

Essentialk

k
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Airgas is a business built to last. We’ve been growing steadily 
for the past three decades and have all the ingredients to 
continue on this track well into the future.

Our time-tested growth strategies are straightforward and 
effective. 

We build our core industrial gases business and national 
footprint through acquisitions of independent gas distributors 
– about 400 acquisitions and counting – and expand into 
adjacent, strategic growth businesses where it makes sense. 
Over the past decade, we’ve made strong moves into bulk, 
medical and specialty gases, carbon dioxide and dry ice, and 
safety equipment. Similarly, we’ve built the industry’s largest 

fleet of rental welding equipment, and a thriving ammonia 
distribution network. And now, we’re building a new refrigerant 
supply and reclamation business.

But these strategies only work because they are built on a solid 
foundation. Our counter people, drivers, fillers and managers 
are veteran employees with invaluable industry experience, and 
our business runs on more than 10 million cylinders, 13,000 
bulk tanks, 5,000 trucks and other long-life assets that provide 
us with financial and operating stability for years to come.

Each year, Airgas delivers 
billions of cubic feet of 

industrial, medical and specialty 
gases in safe, dependable 
cylinders, and we recently 
expanded our offering to 

refrigerants, as well. 

k

Durablek

Airgas Annual Report 2009
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Airgas is a large, national company that acts like a local one. 
The entrepreneurial spirit and customer connections that 
distinguished Airgas when it was a small start-up are stronger 
than ever.

Walk-in customers get quick service, straight answers and free 
welding and cutting advice from our branch associates. Airgas 
drivers that deliver our cylinders and safety products serve as 
dependable partners for the customers on their routes. And 
when large companies hand their on-site cylinder management 
responsibilities over to Airgas OUTLOOK® Managed Services, 
they know they’re putting this vital process in good hands.

We’re not always perfect, but we’re working to get there. 
Right now, Airgas is in the midst of a major customer service 
initiative designed to ensure that every customer experience is 
a positive one. Stores are stocked with items that customers 
want. Phones are answered quickly and politely. Ordering is 
easy, invoices are accurate and deliveries are on time.

We’re a nationwide company, but our customers know us more 
as a trusted provider and good neighbor. 

Airgas’ million-plus customers 
can count on top-notch service 

from associates working  
at more than 850 Airgas  

retail locations.

k

Trusted

Airgas Annual Report 2009
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Airgas is always looking for a better way. Innovation is our 
watchword, and we continually strive to develop products 
and processes that are safer, faster, more accurate and more 
useful.

We are ready, willing, and able to engineer the right solutions 
for our customers’ needs. Whether the job requires bulk, 
medical, or specialty gases, welding or safety know-how, 
refrigerant reclamation or ammonia expertise, we can deliver a 
custom-tailored approach that is sure to bring our customers 
to their competitive best.

Our AcuGrav™ computerized filling system lets research labs 
get the most accurate mixture of specialty gases available, 
and our automated FTIR technology analyzes critical specialty 
gas mixtures with far greater accuracy and efficiency than 
conventional means.

We don’t overlook the simple solutions. With efficient, high-
quality ultrasonic cylinder testing equipment, more cylinders 
are in circulation at any one time to meet customer needs. 

Our new logistics program helps more than 5,000 Airgas drivers 
cover more ground – and service more customers – each day, 
and the most up-to-date safety training programs have helped 
these road warriors achieve the lowest fleet accident rate of 
any large truck fleet in the compressed gas industry.

From our stores to the streets, Airgas is an industry innovator 
that never settles for the status quo.

Innovativek

Airgas proprietary FTIR 
technology analyzes gases 

with unparalleled precision so 
companies can more reliably 

measure their emissions to 
comply with EPA standards.

k

Airgas Annual Report 2009

10



k

k



Airgas is a forward-looking company committed to its long-
term vision. In the midst of a challenge such as the recent 
economic crisis, where some companies might adopt a bunker 
mentality, Airgas drives forward.

We climbed our way to the top spot as the undisputed leader 
in the U.S. packaged gas industry and will continue to grow 
our business and satisfy our customers by making sound 
decisions.

It’s not always easy. There are times when it’s tempting to stray 
from our strategy and make dramatic moves for short-term 
gains, but that’s not our way. Airgas isn’t flashy or focused on 
the short term. Our management team sees the big picture – a 
strong business, a proven strategy, a track record of success 
– and knows that if we continue to deliver on our customer 
promise hour-by-hour, day-by-day, we will continue to outpace 
the competition and bring new business and investors into the 
fold.

The most successful companies know where they are going – 
and stay on a straight, forward path to reach their long-range 
goals. That’s exactly where Airgas is headed.

Drivenk

Airgas has the largest truck 
fleet in the packaged gas 

industry and our drivers log 
more than 125 million  

miles a year.

k
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Serving a broad customer baseAirgas is the largest U.S. distributor of 
packaged gases and welding hardgoods

Airgas at a glance

We are a leading distributor and producer, with a full line of products and services in a broad range of 
categories, and capabilities to engineer solutions for customer needs. Our national platform of more than 
1,100 locations and 14,000 employees serves a diversified customer base through retail stores, field sales, 
telesales, catalog, and eBusiness channels.

Industrial Gases:

More than 10 million cylinders, 325 high-pressure cylinder fill plants, 
and 19 acetylene manufacturing facilities to supply a full range of 
industrial gases, including welding, shielding and cutting gases

Bulk Gases:

Production and distribution of merchant volumes — 16 air separation 
units, 60 bulk gas specialists, and more than 13,000 bulk tanks 
supply our distribution infrastructure and bulk gas customers

Medical Gases:

More than 350 FDA-certified medical gas fill plants serving 
hospitals, medical institutions, home healthcare distributors, 
physicians’ practices, and other medical businesses – full range of 
medical gases, medical gas equipment, medical facility certification, 
home respiratory therapy equipment and related supplies

Specialty Gases:

Network of nine national labs, more than 65 regional labs, two 
equipment centers, and one R&D center support products 
including high-purity, rare, calibration, and specialty-blend gases 
– approximately two-thirds of specialty gas labs are ISO 9001 
registered; three are also ISO/IEC 17025 accredited 

CO2/Dry Ice:
Seven liquid carbon dioxide plants and 45 dry ice facilities 
supply customers in food processing, food service, beverage, 
pharmaceutical and biotech industries, including Penguin Brand® 
Dry Ice in grocery and other retail outlets nationwide

Welding Hardgoods and Safety Products:

Six distribution centers streamline the supply chain for welding 
hardgoods, safety products, gas equipment, tools, and construction 
supplies to Airgas branches and customers, including Radnor® 
private-label products

CONSTRUCTION 13%

MEDICAL 9%

PETROLEUM AND CHEMICALS 7%

FOOD PRODUCTS 6%

RETAIL AND WHOLESALE 4%

OTHER 3%

ANALYTICAL 2%

TRANSPORTATION 2%

UTILITIES 2% 

INDUSTRIAL MANUFACTURING 25%

REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE 27%

Refrigerants:

Nationwide network of distribution and reclamation centers 
for full range of refrigerant products and services dedicated to 
providing complete refrigerant supply and service for the air 
conditioning and refrigeration industries

Ammonia:

National distribution network providing products and services 
in the U.S. for nitrogen oxide abatement (DeNOx), chemical 
processing, water treatment, and metal finishing

Red-D-Arc®:

Welding equipment rental and welding-related services through 
over 40 Red-D-Arc® locations and Airgas construction stores 
in North America, while serving Europe and the Middle East 
through A&N Plant

Energy and Infrastructure Construction Offering:

Complete line of supplies for energy and infrastructure 
construction contractors and maintenance and repair operations 
(MRO) through construction-focused branches; safety products 
and consulting services through Oilind Safety

Strategic Accounts:

Lowest total cost solution for customers with multiple locations, 
organized to support general and specialized industries; tailored 
supply chain management solutions through OUTLOOK® 
Services substantially streamlines cylinder and hardgoods 
procurement

Primary Gases:

• Oxygen
• Nitrogen
• Argon
• Carbon dioxide
• Helium

• Acetylene
• Fuel gases
• Refrigerants
• Ammonia
• Nitrous oxide
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Safety comes first. 

• We believe that accidents are preventable and are committed to a safe work environment.

• With over 5,000 vehicles in our distribution fleet, Airgas has the lowest fleet accident rate of 
any large fleet in the compressed gas industry.

Here are just some of the ways we are working now to preserve the world for the future by making positive 
contributions to the community and minimizing our impact on the environment:

With more than 1 million customers, we are making a  
positive impact through our products. 

• Our bulk oxygen is used for cleaner, more efficient combustion, 
as well as for wastewater treatment.

• We’re training utilities on ways to reduce their sulfur hexafluoride 
emissions, growing our refrigerants reclamation business and 
expanding our use of returnable laboratory and refrigerant 
cylinders to reduce potentially harmful waste and conserve 
natural resources.

• Our liquid carbon dioxide is a green alternative for dry cleaners, 
factories and wastewater treatment plants that formerly used 
environmentally hazardous chemicals.

• Our EPA Protocols and other gases help customers analyze 
their emissions faster and more completely to stay in 
environmental compliance.

With more than 1,100 locations, we are making a positive 
impact through our processes. 

• Our Air Separation plants are focused on actively monitoring 
and increasing our energy efficiency.

• Our distribution centers use efficient lighting, recyclable pallets 
and rechargeable forklifts and power equipment. 

• Our 10 million-plus cylinders are returnable and refillable and 
painted with environmentally friendly water-based paint.

With more than 5,000 trucks, we are making a positive impact 
through our driving practices.

• Our trucks fitted with engine idle shutdown devices that reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions save 600,000 gallons of diesel fuel 
each year. 

• We’re reducing fuel consumption with microprocessor-controlled 
engines and automated shift transmissions, lighter-weight wheels 
and fuel tanks, aerodynamic designs, and reduced top speeds. 

• We’re using new software to streamline our delivery routes 
and wireless telemetry systems that reduce road trips by 
automatically monitoring customer bulk tank levels.

With more than 14,000 associates, we are making a positive 
impact on our communities.

• We offer competitive compensation and comprehensive benefits 
to our associates, and provide extensive training commensurate 
with job responsibilities.

• We are partnering with Operation Homefront to support 
America’s soldiers by providing emergency assistance to their 
families when they are deployed and to the service members 
when they return home. Airgas pledged $300,000 to the cause, 
and our associates are taking part in hundreds of volunteer 
activities at the local level.

• We are committed to hiring veterans, and we offer free welding 
training to any veteran interested in exploring a career in welding.

• Our associates coordinate and participate in a wide variety of 
volunteer and fund-raising efforts to benefit people in need.

AIRGAS 20%

INDEPENDENTS 57%

INDUSTRIAL MANUFACTURING 29%

REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE 26%

UTILITIES 2%

TRANSPORTATION 2%

OTHER 3%

ANALYTICAL 3%

PETROLEUM & CHEMICALS 5%

RETAIL AND WHOLESALE 5%

FOOD PRODUCTS 6%

MEDICAL 7%

CONSTRUCTION 12%

Social and Environmental Responsibility

AIRGAS…  
Known locally nationwide, with more than 
1,100 locations.

Personal Safety Statistics     Fleet Safety Statistics 

 Total Recordable Injury  Lost Workday  Fleet Vehicle Accident Preventable Vehicle Accident
 Incidence Rate1  Incident Rate1   Frequency Rate2  Frequency Rate2

2005   3.0  0.7   3.6  2.3 
2006   3.0  0.6   3.2  1.9
2007   3.0  0.6   3.1  1.7
2008   2.7  0.4   3.0  1.6

1per 200,000 hours worked        2accidents per million miles driven; includes cylinder and fleet vehicle categories

SOUTH

SOUTHWEST

MID SOUTH

NATIONAL WELDERS

MID AMERICA

GREAT LAKES

NORTH CENTRAL
EAST

WEST
INTERMOUNTAIN
NCN
NOR PAC
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(from Left to Right)

Leslie J. Graff / Senior Vice President, Corporate Development 
Peter McCausland / Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
Dwight T. Wilson / Senior Vice President, Human Resources 
Robert A. Dougherty / Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer 
Robert M. McLaughlin / Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
Robert H. Young, Jr. / Senior Vice President and General Counsel 
Michael L. Molinini / Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

Andrew R. Cichocki 
Division President, Gas Operations

Max D. Hooper 
Division President, West

B. Shaun Powers 
Division President, East

Kelly P. Justice 
Senior Vice President,  
Airgas Puritan Medical

James A. Muller 
Senior Vice President, Specialty Gas 
and Life Sciences

Michael E. Rohde 
Senior Vice President,  
Distribution Operations

Thomas S. Thoman 
Senior Vice President, Airgas 
Merchant Gases

Patrick M. Visintainer 
Senior Vice President, Sales

David E. Levin 
Vice President, Hardgoods

Thomas M. Smyth 
Vice President, Controller

Joseph C. Sullivan 
Vice President, Treasurer

Carey M. Verger 
Vice President, Taxes

R. Jay Worley 
Vice President, Communications and 
Investor Relations

E. David Coyne 
Director, Internal Audit

Airgas East 
Frederick E. Manley

Airgas Great Lakes 
Kevin M. McBride

Airgas Intermountain  
Douglas L. Jones

Airgas Mid America 
J. Robert Hilliard

Airgas Mid South 
Terry L. Lodge

Airgas National Welders 
Steve Marinelli

Airgas Nor Pac 
Dan L. Tatro

Airgas North Central 
Ronald J. Stark

Airgas Northern California & Nevada 
Michael T. Chandler

Airgas South 
L. Jay Sullivan

Airgas Southwest 
J. Brent Sparks

Airgas West 
J. Samuel Thompson

Airgas Carbonic/Dry Ice 
Philip J. Filer

Airgas Refrigerants 
Charles E. Broadus, Sr.

Airgas Safety 
Donald S. Carlino, Jr.

Airgas Specialty Products 
Ted R. Schulte

Red-D-Arc 
Mitch M. Imielinski

Corporate Officers: Airgas Operating Companies and Presidents

Management Committee 
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S t o c k h o l d e r  R e t u r n  P e r f o r m a n c e
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Net Sales 
(in millions of dollars)

Diluted Earnings Per Share  
from Continuing Operations

Free Cash Flow(1)

(in millions of dollars)
Return on Capital(1)

(1) Definitions of and reconciliations between these financial metrics and their most comparable measure under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles are presented on pages 77 and 78.

Below is a graph comparing the yearly change in the cumulative total stockholder return on the Company’s common stock against the 

cumulative total return of the S&P MidCap 400 Chemicals Index and the S&P MidCap 400 Index for the five-year period that began April 1, 

2004 and ended March 31, 2009.

The Company believes the use of the S&P MidCap 400 Chemicals Index and the S&P MidCap 400 Index for purposes of this performance 

comparison is appropriate because Airgas is a component of the indices and they include companies of similar size to Airgas.

March 31 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Airgas $ 100.00 $ 112.98 $ 186.32 $ 202.36 $ 220.04 $ 165.81

S&P MidCap 400 Chemicals $ 100.00 $ 127.67 $ 131.70 $ 160.70 $ 174.67 $ 116.10

S&P MidCap 400 $ 100.00 $ 110.43 $ 134.31 $ 145.65 $ 135.50 $ 86.59

The graph above assumes that $100 was invested on April 1, 2004, in Airgas, Inc. Common Stock, the S&P MidCap 400 Chemicals Index, and the S&P MidCap 400 Index. 
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Selected financial data for the Company are presented in the table below and should be read in conjunction 
with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included herein. 

S e l e c t e d  F i n a n c i a l  D a t a

(In thousands, except per share amounts):
Years Ended March 31, 2009(1) 2008(2) 2007(3) 2006(4) 2005(5)

Operating Results
Net sales $ 4,349,455 $ 4,017,024 $ 3,205,051 $ 2,829,610 $ 2,367,782 
Depreciation and amortization  220,795  189,775  147,343  127,542  111,078 
Operating income  524,868  475,824  341,497  269,142  202,454 
Interest expense, net  84,395  89,485  60,180  54,145  51,245 
Discount on securitization of trade receivables  10,738  17,031  13,630  9,371  4,711 
Loss on debt extinguishment — —  12,099 — —
Other income (expense), net  (382)  1,454  1,556  2,411  1,129 
Income taxes  168,265  144,184  99,883  77,866  54,261 
Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate —  (3,230)  (2,845)  (2,656)  (1,808)
Income from continuing operations before the cumulative effect 

of a change in accounting principle  261,088  223,348  154,416  127,515  91,558 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — — —  (1,424)  464 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax — — —  (2,540) —
Net earnings $ 261,088 $ 223,348 $ 154,416 $ 123,551 $  92,022 

Net Earnings per Common Share
Basic

Earnings from continuing operations before the cumulative 
effect of a change in accounting principle $ 3.19 $ 2.74 $ 1.98 $ 1.66 $  1.22 

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations — — —  (0.02)  0.01 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — — —  (0.03) —
Net earnings per share $ 3.19 $ 2.74 $ 1.98 $ 1.61 $  1.23 

Diluted
Earnings from continuing operations before the cumulative 

effect of a change in accounting principle $ 3.12 $ 2.66 $ 1.92 $ 1.62 $  1.19 
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations — — —  (0.02)  0.01 
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — — —  (0.03) —
Net earnings per share $ 3.12 $ 2.66 $ 1.92 $ 1.57 $  1.20 

Dividends per common share declared  
and paid (6) $ 0.56 $ 0.39 $ 0.28 $ 0.24 $  0.18 

Balance Sheet and Other Data at March 31:
Working capital $ 285,510 $ 132,323 $ 121,543 $ (17,138) $  132,969 
Total assets 4,399,537 3,987,264 3,333,457 2,474,412 2,291,863 
Current portion of long-term debt  11,058  40,400  40,296  131,901  6,948 
Long-term debt  1,750,308  1,539,648  1,309,719  635,726  801,635 
Deferred income tax liability, net  565,783  439,782  373,246  327,818  282,186 
Other non-current liabilities  79,231  80,104  39,963  30,864  24,391 
Minority interest in affiliate — —  57,191  57,191  36,191 
Stockholders’ equity  1,571,755  1,413,336  1,125,382  947,159  814,172 
Capital expenditures for years ended March 31,  351,912  267,378  238,274  208,603  167,977

(1) Stock-based compensation expense in fiscal 2009 was $20.6 million ($14.1 million after tax), 
or $0.17 per diluted share.

(2) As discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations and in the notes to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, the results 
for fiscal 2008 include a one time, non-cash charge of $2.5 million, or $0.03 per diluted 
share, related to the National Welders Exchange Transaction through which the joint venture 
became a 100% owned subsidiary. Also included in the results for fiscal 2008 is a tax benefit 
of $1.3 million, or $0.01 per diluted share, due to additional guidance issued with respect to 
a prior year change in Texas state income tax law. Fiscal 2008 acquisition integration costs, 
principally related to the Linde Bulk Gas and Linde Package Gas acquisitions, were $10.1 
million ($6.2 million after tax). Stock-based compensation expense in fiscal 2008 was $16.6 
million ($11.3 million after tax), or $0.13 per diluted share.

(3) As discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations and in the notes to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, the results 
for fiscal 2007 include a charge of $12.1 million ($7.9 million after tax), or approximately 
$0.10 per diluted share, for the early extinguishment of debt and a tax benefit of $0.02 per 
diluted share related to a change in Texas state income tax law. The Company also adopted 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, utilizing the 
modified prospective method in fiscal 2007. Under the modified prospective method, no 
stock-based compensation expense was reflected in periods prior to fiscal 2007. Stock-based 
compensation expense in fiscal 2007 was $15.4 million ($10.9 million after tax), or $0.13 per 
diluted share.

(4) The results for fiscal 2006 include an after-tax charge of $2.5 million as a result of the adoption 
of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset 
Retirement Obligations, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143, which was recorded as 
a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, an after-tax loss of $1.9 million on the 
divestiture of Rutland Tool, which was reported as a discontinued operation, and an estimated 
loss of $2.2 million ($1.4 million after tax) related to hurricanes Katrina and Rita. Working capital 
decreased in fiscal 2006 compared to 2005 primarily due to an increase in the current portion of 
long-term debt. 

(5) The results for fiscal 2005 include integration costs related to the acquisition of the U.S. packaged 
gas business of The BOC Group, Inc. and employee separation costs of $6.4 million ($4.0 million 
after tax). Fiscal 2005 also reflected a full year of National Welders as a consolidated affiliate. See 
Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(6) The Company paid its stockholders quarterly cash dividends of $0.12 per share at the end of 
each of the first two quarters of fiscal 2009. In the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2009, 
the Company paid dividends of $0.16 per share. During fiscal 2008, the Company paid regular 
quarterly cash dividends of $0.09 per share during the first three quarters and $0.12 per share 
during the fourth quarter. In fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006, and fiscal 2005, the Company paid its 
stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of $0.07, $0.06, and $0.045 per share, respectively. 
On May 19, 2009, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend 
of $0.18 per share, which is payable on June 30, 2009 to stockholders of record as of June 15, 
2009. Future dividend declarations and associated amounts paid will depend upon the Company’s 
earnings, financial condition, loan covenants, capital requirements and other factors deemed 
relevant by management and the Company’s Board of Directors.
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Results of Operations: 2009 Compared to 2008

Overview

Airgas, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Airgas” or the “Company”) had 
net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009 (“fiscal 2009” 
or “current year”) of $4.3 billion compared to $4.0 billion for the 
fiscal year ended March 31, 2008 (“fiscal 2008” or “prior year”). 
The fiscal 2009 net sales reflect a weak sales environment in the 
fiscal fourth quarter ended March 31, 2009. Fourth quarter sales 
were $1.0 billion compared to $1.1 billion in the prior year, a 
decline of 9%. Total same-store sales in the fourth quarter declined 
13%, with hardgoods sales down 20% and gas and rent down 8%. 
Acquisitions contributed 4% sales growth in the quarter. Due to the 
current year’s weak fourth quarter sales environment, management 
has provided a separate discussion on fourth quarter fiscal 2009 
versus fourth quarter fiscal 2008 below. 

For fiscal 2009, net sales increased by 8% driven by the impact of 
current and prior year acquisitions and same-store sales growth. 
Acquisitions accounted for 7% of the overall sales growth. Same-
store sales growth contributed 1% to the increase in total sales, 
driven by a 4% increase in pricing, offset by a 3% decrease in sales 
volumes. Price increases were designed to offset rising product, 
operating and distribution costs. Lower sales volumes reflect the 
effects of the slowing economy and the decreased demand experi-
enced in the second half of the fiscal year across all customer and 
geographic segments. The Company’s strategic products and related 
growth initiatives mitigated the impact of the economic slow down. 

Operating leverage and the benefit of acquisition synergies resulted 
in a 30 basis point expansion in the operating income margin to 
12.1% in fiscal 2009 compared to 11.8% in the prior year. Net earn-
ings per diluted share grew 17% to $3.12 in fiscal 2009 versus $2.66 
in the prior year. The strong performance was driven by good sales 
growth in the first half of the year and effective management of 
costs in response to the slowing economy in the second half of the 
year. Fiscal 2008 included a one-time, non-cash charge of $0.03 per 
diluted share related to the conversion of National Welders Supply 
Company, Inc. (“National Welders”) from a joint venture to a 100% 
owned subsidiary, and $0.01 per diluted share tax benefit related to 
a change in state tax law. 

Acquisitions

In fiscal 2009 the Company acquired a total of 14 businesses with 
aggregate historical annual revenues of more than $205 million. 
The largest of these acquisitions was Refron, Inc. (“Refron”), a New 
York-based distributor of refrigerant gases with historical annual 
sales of $93 million, acquired on July 31, 2008. With the acquisi-
tion of Refron, the Company formed Airgas Refrigerants, Inc. and 
merged the newly acquired operations with its existing refrig-
erant gas business. Airgas Refrigerants, Inc. is reflected in the All 
Other Operations business segment. Other significant acquisitions 
included Oilind Safety, an Arizona-based provider of industrial 

safety services including rental equipment, safety supplies, and 
technical support and training, with historical annual sales of $23 
million; A&N Plant, a European-based supplier of positioning and 
welding equipment for sale and rent with historical annual sales of 
$20 million; and Gordon Woods Welding Supply, an industrial gas 
and welding supply distributor in the northern Los Angeles area 
with historical annual sales of $25 million. These acquisitions were 
merged into the operations of the Distribution business segment. 
The acquisitions expand the Company’s coverage in key geogra-
phies, strengthen its national distribution network and broaden 
its refrigerant gas and safety product offerings. The acquisition of 
A&N Plant provides for increased international presence and an 
expansion of the Red-D-Arc rental welder business into Europe.

Financing

On June 5, 2008, the Company issued $400 million of 7.125% 
senior subordinated notes at par. The notes are due October 1, 2018 
and contain a redemption provision that permits the Company, at 
its option, to call the notes at scheduled dates and prices. The net 
proceeds from the offering were used to reduce the outstanding 
balance under the Company’s existing revolving credit facility.

As of March 31, 2009, approximately $266 million remained 
unused under the Company’s revolving credit facility, which 
matures in July 2011. The Company’s margins of compliance with 
the financial covenants of the credit facility result in no restrictions 
on the Company’s ability to borrow on the unused portion of the 
credit facility.

Stock Repurchase Plan

In November 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a 
stock repurchase plan (the “Repurchase Plan”) that provided the 
Company with the authorization to repurchase up to $150 mil-
lion of its common stock. During the year ended March 31, 2009 
the Company purchased 2.4 million shares for $115.6 million to 
complete the Repurchase Plan. As of March 31, 2009, the Company 
has no authorization remaining for any additional treasury share 
purchases under the plan. 

Business Segments

The Company aggregates its operations, based on products and 
services, into two reportable business segments, Distribution and 
All Other Operations. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, the 
Company changed the operating practices and organization of its 
air separation production facilities and national specialty gas labs. 
The new operating practices and organization reflect the evolution 
of these businesses and their role to support the regional distribu-
tion companies. The regional distribution companies market to 
and manage the end customer relationships, coordinating and 
cross-selling the Company’s multiple product and service offerings 
in a closely coordinated and integrated manner. As a result of these 
changes, these businesses are now reflected in the Distribution 
business segment. Also as a result of an organizational realignment, 
Airgas National Welders is now part of the Distribution business 
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segment. Segment information and the prior year income state-
ment commentary have been recast to reflect the realignment of 
the Company’s business segments. 

Enterprise Information System

The Company signed a license agreement with SAP AG (“SAP”) 
to implement the SAP enterprise information system for many 
aspects of the Company’s operations. The design and configuration 
phase of the project will be completed in approximately 12 months. 
The implementation phase, which will follow the design phase, is 
expected to last 24 to 36 months. Upon completion, the Company 
believes that the system will provide a platform for highly effi-
cient operations and consistent measurement of performance 
throughout the Company.

Looking Forward

Prevailing economic conditions offer limited visibility into future 
sales and earnings, which should be taken into consideration 
when evaluating the Company’s guidance. Looking forward, the 
Company expects net earnings for the first quarter ending June 30, 
2009 to range from $0.62 to $0.67 per diluted share, a decline of 
23% to 17% from the strong first quarter results in fiscal 2009. For 
the full year 2010, the Company expects earnings per diluted share 
of $2.60 to $2.90, a decline of 17% to 7% from fiscal 2009. 

Income Statement Commentary —  

Three Months Ended March 31, 2009 Compared to Three Months 

Ended March 31, 2008

Net Sales

Net sales decreased 9% to $1.0 billion for the three months ended 
March 31, 2009 (“current quarter”) compared to the three months 
ended March 31, 2008 (“prior year quarter”), driven by acquisi-
tion growth of 4% and same-store sales decline of 13%. Gas and 
rent same-store sales declined 8% and hardgoods declined 20%. 
Volume declines occurred in both product lines. Strategic products 
account for about 40% of revenues and include safety products, 
medical, specialty and bulk gases, as well as carbon dioxide and 
dry ice. The Company has identified these products as strategic 
because it believes they have good long-term growth profiles rela-
tive to the Company’s core industrial gas and welding products 
due to favorable end customer markets, application development, 
increasing environmental regulation, strong cross-selling oppor-
tunities or a combination thereof. Many of the strategic products 
are sold to customers whose growth profile tends to outperform 
GDP, including medical, life sciences, food processing and environ-
mental markets. The Company believes its focus on these strategic 
products and markets will help to mitigate the impact of the cur-
rent recessionary environment. In the aggregate, these products 
declined 6% on a same-store sales basis in the current quarter 
compared to the prior year quarter. Growth in medical was offset 
by slight declines in bulk and specialty gas and by more significant 
slowing in carbon dioxide and safety products. 

The Company estimates same-store sales growth based on a com-
parison of current period sales to prior period sales, adjusted for 
acquisitions and divestitures. The pro forma adjustments consist of 
adding acquired sales to, or subtracting sales of divested operations 
from, sales reported in the prior period. The table below reflects 
actual sales and does not include the pro forma adjustments used 
in calculating the same-store sales metric. The intercompany elimi-
nations represent sales from the All Other Operations business 
segment to the Distribution business segment.

(In thousands)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2009 2008

Increase/
(Decrease)

Distribution $  893,967 $  995,125 $  (101,158) -10%
All Other Operations  103,559  96,201  7,358 8%
Intercompany eliminations  (5,426)  (4,729)  (697)

$  992,100 $ 1,086,597 $  (94,497) -9%

The Distribution business segment’s principal products include 
industrial, medical and specialty gases, and process chemicals; 
cylinder and equipment rental; and hardgoods. Industrial, medical 
and specialty gases are distributed in cylinders and bulk containers. 
Equipment rental fees are generally charged on cylinders, cryo-
genic liquid containers, bulk and micro-bulk tanks, tube trailers 
and welding equipment. Hardgoods consist of welding consum-
ables and equipment, safety products, construction supplies, and 
maintenance, repair and operating (“MRO”) supplies. 

Distribution business segment sales declined 10% compared to 
the prior year quarter with incremental sales of 2% contributed by 
current and prior year acquisitions partially offsetting a decline in 
same-store sales of 12%. The Distribution same-store sales results 
reflect gas and rent same-store sales decline of 6% and a hardgoods 
same-store sales decline of 20%. The same-store sales decline 
reflects volume declines in both gases and hardgoods, partially 
offset by results of pricing actions executed during the second fiscal 
quarter and prior year. Both gas and rent and hardgoods volumes 
were negatively impacted by the slowdown in sales activity related 
to customers’ extended plant shutdowns and inventory reductions.

Distribution gas and rent same-store sales declined 6% reflecting 
volume declines of 10% partially offset by a positive 4% 
pricing impact. Sales of strategic gas products sold through the 
Distribution business segment in the current quarter declined 1%. 
Among strategic products, bulk gas sales were down 2% due to 
the impact of production slowdowns in the metal fabrication and 
steel segments, and reduced activity by oil field supply customers. 
Medical gases were up 2% as hospital, specialty clinics and nursing 
homes segments continue to grow, while the homecare segment 
was more of a challenge. Specialty gases were down 1% as plant 
shutdowns caused general softening in demand. Sales of core 
industrial gases, which experienced the sharpest volume declines, 
were down 13% for the quarter. Revenues from the Company’s 
rental welder business were flat for the quarter with acquisition 
growth of 16%, offset by a 16% decline in same-store sales.
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Distribution hardgoods same-store sales declined 20% with 
volumes down 23%, slightly offset by pricing gains. The most 
significant volume declines were in equipment and welding 
consumables. Safety product sales declined 14% in the quarter, 
attributed to extended plant shutdowns during the quarter and 
inventory reductions. Our Radnor® private label line was down 9% 
for the quarter, driven by the overall drop in hardgoods volumes.

The All Other Operations business segment consists of six  
business units. The primary products manufactured and distributed 
are carbon dioxide, dry ice, nitrous oxide, ammonia and refrigerant 
gases. 

The All Other Operations business segment sales increased 8% 
compared to the prior year quarter with a 17% decline in same 
store sales offset by acquisitions. Overall, price contributed 3%, 
while volume declined by 20%, driven largely by the delay in 
normal pre-season buying patterns for refrigerants.

Gross Profits (Excluding Depreciation)

Gross profits (excluding depreciation) do not reflect deductions 
related to depreciation expense and distribution costs. As disclosed 
in Note 1 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, 
the Company reflects distribution costs as an element of selling, 
distribution and administrative expenses and recognizes deprecia-
tion on all its property, plant and equipment in the Consolidated 
Statement of Earnings line item, “Depreciation.” Other companies 
may report certain or all of these costs as elements of their cost of 
products sold and, as such, the Company’s gross profits (excluding 
depreciation) discussed below may not be comparable to those of 
other businesses. 

Consolidated gross profits (excluding depreciation) decreased 
3% principally due to same-store sales decline offset somewhat 
by acquisition growth. The consolidated gross profit margin 
(excluding depreciation) in the current quarter increased 310 basis 
points to 54.9% compared to 51.8% in the prior year quarter. The 
increase in the gross profit margin (excluding depreciation) was 
primarily driven by margin expansion in the Distribution busi-
ness segment resulting from a favorable product mix shift toward 
gases, which have a higher gross margin than hardgoods, and price 
increases.

(In thousands)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2009 2008

Increase/
(Decrease)

Distribution $  498,358 $  520,956 $  (22,598) -4%
All Other Operations  46,013  41,926  4,087 10%

$  544,371 $  562,882 $  (18,511) -3%

The Distribution business segment’s gross profits (excluding depre-
ciation) decreased 4% compared to the prior year quarter. The 
Distribution business segment’s gross profit margin (excluding 
depreciation) was 55.7% versus 52.4% in the prior year quarter, an 
increase of 330 basis points. The improvement in the Distribution 

business segment’s gross profit margin (excluding depreciation) 
largely reflects a shift in sales mix toward gas and rent and from 
pricing actions implemented in the second quarter of fiscal 2009. 
As a percentage of the Distribution business segment’s sales, gas 
and rent increased to 59.8% in the current quarter as compared to 
55.7% in the prior year quarter. 

The All Other Operations business segment’s gross profits 
(excluding depreciation) increased 10% driven primarily by refrig-
erants, including the addition of Refron and strong growth in 
ammonia. The All Other Operations business segment’s gross profit 
margin (excluding depreciation) increased 80 basis points to 44.4% 
in the current quarter from 43.6% in the prior year quarter. The 
increase in the All Other Operations business segment’s gross profit 
margin (excluding depreciation) is driven primarily by margin 
improvement on ammonia offset by a sales mix shift towards 
lower-margin refrigerants (driven by the acquisition of Refron).

Operating Expenses

Selling, distribution and administrative (“SD&A”) expenses consist 
of labor and overhead associated with the purchasing, marketing 
and distribution of the Company’s products, as well as costs asso-
ciated with a variety of administrative functions such as legal, 
treasury, accounting, tax and facility-related expenses. 

SD&A expenses declined $11 million, or 3%, in the current quarter 
as compared to the prior year quarter, primarily driven by an esti-
mated $28 million decline in operating costs offset by an estimated 
$17 million of incremental operating costs associated with acquired 
businesses. The $28 million decrease in SD&A expense attributable 
to factors other than acquisitions was primarily due to a decrease 
in salaries and wages driven by cost-savings initiatives imple-
mented in response to the weak economic environment and lower 
variable costs including distribution expenses which declined as a 
result of lower sales volumes and a decrease in diesel fuel costs. As 
a percentage of net sales, SD&A expense increased 220 basis points 
to 37.5% compared to 35.3% in the prior year quarter driven by 
the overall decline in sales and by the sales mix shift to gas, which 
carries higher operating expense and higher gross margins. SD&A 
expense as a percent of gross margin was 68.4% in the current 
quarter as compared to 68.1% in the prior year quarter.

Depreciation expense of $51 million increased $5 million, or  
11%, in the current quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. 
Acquired businesses contributed approximately $2 million of the 
increase. The balance of the increase primarily reflects current and 
prior years’ capital investments in revenue generating assets to sup-
port customer demand, primarily cylinders, bulk tanks and rental 
welders, as well as the addition of new fill plants, the New Carlisle, 
Indiana air separation unit, and branch stores. Amortization 
expense of $6 million in the current quarter was $4 million higher 
than the prior year quarter due to additional amortization expense 
related to the Company’s acquired customer lists.
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Operating Income 

Consolidated operating income decreased 13% in the current 
quarter driven primarily by the significant slowing in sales partially 
offset by gross margin expansion, achievement of acquisition 
synergies, operating efficiencies and the impact of cost-reduction 
efforts. The operating income margin decreased 60 basis points 
to 11.5% compared to 12.1% in the prior year quarter and also 
sequentially from the third quarter of fiscal 2009 due to the 
significant decline in sales.

(In thousands)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2009 2008 (Decrease)

Distribution $ 105,295 $  120,656 $  (15,361) -13%
All Other Operations  9,211  10,404  (1,193) -11%

$  114,506 $  131,060 $  (16,554) -13%

Operating income in the Distribution business segment decreased 
13% in the current quarter. The Distribution business segment’s 
operating income margin decreased 30 basis points to 11.8% com-
pared to 12.1% in the prior year quarter. Operating margin decline 
was driven by the significant decline in sales partially offset by 
favorable mix-driven gross profit margin (excluding depreciation) 
expansion, a continued focus on operating efficiency programs, the 
attainment of acquisition synergies, and the impact of cost reduc-
tion efforts that were implemented in response to slowing sales.

Operating income in the All Other Operations business segment 
decreased 11% compared to the prior year quarter. The All Other 
Operations business segment’s operating income margin of 8.9% 
was 190 basis points lower than the operating income margin of 
10.8% in the prior year quarter. The decline in operating margin 
resulted principally from a shift in sales mix towards refrigerants 
(driven by the acquisition of Refron) and declining refrigerant 
operating margins due to volume declines related to delays in 
customers’ normal pre-season buying patterns. Increases in pro-
duction costs related to our carbon dioxide and dry ice businesses 
also contributed to the overall lower operating margin.

Income Statement Commentary —  

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2009 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended 

March 31, 2008

Net Sales

Net sales increased 8% in fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008 
driven by acquisition growth of 7% and same-store sales growth of 
1%. Pricing contributed 4% to same stores sales growth, which was 
largely offset by volume declines of 3%. The Company estimates 
same-store sales based on a comparison of current period sales 
to prior period sales, adjusted for acquisitions and divestitures. 
The pro forma adjustments consist of adding acquired sales to, 
or subtracting sales of divested operations from, sales reported 
in the prior period. The table below reflects actual sales and does 
not include the pro forma adjustments used in calculating the 
same-store sales metric. The intercompany eliminations repre-
sent sales from the All Other Operations business segment to the 
Distribution business segment.

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2009 2008 Increase

Distribution $ 3,918,376 $ 3,688,966 $  229,410 6%
All Other Operations  457,329  343,246  114,083 33%
Intercompany eliminations  (26,250)  (15,188)  (11,062)

$ 4,349,455 $ 4,017,024 $  332,431 8%

Distribution business segment sales increased 6% compared to the 
prior year driven by sales contributed by both current and prior 
year acquisitions of $234 million (6%) and flat same-store sales 
growth. Flat same-store sales reflects growth in gas and rent same-
store sales of $66 million (3%), offset by lower hardgoods sales 
of $70 million (-4%). Same-store sales growth from gas and rent 
reflect strong strategic product growth which mitigated same-store 
sales declines in the Company’s industrial gas and welding hard-
goods business. The same-store sales declines in the Company’s 
industrial gas and welding hardgoods business reflects the impact 
of the economic downturn on manufacturing and the steep decline 
in demand for equipment and welding consumables experienced in 
the second half of the fiscal year. 

The Distribution business segment’s gas and rent same-store sales 
growth of 3% reflects both price increases of 4% and a decline 
in volume of 1%. Sales of strategic gas products sold through 
the Distribution business segment increased 8% driven by bulk, 
medical, and specialty gas sales gains. Bulk gas sales were up 10% 
reflecting both price and volume increases. Volume growth ben-
efited from new production capabilities and the Company’s ability 
to engineer solutions for customer applications, leading to an 
increase in new bulk accounts during the year. Medical gas sales 
grew 7% attributable to continued success with the hospital, physi-
cian, and dental care markets. These markets continue to perform 
well and have good future growth prospects. Strong specialty gas 
sales growth of 8% was driven by demand from key customers in 
bio-tech, life sciences, research, and environmental monitoring 
markets. Sales of core industrial gases were down 1%. Revenues 
from the Company’s rental welder business contributed growth 
of 21% with acquisition growth of 22%, offset by a 1% decline in 
same-store sales.

The decline in hardgoods same-store sales of 4% reflects a com-
bination of price gains and volume declines, with pricing adding 
about 3%, offset by a 7% volume decline. The Company’s successful 
Radnor® private label brand of products generated sales growth of 
21% in the current year, reaching a total of $192 million. Sales of 
safety products increased 1% resulting from the success of the tele-
marketing operations (telesales) and effective cross-selling of safety 
products to new and existing customers helping to mitigate the 
significant decline in fourth quarter sales related to the economic 
downturn. 

Fiscal 2009 sales of the All Other Operations business segment 
increased $114 million (33%) compared to the prior year resulting 
from acquisitions and same-store sales growth. Acquisitions con-
tributed 23% to the segment’s sales growth, which was primarily 



Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

23

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Airgas ,  In c .  20 0 9

driven by $55 million in sales contributed by Refron now a part of 
Airgas Refrigerants, which was acquired on July 31, 2008. Same-
store sales growth of 10% was driven by sales gains of anhydrous 
ammonia, and carbon dioxide products. 

Gross Profits (Excluding Depreciation)

Gross profits (excluding depreciation) increased 10% principally 
from acquisitions and gas and rent sales growth. The consolidated 
gross margin (excluding depreciation) in the current year increased 
100 basis points to 53% compared to 52% in the prior year, with 
the increase driven primarily by a favorable shift in product mix 
towards higher-margin gas and rent as well as the impact of 
pricing.

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2009 2008 Increase

Distribution $ 2,105,251 $ 1,918,966 $  186,285 10%
All Other Operations  199,184  168,795  30,389 18%

$ 2,304,435 $ 2,087,761 $  216,674 10%

The Distribution business segment’s gross profits (excluding 
depreciation) increased 10% compared to the prior year. The 
Distribution business segment’s gross profit margin (excluding 
depreciation) was 53.7% versus 52.0% in the prior year. The 170 
basis point increase in the gross profit margin (excluding deprecia-
tion) reflected the favorable shift in product mix toward gas and 
rent as well as the impact of price increases. Gas and rent as a per-
centage of the Distribution business segment’s sales was 57.2% in 
the current year as compared to 55.5% in the prior year.

The All Other Operations business segment’s gross profits 
(excluding depreciation) increased 18% primarily from strong 
growth of anhydrous ammonia, refrigerant, and carbon dioxide 
products. The segment’s gross margin decreased 560 basis points 
to 43.6% versus 49.2% in the prior year driven by additional 
refrigerants, which have lower gross profit margins (excluding 
depreciation) than the other businesses in the All Other 
Operations business segment. 

Operating Expenses

As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expense increased 40 basis 
points to 35.8% compared to 35.4% in the prior year reflecting 
the impact of the deteriorating business climate in the second half 
of fiscal 2009. SD&A expenses increased $137 million (10%) pri-
marily from operating costs of acquired businesses. Acquisitions 
contributed estimated incremental SD&A expenses of approxi-
mately $105 million in the current year. The increase in SD&A 
expense attributable to factors other than acquisitions was approxi-
mately $32 million, or an increase of 2%, primarily due to salaries 
and wages and distribution-related expenses primarily related to 
the higher sales levels in the first half of fiscal 2009. 

Depreciation expense of $198 million increased $22 million (13%) 
compared to the prior year. Acquired businesses added approxi-

mately $10 million to depreciation expense. The remainder of 
the increase primarily reflects the current and prior year’s capital 
investments in revenue generating assets to support customer 
demand, primarily cylinders, bulk tanks and rental welders, as 
well as the addition of new fill plants, the New Carlisle, Indiana air 
separation unit in late fiscal 2009, and branch stores. Amortization 
expense of $23 million was $9 million (63%) higher than the prior 
year driven by the amortization of customer lists and non-compete 
agreements associated with acquisitions. 

Operating Income 

Operating income increased 10% in the current year driven by 
higher sales levels and improvement of operating income margins. 
The operating income margin increased 30 basis points to 12.1% 
compared to 11.8% in the prior year.

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2009 2008 Increase

Distribution $  469,888 $  425,922 $  43,966 10%
All Other Operations  54,980  49,902  5,078 10%

$  524,868 $  475,824 $  49,044 10%

Operating income in the Distribution business segment increased 
10% in the current year. The Distribution business segment’s oper-
ating income margin increased 50 basis points to 12.0% compared 
to 11.5% in the prior year. The operating margin improvement 
reflects lower integration expenses which contributed 20 basis 
points, gross profit margin (excluding depreciation) expansion 
resulting from pricing actions during the year and a shift in 
product mix toward higher margin gas and rent and attainment of 
acquisition synergies and cost savings from expense reduction and 
operating efficiency programs. 

Operating income in the All Other Operations business segment 
increased 10% compared to the prior year, principally driven 
by strong growth in ammonia. The segment’s operating income 
margin of 12.0% was 250 basis points lower than 14.5% in the 
prior year. The margin decline resulted from margin pressure on 
ammonia products in the first half of the year and from a shift in 
sales mix toward refrigerants, which carry a lower margin than 
other products in the segment. The shift in product mix toward 
refrigerants was driven by the acquisition of Refron. 

Interest Expense and Discount on Securitization  

of Trade Receivables

Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade 
receivables totaled $95 million representing a decrease of 11% 
compared to the prior year. The decrease primarily resulted from 
lower weighted-average interest rates related to the Company’s 
variable rate debt instruments, partially offset by higher average 
debt levels associated with acquisitions and the Company’s share 
repurchases. 
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The Company participates in a securitization agreement with 
three commercial banks to sell up to $345 million of qualifying 
trade receivables ($360 million at March 31, 2008). The amount 
of outstanding receivables under the agreement was $311 mil-
lion at March 31, 2009 versus $360 million at March 31, 2008. Net 
proceeds from the sale of trade receivables were used to reduce 
borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facilities. The 
discount on the securitization of trade receivables represents the 
difference between the carrying value of the receivables and the 
proceeds from their sale. The amount of the discount varies on a 
monthly basis depending on the amount of receivables sold and 
market rates. 

As discussed in “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” the Company 
manages its exposure to interest rate risk through participation in 
interest rate swap agreements. Including the effect of the interest 
rate swap agreements and the trade receivables securitization, the 
Company’s ratio of fixed to variable rate debt at March 31, 2009 
was 58% fixed to 42% variable. A majority of the Company’s vari-
able rate debt is based on a spread over the London Interbank 
Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). Based on the Company’s fixed to variable 
interest rate ratio, for every 25 basis point increase in LIBOR, the 
Company estimates that its annual interest expense would increase 
approximately $2.2 million. 

Income Tax Expense

The effective income tax rate in fiscal 2009 was 39.2% of pre-tax 
earnings in the current year compared to 38.9% in the prior year. 
The prior year period includes a $0.01 per diluted share tax benefit 
associated with a change in the Texas state income tax law, which 
reduced the effective tax rate by 0.3%. The prior year tax benefit 
was based on additional guidance issued by the state of Texas 
regarding a prior year change in law. These tax benefits reflect the 
reduction of deferred tax liabilities previously established for tem-
porary differences under the prior state tax law. 

Net Earnings

Net earnings were $261 million, or $3.12 per diluted share, com-
pared to $223 million, or $2.66 per diluted share, in the prior year. 
The prior year included $0.06 of integration expense primarily 
associated with the June 30, 2007 acquisition of Linde’s U.S. pack-
aged gas business, a one-time, non-cash charge of $0.03 per diluted 
share related to the conversion of National Welders from a joint 
venture to a 100% owned subsidiary, and $0.01 per diluted share 
tax benefit related to a change in Texas state income tax law. 

Results of Operations: 2008 Compared to 2007

Overview

Airgas had net sales for fiscal 2008 of $4.0 billion compared to $3.2 
billion for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2007 (“fiscal 2007”). Net 
sales increased by 25% in fiscal 2008 driven by the impact of acqui-
sitions and strong same-store sales growth. Acquisitions accounted 
for 18% of overall sales growth, primarily driven by the two Linde 
AG acquisitions, described below. Same-store sales growth con-
tributed 7% to the increase in total sales, driven equally by pricing 
and higher sales volumes. Sales growth related to pricing reflected 
price increases, which were designed to offset rising product, oper-
ating and distribution costs. Higher sales volumes resulted from 
continued strength in the following: energy and infrastructure con-
struction, medical, food products, environmental, analytical and 
life sciences customer segments, as well as modest growth of other 
industrial markets served by the Company. The Company’s stra-
tegic products and related growth initiatives, described below, also 
contributed significantly to overall sales growth in fiscal 2008.

Strong operating leverage on sales growth resulted in a 110 basis 
point expansion in the operating income margin to 11.8% in fiscal 
2008 compared to 10.7% in fiscal 2007. Net earnings per diluted 
share grew 39% to $2.66 in fiscal 2008 versus $1.92 in fiscal 2007. 
Fiscal 2008 included a one-time, non-cash charge of $0.03 per 
diluted share related to the conversion of National Welders from 
a joint venture to a 100% owned subsidiary, and $0.01 per diluted 
share tax benefit related to a change in state income tax law. Fiscal 
2007 included a charge of approximately $0.10 per diluted share 
from the redemption of the Company’s 9.125% senior subordinated 
notes and a $0.02 per diluted share tax benefit from a change in 
state income tax law. 

Acquisitions

Fiscal 2008 was a landmark acquisition year for the Company with 
a total of 18 businesses acquired that generate aggregate historical 
annual revenues of more than $500 million. The largest of these 
acquisitions was the June 30, 2007 acquisition of the U.S. pack-
aged gas operations of Linde AG (“Linde Packaged Gas”) for $310 
million in cash. The acquisition of Linde Packaged Gas included 
130 locations in 18 states, with more than 1,400 employees. The 
acquired business is involved in the distribution of packaged gases 
and related hardgoods. Linde Packaged Gas generated $346 million 
in annual revenues during calendar year 2006. The Linde Packaged 
Gas business was merged into the operations of the Distribution 
business segment. In addition, during fiscal 2008, the Company 
acquired 17 other businesses and settled acquisition holdback lia-
bilities for cash consideration of $170 million. These other acquired 
businesses generated aggregate historical annual revenues of more 
than $160 million.

Fiscal 2008 financial results also reflect the impact of fiscal 2007 
acquisitions. The most significant of these was the March 9, 
2007 acquisition of the divested U.S. bulk gas assets of Linde AG 
(“Linde Bulk Gas”) for $495 million in cash. The Linde Bulk Gas 
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acquisition included eight air separation plants and related bulk 
gas business with about 300 employees. The acquired business 
produces and distributes oxygen, nitrogen and argon and gener-
ated $176 million in annual revenues during calendar year 2006. 
The acquired business was renamed “Airgas Merchant Gases” 
and is reflected in the Company’s Distribution business segment. 
Additionally, most of the acquired Linde Bulk Gas customers and 
related service equipment were transferred to the regional distribu-
tion companies. 

National Welders Exchange Transaction

On July 3, 2007, the preferred stockholders of National Welders 
exchanged their preferred shares of National Welders for 2.471 
million shares of Airgas common stock (the “National Welders 
Exchange Transaction”). Upon the exchange, National Welders, 
formerly a consolidated joint venture, became a 100% owned sub-
sidiary of Airgas and is reflected in the Company’s Distribution 
business segment. As part of the negotiated exchange, in addition 
to the shares of Airgas common stock the preferred stockholders 
had the option to acquire, the Company issued an additional 144 
thousand Airgas shares (included in the 2.471 million shares) to 
the preferred stockholders, which resulted in a one-time net after-
tax charge of $2.5 million, or $0.03 per diluted share. In connection 
with the National Welders Exchange Transaction, the Company 
amended its senior credit facility to increase the size of its U.S. 
dollar revolving credit line by $100 million to refinance National 
Welders’ debt assumed in the transaction. See Note 13 to the 
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of 
the National Welders Exchange Transaction.

Supply Constraints

During fiscal 2008, the industrial gas industry was working 
through supply constraints related to certain gases, such as helium, 
argon and carbon dioxide. Throughout fiscal 2008, there was an 
industry-wide helium shortage resulting in a significant increase 
in helium costs and reduced volumes available for sale. Toward 
the end of fiscal 2008, the Company’s helium supply constraints 
had been mitigated through new supply agreements and relaxed 
allocations. The Company’s position in argon was also constrained, 
but had improved toward the end of fiscal 2008, as new sources 
had eased some of the supply issues and gas production capacity 
is at its highest during the winter months due to lower ambient air 
temperatures. 

In some areas of the country, carbon dioxide had also been under 
pressure, as old supply sources had been depleted without being 
replaced. In October 2007, the Company announced an agreement 
with Shell Oil to build a 450 ton-per-day plant in Deer Park, Texas, 
to better serve the Houston and South Texas areas. The Deer Park 
plant began operating in March 2009. 

Reinstated Stock Repurchase Plan

In November 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a 
stock repurchase plan (the “Repurchase Plan”) that provided the 
Company with the authorization to repurchase up to $150 mil-
lion of its common stock. The Repurchase Plan was suspended 

in July 2006 while the Company consummated its acquisitions 
of Linde AG’s U.S. bulk and packaged gas assets. In March 2008, 
the Company reinstated its Repurchase Plan and repurchased 496 
thousand shares for $21.6 million. 

Income Statement Commentary — 

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2008 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended 

March 31, 2007

Net Sales

Net sales increased 25% in fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007 
driven by acquisition growth of 18% and strong same-store sales 
growth of 7%. Pricing and volume sales gains contributed equally 
to same-store sales growth. The Company estimates same-store 
sales based on a comparison of current period sales to prior period 
sales, adjusted for acquisitions and divestitures. The pro forma 
adjustments consist of adding acquired sales to, or subtracting sales 
of divested operations from, sales reported in the prior period. 
The table below reflects actual sales and does not include the pro 
forma adjustments used in calculating the same-store sales metric. 
The intercompany eliminations represent sales from the All Other 
Operations business segment to the Distribution business segment.

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2008 2007 Increase

Distribution $ 3,688,966 $ 2,939,285 $  749,681 26%
All Other Operations  343,246  277,729  65,517 24%
Intercompany eliminations  (15,188)  (11,963)  (3,225)

$ 4,017,024 $ 3,205,051 $  811,973 25%

Distribution business segment sales increased 26% in fiscal 2008 
compared to fiscal 2007 driven by sales contributed by both 
fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007 acquisitions of $516 million (19%) 
and same-store sales growth of $234 million (7%). Sales growth 
from acquired businesses was principally attributable to the Linde 
Bulk Gas and Linde Packaged Gas acquisitions. The increase in 
Distribution same-store sales resulted from gas and rent same-store 
sales growth of $147 million (8%) and higher same-store hard-
goods sales of $87 million (6%). Strong same-store sales growth in 
the Company’s core gas and welding hardgoods business reflected 
broad-based demand from industrial markets as well as strong 
demand in the energy and infrastructure construction sectors, 
which include projects such as power plants, refineries, pipelines, 
water treatment plants, bridges and airports. The Distribution 
business segment’s sales were also driven by strong sales growth of 
strategic products, including medical, bulk and specialty gases, as 
well as safety products. 

The Distribution business segment’s gas and rent same-store sales 
growth of 8% reflects both price increases and volume growth, 
which contributed equally to sales growth. Sales of strategic gas 
products increased 12% driven by bulk, medical and specialty gas 
sales gains. Bulk gas sales volumes were up 14% reflecting volume 
growth from enhanced production capabilities and expanded 
geographic market coverage associated with the Linde Bulk Gas 
acquisition. The Company’s strong position as a bulk gas dis-
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tributor also helped increase the number of new bulk customer 
contracts signed during the year. Medical gas sales grew 9% 
attributable to continued success with the hospital, physician and 
dental care markets. The Walk-O2-Bout® medical cylinder pro-
gram tailored for the respiratory therapy market also contributed 
to medical gas sales. Strong specialty gas sales growth of 12% was 
driven by demand from key customers in bio-tech, life sciences, 
research and environmental monitoring markets. Rental revenues 
benefited from the Company’s rental welder business that gener-
ated 24% same-store sales growth in fiscal 2008. The Company’s 
rental welder business was helped by its sales concentration in 
energy and infrastructure construction. 

Hardgoods same-store sales growth of 6% reflected both volume 
and price gains, which contributed about equally to growth. The 
Company’s successful Radnor® private label brand of products 
generated sales growth of 24% in fiscal 2008, reaching a total of 
$159 million. Sales of Radnor brand products were helped by the 
stocking of these products in the branch stores obtained from the 
Linde Packaged Gas acquisition. Same-store sales of safety prod-
ucts increased 8% resulting from the success of the telemarketing 
operations (telesales) and effective cross-selling of safety products 
to new and existing customers. 

Fiscal 2008 net sales of the All Other Operations business segment 
increased $66 million (24%) compared to fiscal 2007 resulting 
from acquisitions and same-store sales growth. Acquisitions con-
tributed 10% to the segment’s sales growth, including refrigerant 
businesses which contributed $37 million to acquired sales. Same-
store sales growth of 14% was driven by sales gains of anhydrous 
ammonia, refrigerant and carbon dioxide products. Sales volume 
gains of ammonia resulted from strong demand from customers 
in the chemical production industry. Sales growth of refrigerants 
was driven by higher volumes, particularly in the fourth quarter 
of fiscal 2008, as customers sourced product in advance of the 
warmer summer months. Sales growth of carbon dioxide and dry 
ice reflected continued success in the food processing, food and 
beverage service, pharmaceutical and biotech industries. 

Gross Profits (Excluding Depreciation)

Gross profits (excluding depreciation) increased 27% principally 
from acquisitions and sales growth. The gross profit margin 
(excluding depreciation) for fiscal 2008 increased 90 basis points to 
52.0% compared to 51.1% for fiscal 2007, with the increase driven 
primarily by a favorable shift in product mix towards higher-
margin gas as well as the impact of pricing.

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2008 2007 Increase

Distribution $ 1,918,966 $ 1,494,081 $  424,885 28%
All Other Operations  168,795  143,738  25,057 17%

$ 2,087,761 $ 1,637,819 $  449,942 27%

The Distribution business segment’s gross profits (excluding depre-
ciation) for fiscal 2008 increased 28% compared to fiscal 2007.  
The Distribution business segment’s gross profit margins 
(excluding depreciation) was 52.0% for fiscal 2008 versus 50.8% for 
fiscal 2007. The 120 basis point increase in the gross profit margins 
(excluding depreciation) reflected the favorable shift in product 
mix toward gas and rent as well as the impact of price increases. 
Gas and rent as a percentage of the Distribution business segment’s 
sales was 55.5% in fiscal 2008 as compared to 53.1% in fiscal 2007.

The All Other Operations business segment’s gross profits 
(excluding depreciation) increased 17% for fiscal 2008 as compared 
to fiscal 2007. The increase in gross profits (excluding depreciation) 
was primarily driven by acquisitions as well as strong sales growth 
of anhydrous ammonia, refrigerant and carbon dioxide prod-
ucts. The segment’s gross profit margin (excluding depreciation) 
decreased 260 basis points to 49.2% in fiscal 2008 versus 51.8% in 
fiscal 2007. The lower gross profit margin (excluding depreciation) 
was driven by a change in sales mix that included higher refriger-
ants sales as a result of acquisitions. Refrigerant gases typically sell 
at lower margins than other products in this business segment. 

Operating Expenses

As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expense decreased 40 basis 
points to 35.4% in fiscal 2008 compared to 35.8% in fiscal 2007 
reflecting improved cost leverage and effective cost management. 
SD&A expenses increased $273 million (24%) primarily from 
operating costs of acquired businesses and higher variable expenses 
associated with the growth in sales volumes. Acquisitions con-
tributed estimated incremental SD&A expenses of approximately 
$186 million in fiscal 2008, including integration expenses of $10 
million principally related to the Linde Packaged Gas acquisition. 
The increase in SD&A expense attributable to factors other than 
acquisitions was approximately $87 million, or an increase of 8%, 
primarily due to salaries, wages and distribution-related expenses. 
The increase in salaries and wages reflected increased opera-
tional headcounts, wage inflation, and overtime to fill cylinders, 
deliver products and operate facilities to meet increased customer 
demand. The increase in distribution expenses was attributable to 
higher fuel and vehicle repair and maintenance costs. Higher fuel 
and vehicle maintenance costs were related to the increase in miles 
driven to support sales growth. Average diesel fuel prices in fiscal 
2008 were also higher versus fiscal 2007. 

Depreciation expense of $176 million increased $37 million (27%) 
for fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007. Acquired businesses added 
approximately $28 million to depreciation expense. The remainder 
of the increase primarily reflects capital investments in revenue 
generating assets during both fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007 to sup-
port customer demand, primarily cylinders, bulk tanks and rental 
welders, as well as the addition of new fill plants and branch 
stores. Amortization expense of $14 million in fiscal 2008 was $5 
million (64%) higher than fiscal 2007 driven by the amortization 
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of customer lists and non-compete agreements associated with 
acquisitions.

Operating Income 

Operating income increased 39% for fiscal 2008 driven by  
higher sales levels and margin improvement. Improved cost 
leverage on sales growth was the primary contributor to a 110 basis 
point increase in the operating income margin to 11.8% for fiscal 
2008 compared to 10.7% for fiscal 2007. Acquisition integration 
costs, principally associated with the Linde Packaged Gas acquisi-
tion, reduced the operating income margin by approximately 25 
basis points. 

(In thousands) 
Year Ended March 31, 2008 2007 Increase

Distribution $  425,922 $  298,565 $  127,357 43%
All Other Operations  49,902  42,932  6,970 16%

$  475,824 $  341,497 $  134,327 39%

Operating income in the Distribution business segment increased 
43% for fiscal 2008. The Distribution business segment’s oper-
ating income margin increased 130 basis points to 11.5% in fiscal 
2008 compared to 10.2% in fiscal 2007. The significant margin 
improvement was driven by continued operating profit leverage 
on sales growth, effective management of costs and pricing, and 
the Linde Bulk Gas acquisition. Acquisition integration costs, 
primarily related to the Linde Packaged Gas acquisition, reduced 
the Distribution business segment’s operating income margin by 
approximately 25 basis points.

Operating income in the All Other Operations business segment 
increased 16% for fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007, principally 
driven by acquisitions. The segment’s operating income margin of 
14.5% in fiscal 2008 was 100 basis points lower than 15.5% in fiscal 
2007. The decline in the operating income margin reflected the 
lower gross margins attributable to the shift in sale mix to lower-
margin refrigerants gases. 

Interest Expense and Discount on Securitization of Trade 

Receivables

Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade 
receivables totaled $107 million in fiscal 2008 representing an 
increase of 44% compared to fiscal 2007. The increase primarily 
resulted from higher average debt levels associated with acquisi-
tions and a larger securitization program, partially offset by lower 
weighted-average interest rates related to the Company’s variable 
rate debt instruments and the refinancing of the 9.125% senior 
subordinated notes in fiscal 2007. See the discussion of the refi-
nancing of the senior subordinated notes under the section Loss on 
Debt Extinguishment, below. 

The Company participated in a securitization agreement with three 
commercial banks to sell up to $360 million at March 31, 2008 and 
up to $285 million at March 31, 2007 of qualifying trade receiv-

ables. The amount of outstanding receivables under the agreement 
was $360 million at March 31, 2008 versus $264 million at March 
31, 2007. Net proceeds from the sale of trade receivables were 
used to reduce borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit 
facilities. The discount on the securitization of trade receivables 
represents the difference between the carrying value of the receiv-
ables and the proceeds from their sale. The amount of the discount 
varies on a monthly basis depending on the amount of receivables 
sold and market rates. 

As discussed in “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” the Company 
manages its exposure to interest rate risk through participation in 
interest rate swap agreements. Including the effect of the interest 
rate swap agreements and the trade receivables securitization, the 
Company’s ratio of fixed to variable rate debt at March 31, 2008 
was 40% fixed to 60% variable. A majority of the Company’s vari-
able rate debt was based on a spread over LIBOR. 

Loss on Debt Extinguishment

On October 27, 2006, the Company redeemed its $225 million 
9.125% senior subordinated notes at a premium of 104.563% with 
borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facility. In con-
junction with the redemption, the Company recognized a charge 
on the early extinguishment of debt of $12.1 million ($7.9 million 
after tax), or approximately $0.10 per diluted share. The charge 
related to the redemption premium and the write-off of unamor-
tized debt issuance costs. 

Income Tax Expense

The effective income tax rate was 38.9% of pre-tax earnings in 
fiscal 2008 compared to 38.8% in fiscal 2007. Both periods include 
tax benefits associated with a change in the Texas state income tax 
law, which reduced the effective tax rate by 0.3% and 0.7%, respec-
tively. The tax benefit in fiscal 2007 resulted from the initial change 
in the law and the fiscal 2008 tax benefit was based on additional 
guidance issued by the state of Texas. These tax benefits reflect the 
reduction of deferred tax liabilities previously established for tem-
porary differences under the prior state tax law. The fiscal 2007 tax 
rate also reflected the absence of state tax benefits associated with 
the loss on the extinguishment of debt. 

Net Earnings

Net earnings were $223 million, or $2.66 per diluted share, for 
fiscal 2008 compared to $154 million, or $1.92 per diluted share, 
for fiscal 2007. The net earnings for fiscal 2008 included a one-
time, non-cash charge of $0.03 per diluted share related to the 
conversion of National Welders from a joint venture to a 100% 
owned subsidiary, and $0.01 per diluted share tax benefit related 
to a change in Texas state income tax law. Fiscal 2007 net earnings 
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included a charge of approximately $0.10 per diluted share from 
the early extinguishment of debt and a $0.02 per diluted share tax 
benefit from a change in Texas state income tax law. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Fiscal 2009 Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities was $583 million in fiscal 
2009 compared to $550 million in fiscal 2008. The increase in cash 
provided by operating activities was driven by net earnings and 
lower working capital requirements reflective of slower sales in the 
latter half of fiscal 2009. Net earnings adjusted for non-cash and 
non-operating items provided cash of $605 million versus $508 
million in the prior year. Exclusive of the cash used and provided 
by the trade receivables securitization agreement, lower working 
capital requirements provided cash of $27 million in the fiscal 
2009 versus using cash of $51 million in the prior year. The trade 
receivables securitization agreement used cash of $49 million in 
fiscal 2009. The reduction in the amount of receivables sold under 
the agreement reflects the slower sales environment in the latter 
half of the year. In the prior year, an amendment expanded the size 
of the trade receivables securitization program and the Company 
increased the amount of receivables sold under the program, which 
provided cash of $96 million. Consolidated cash flows provided 
by operating activities were used to repay debt incurred through 
the acquisition of businesses, as well as to fund investing activities 
such as capital expenditures. 

Net cash used in investing activities during fiscal 2009 totaled $610 
million and primarily consisted of cash used for capital expendi-
tures and acquisitions. Cash used for capital expenditures was $352 
million in fiscal 2009 as compared to $267 million in fiscal 2008. 
The increase in capital spending principally reflected infrastructure 
projects, such as two air separation units and two carbon dioxide 
plants. Construction of the air separation unit in New Carlisle, 
Indiana and the carbon dioxide plant in Deer Park, Texas was 
completed in December 2008 and March 2009, respectively. The 
completion of the air separation unit in Carrollton, Kentucky and 
the carbon dioxide plant in Camilla, Georgia are expected in fiscal 
2010. Capital spending for fiscal 2010 is expected to be about 6% of 
net sales, inclusive of the cost to complete these projects. Cash of 
$274 million was paid in the current year to acquire 14 businesses, 
the largest of which was Refron, Inc., now Airgas Refrigerants, 
Inc., and to settle acquisition holdback liabilities associated with 
prior year acquisitions. During fiscal 2008, the Company paid 
$480 million to acquire 18 businesses, the largest of which was the 
Linde Packaged Gas acquisition, and to settle acquisition holdback 
liabilities.

Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $31 million in 
fiscal 2009 as compared to $207 million in fiscal 2008. On June 
5, 2008, the Company issued $400 million of 7.125% senior sub-
ordinated notes due in 2018 (the “2008 Notes”) and used the net 

proceeds to pay down approximately $400 million of its floating 
rate revolving credit line, which matures in 2011. The 2008 Notes 
increased the Company’s ratio of fixed to floating rate debt and 
extended the Company’s debt maturities (see Financial Instruments 
discussion below). In fiscal 2008, the Company amended its credit 
facility to increase the size of its U.S. dollar revolving credit line by 
$100 million to refinance $87.5 million in debt assumed with the 
National Welders Exchange Transaction. The Company also used 
cash of $120 million during fiscal 2009 to repurchase common 
stock under its Repurchase Plan. The purchase of treasury stock 
included approximately $5 million of stock purchases from the 
prior year period that were settled in the current period and $116 
million of current year stock purchases. A total of 2.4 million 
shares were repurchased during fiscal 2009. As of March 31, 2009, 
the Company has no authorization remaining for any additional 
treasury share purchases under the Repurchase Plan.

Dividends

The Company paid its stockholders quarterly cash dividends of 
$0.12 per share at the end of each of the first two quarters of fiscal 
2009. In the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2009, the Company 
paid dividends of $0.16 per share, representing a 33% increase in 
the quarterly dividend payments. On May 19, 2009, the Company’s 
Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of 
$0.18 per share, which is payable on June 30, 2009 to stockholders 
of record as of June 15, 2009. During fiscal 2008, the Company 
paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of $0.09 
per share at the end of each of the first three quarters and $0.12 
per share at the end of the fourth quarter. During fiscal 2007, the 
Company paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of 
$0.07. Future dividend declarations and associated amounts paid 
will depend upon the Company’s earnings, financial condition, 
loan covenants, capital requirements and other factors deemed rel-
evant by management and the Company’s Board of Directors.

Financial Instruments

Senior Credit Facility 

The Company maintains a senior credit facility (the “Credit 
Facility”) with a syndicate of lenders. In July 2008, the Company 
amended its Credit Facility to, among other things, create a multi-
currency borrowing facility. Under this multi-currency revolver, 
the Company and certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries 
may borrow any foreign currency that is readily available and 
freely transferable and convertible into U.S. dollars, including 
Euros, pounds sterling and Mexican pesos. The Company may 
borrow up to $75 million (U.S. dollar equivalent) in U.S. dollars 
or any permitted foreign currency or multiple currencies in the 
aggregate. To accommodate the size of the multi-currency revolver, 
the Company’s U.S. dollar revolving credit line was reduced by $75 
million so the total size of the Company’s Credit Facility was not 
changed.
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At March 31, 2009, the Credit Facility permitted the Company to 
borrow up to $991 million under a U.S. dollar revolving credit line, 
up to $75 million (U.S. dollar equivalent) under the multi-currency 
revolving credit line, and up to C$40 million (U.S. $32 million) 
under a Canadian dollar revolving credit line. The Credit Facility 
also contains a term loan provision through which the Company 
borrowed $600 million with scheduled repayment terms. The 
term loans are repayable in quarterly installments of $22.5 million 
through June 30, 2010. The quarterly installments then increase to 
$71.2 million from September 30, 2010 to June 30, 2011. Principal 
payments due over the next twelve months on the term loans are 
classified as “Long-term debt” in the Company’s Consolidated 
Balance Sheets based on the Company’s ability and intention 
to refinance the payments with borrowings under its long-term 
revolving credit facilities. As principal amounts under the term 
loans are repaid, no additional borrowing capacity is created under 
the term loan provision. The Credit Facility will mature on  
July 25, 2011. 

As of March 31, 2009, the Company had approximately $1.2 bil-
lion of borrowings under the Credit Facility: $751 million under 
the U.S. dollar revolving credit line, $24 million (in U.S. dollars) 
under the multi-currency revolver, C$18 million (U.S. $15 million) 
under the Canadian dollar revolving credit line and $398 million 
under the term loans. The Company also had outstanding letters 
of credit of $42 million issued under the Credit Facility. The U.S. 
dollar borrowings and the term loans bear interest at LIBOR plus 
62.5 basis points. The multi-currency revolver bears interest based 
on a spread of 62.5 basis points over the Euro currency rate appli-
cable to each foreign currency borrowing. The Canadian dollar 
borrowings bear interest at the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance Rate 
plus 62.5 basis points. As of March 31, 2009, the average effective 
interest rates on the U.S. dollar revolver, the term loans, the multi-
currency revolver and the Canadian dollar revolver were 1.24%, 
1.85%, 2.05% and 1.49%, respectively. 

Total Borrowing Capacity

As of March 31, 2009, approximately $266 million remained 
unused under the Company’s Credit Facility. Despite current 
disruptions to the capital markets, the Company believes that it 
has sufficient liquidity from cash from operations and under its 
revolving credit facilities to meet its working capital, capital expen-
diture and other financial commitments (including the scheduled 
maturity of the trade receivables securitization agreement in 
March 2010). The debt covenants under the Company’s revolving 
credit facility require the Company to maintain a leverage ratio 
not higher than 4.0 times and an interest coverage ratio not lower 
than 3.5 times. The leverage ratio is a contractually defined amount 
principally reflecting debt and certain elements of the Company’s 
off-balance sheet financing divided by a contractually defined 
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization 
(“EBITDA”) for the trailing twelve-month period with pro forma 

adjustments for acquisitions. The interest coverage ratio reflects 
the same contractually defined EBITDA divided by total interest 
expense also with pro forma adjustments for acquisitions. Both 
ratios measure the Company’s ability to meet current and future 
obligations. At March 31, 2009, the Company’s leverage ratio was 
2.7 times and its interest coverage ratio was 7.6 times. Based on 
the leverage ratio at March 31, 2009, the Company could incur 
an additional $1 billion of debt and remain within its covenants. 
However, the Company’s borrowing capacity under the Credit 
Facility is limited to the size of the facility. Therefore, the finan-
cial covenants do not limit the Company’s ability to borrow the 
unused portion of the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility contains 
customary events of default, including nonpayment and breach 
covenants. In the event of default, repayment of borrowings under 
the Credit Facility may be accelerated. The Company’s Credit 
Facility also contains cross default provisions whereby a default 
under the Credit Facility would likely result in defaults under the 
senior subordinated notes discussed below.

The Company’s domestic subsidiaries, exclusive of the bankruptcy-
remote special purpose entity (the “domestic subsidiaries”), 
guarantee the U.S. dollar revolver, multi-currency revolver, 
Canadian dollar revolver and term loans. The multi-currency 
revolver and Canadian dollar revolver are also guaranteed by the 
Company and the Company’s foreign subsidiaries. The guarantees 
are full and unconditional and are made on a joint and several 
basis. The Company has pledged 100% of the stock of its domestic 
subsidiaries and 65% of the stock of its foreign subsidiaries as 
surety for its obligations under the Credit Facility. The Credit 
Facility provides for the release of the guarantees and collateral 
if the Company attains an investment grade credit rating and a 
similar release on certain other debt.

The Company continues to look for acquisition candidates.  
The financial covenant calculations of the Credit Facility 
include the pro forma results of acquired businesses. Therefore, 
total borrowing capacity is not reduced dollar-for-dollar with 
acquisition financing. 

The Company continually evaluates alternative financing and 
believes that it can obtain financing on reasonable terms. The 
terms of any future financing arrangements depend on market 
conditions and the Company’s financial position at that time. 

Money Market Loans

The Company has an agreement with a financial institution that 
provides access to short-term advances not to exceed $30 million 
for a maximum term of three months. The agreement expires on 
June 30, 2009, but may be extended subject to renewal provisions 
contained in the agreement. The amount, term and interest rate 
of an advance are established through mutual agreement with the 
financial institution when the Company requests such an advance. 
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At March 31, 2009, the Company had no outstanding advances 
under this agreement. 

The Company also has an agreement with another financial insti-
tution that provides access to short-term advances not to exceed 
$35 million. The agreement expires on December 1, 2009, but may 
be extended subject to renewal provisions contained in the agree-
ment. The advances are generally overnight or for up to seven days. 
The amount, term and interest rate of an advance are established 
through mutual agreement with the financial institution when the 
Company requests such an advance. At March 31, 2009, there were 
no advances outstanding under this agreement.

Senior Subordinated Notes

At March 31, 2009, the Company had $150 million of senior sub-
ordinated notes (the “2004 Notes”) outstanding with a maturity 
date of July 15, 2014. The 2004 Notes bear interest at a fixed annual 
rate of 6.25%, payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15 
of each year. The 2004 Notes have a redemption provision, which 
permits the Company, at its option, to call the 2004 Notes at sched-
uled dates and prices. The first scheduled optional redemption date 
is July 15, 2009 at a price of 103.125% of the principal amount. 

On June 5, 2008, the Company issued $400 million of 2008 Notes 
at par with a maturity date of October 1, 2018. The net proceeds 
from the sale of the 2008 Notes were used to reduce borrowings 
under the Company’s U.S. dollar revolving credit line under the 
Credit Facility. The 2008 Notes bear interest at a fixed annual rate 
of 7.125%, payable semi-annually on October 1 and April 1 of each 
year. The 2008 Notes have a redemption provision, which permits 
the Company, at its option, to call the 2008 Notes at scheduled 
dates and prices. The first scheduled optional redemption date is 
October 1, 2013 at a price of 103.563% of the principal amount. 

The 2004 and 2008 Notes contain covenants that could restrict 
the payment of dividends, the repurchase of common stock, the 
issuance of preferred stock, and the incurrence of additional 
indebtedness and liens. The 2004 and 2008 Notes are fully and 
unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally, on a subordinated 
basis, by each of the 100% owned domestic guarantors under the 
Credit Facility. 

Acquisition Notes and Other

The Company’s long-term debt also includes acquisition and other 
notes, principally consisting of notes issued to sellers of businesses 
acquired, which are repayable in periodic installments. At March 
31, 2009, acquisition and other notes totaled $24 million with an 
average interest rate of approximately 6% and an average maturity 
of approximately two years. 

Refinancing of National Welders’ Debt

Effective July 3, 2007, the Company amended its Credit Facility 
to increase the size of its U.S. dollar revolving credit line by $100 
million. As discussed in Note 13 to the Company’s Consolidated 
Financial Statements, National Welders became a 100% owned 
subsidiary of the Company on July 3, 2007. Concurrently, National 
Welders’ debt of $87.5 million was refinanced by the Company 
under the expanded U.S. dollar revolving credit line.

Trade Receivables Securitization

The Company participates in a securitization agreement (the 
“Agreement”) with three commercial banks to which it sells quali-
fying trade receivables on a revolving basis. The maximum amount 
of the facility is $345 million ($360 million at March 31, 2008). The 
size of the facility was reduced in fiscal 2009 due to the elimination 
of a $15 million subordinated funding tranche, which was previ-
ously part of the facility. The Agreement expires in March 2010. 
The Company expects continued availability under the Agreement 
until it expires in March 2010 and under similar agreements there-
after. Given the contraction of the securitized asset market in the 
current credit environment, the Company is evaluating the cur-
rent arrangement with the banks and will evaluate this and other 
financing alternatives in fiscal 2010. Based on the characteristics 
of its receivable pool, the Company believes that trade receivable 
securitization will continue to be an attractive source of funds. 
In the event such source of funding was unavailable or reduced, 
the Company believes that it would be able to secure an alterna-
tive source of funds. During the year ended March 31, 2009, the 
Company sold approximately $4.0 billion of trade receivables and 
remitted to bank conduits, pursuant to a servicing agreement, 
approximately $4.0 billion in collections on those receivables. The 
amount of receivables sold under the Agreement was $311 mil-
lion at March 31, 2009 and $360 million at March 31, 2008. The 
Agreement contains customary events of termination, including 
standard cross default provisions with respect to outstanding debt.

The Company retains a subordinated interest in trade receivables 
sold under the Agreement. The fair value of the retained interest, 
which was $148 million at March 31, 2009, is measured based on 
management’s best estimate of the undiscounted expected future 
cash collections on the receivables sold in which the Company 
has a retained interest. Changes in the fair value are recognized 
as bad debt expense. Historically, bad debt expense reflected in 
the Company’s financial results has generally been in the range of 
0.3% to 0.5% of sales. As disclosed in Note 12 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, fair values of the retained interest are clas-
sified as Level 3 inputs on the fair value hierarchy because of the 
judgment required by management to determine the ultimate col-
lectibility of receivables. The amounts ultimately collected on past 
due trade receivables are subject to numerous factors including 
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general economic conditions, the condition of the receivable port-
folio assumed in acquisitions, the financial condition of individual 
customers, and the terms of reorganization for accounts exiting 
bankruptcy. The Company monitors the credit risk associated 
with the aforementioned factors, as well as aging trends and his-
toric collections and records additional bad debt expense when 
appropriate. The Company is exposed to the risk of loss for any 
uncollectable amounts associated with the subordinated retained 
interest in trade receivables sold.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

The Company manages its exposure to changes in market interest 
rates. The Company’s involvement with derivative instruments is 
limited to highly effective fixed interest rate swap agreements used 
to manage well-defined interest rate risk exposures. The Company 
monitors its positions and credit ratings of its counterparties 
and does not anticipate non-performance by the counterparties. 
Interest rate swap agreements are not entered into for trading 
purposes. 

During fiscal 2009, the Company entered into three fixed interest 
rate swap agreements for a notional amount of $125 million, and 
four fixed interest rate swap agreements with a notional amount 
of $100 million matured. At March 31, 2009, the Company had 18 
fixed interest rate swap agreements outstanding with a notional 
amount of $627 million. These swaps effectively convert $627 mil-
lion of variable interest rate debt associated with the Company’s 
Credit Facility to fixed rate debt. At March 31, 2009, these swap 
agreements required the Company to make fixed interest pay-
ments based on a weighted average effective rate of 4.21% and 
receive variable interest payments from the counterparties based 
on a weighted average variable rate of 1.70%. The remaining terms 
of these swap agreements range from 1 to 21 months. For the 
year ended March 31, 2009, the fair value of the liability for the 
fixed interest rate swap agreements decreased and the Company 
recorded a corresponding adjustment to “Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Loss” of $8.3 million, or $5.4 million after tax. 
For the year ended March 31, 2008, the fair value of the liability 
for the fixed interest rate swap agreements increased and the 
Company recorded a corresponding adjustment to “Accumulated 
Other Comprehensive Loss” of $21.0 million, or $13.6 million after 
tax. For the year ended March 31, 2007, the fair value of the net 
asset for the fixed interest rate swap agreements decreased and the 
Company recorded a corresponding adjustment to “Accumulated 
Other Comprehensive Income” of $0.9 million, or $0.6 million 
after tax.

The Company measures the fair value of its interest rate swaps 
using observable market rates to calculate the forward yield curves 
used to determine expected cash flows for each interest rate swap 
agreement. The discounted present values of the expected cash 

flows are calculated using the same forward yield curve. The 
discount rate assumed in the fair value calculations is adjusted 
for non-performance risk, dependent on the classification of the 
interest rate swap as an asset or liability. If an interest rate swap is 
a liability, the Company assesses the credit and non-performance 
risk of Airgas by determining an appropriate credit spread for enti-
ties with similar credit characteristics as the Company. If, however, 
an interest rate swap is in an asset position, a credit analysis of 
counterparties is performed assessing the credit and non-perfor-
mance risk based upon the pricing history of counterparty specific 
credit default swaps or credit spreads for entities with similar credit 
ratings to the counterparties. The Company does not believe it is 
at risk for non-performance by its counterparties. However, if an 
interest rate swap is in an asset position, the failure of one or more 
of its counterparties would result in an increase in interest expense 
and a reduction of earnings. The Company compares its fair value 
calculations to the fair values calculated by the counterparties for 
each swap agreement for reasonableness. 

As disclosed in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, 
the fair value of the Company’s interest rate swaps is classified as 
a Level 2 input on the fair value hierarchy because it is calculated 
using observable interest rates and yield curves adjusted for non-
performance risk. The Company’s interest rate swaps are highly 
effective at offsetting changes in cash flows on its revolving credit 
facility. Accordingly, additional cash payments or cash receipts 
under an interest rate swap offset lower or higher interest rate pay-
ments under the Company’s revolving credit facility. Changes in 
the fair value of an interest rate swap agreement are reported on 
the Consolidated Balance Sheet, net of deferred tax benefits, in 
“Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss.”
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Other 

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures 
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make judgments, assumptions and 
estimates that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Note 1 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements describes the significant 
accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. Estimates are used for, but 
not limited to, determining the net carrying value of trade receiv-
ables, inventories, goodwill, other intangible assets and business 
insurance reserves. Uncertainties about future events make these 
estimates susceptible to change. Management evaluates these 
estimates regularly and believes they are the best estimates, appro-
priately made, given the known facts and circumstances. For the 
three years ended March 31, 2009, there were no material changes 
in the valuation methods or assumptions used by management. 
However, actual results could differ from these estimates under 
different assumptions and circumstances. The Company believes 
the following accounting estimates are critical due to the subjec-
tivity and judgment necessary to account for these matters, their 
susceptibility to change and the potential impact that different 
assumptions could have on operating performance.

Trade Receivables/Subordinated Retained Interest

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts, 
which includes sales returns, sales allowances, and bad debts. The 
allowance adjusts the carrying value of trade receivables and the 
subordinated retained interest in trade receivables sold under the 
trade receivables securitization agreement (collectively referred to 
as trade receivables) to fair value based on estimates of accounts 
that will not ultimately be collected. An allowance for doubtful 
accounts is generally established as trade receivables age beyond 
their due date. As past due balances age, higher valuation allow-
ances are established lowering the net carrying value of receivables. 
The amount of valuation allowance established for each past due 
period reflects the Company’s historical collections experience 
and current economic conditions and trends. The Company also 
establishes valuation allowances for specific problem accounts 
and bankruptcies. The amounts ultimately collected on past 
due trade receivables are subject to numerous factors including 
general economic conditions, the condition of the receivable 
portfolio assumed in acquisitions, the financial condition of indi-
vidual customers, and the terms of reorganization for accounts 
emerging from bankruptcy. Changes in these conditions impact the 
Company’s collection experience and may result in the recognition 
of higher or lower valuation allowances. Management evaluates 
the allowance for doubtful accounts monthly. The Company has 
a low concentration of credit risk due to its broad and diversified 

customer base across multiple industries and geographic locations, 
and its relatively low average order size. The Company’s largest cus-
tomer accounts for approximately 0.5% of total net sales.

Inventories

The Company’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost or 
market. The majority of the products the Company carries in 
inventory have long shelf lives and are not subject to techno-
logical obsolescence. The Company writes its inventory down to 
its estimated market value when it believes the market value is 
below cost. The Company estimates its ability to recover the costs 
of items in inventory by product type based on its age, the rate at 
which that product line is turning in inventory, its physical con-
dition as well as assumptions about future demand and market 
conditions. The ability of the Company to recover its cost for 
products in inventory can be affected by factors such as future 
customer demand, general market conditions and the relationship 
with significant suppliers. Management evaluates the recoverability 
of its inventory at least quarterly. In aggregate, inventory turns at 
four-to-five times per year. 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets 
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
(“SFAS”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 
142”). Under SFAS 142, goodwill and other intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are instead tested 
for impairment at least annually and whenever events or circum-
stances indicate that it is more likely than not that goodwill may be 
impaired. The Company has elected to perform its annual tests for 
indications of goodwill impairment as of October 31 of each year 
or whenever indicators of impairment exist. 

The goodwill impairment analysis is a two-step process. The first 
step used to identify potential impairment involves comparing 
each reporting unit’s estimated fair value to its carrying value, 
including goodwill. The Company uses a discounted cash flow 
approach to develop the estimated fair value of its reporting units. 
Management judgment is required in developing the assumptions 
for the discounted cash flow model. These assumptions include 
revenue growth rates, profit margins, future capital expenditures, 
working capital needs, discount rates, perpetual growth rates, etc. 
If the estimated fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying 
value, goodwill is not impaired. If the carrying value exceeds 
estimated fair value, there is an indication of potential impair-
ment and the second step is performed to measure the amount of 
impairment. 

The second step of the process involves the calculation of an 
implied fair value of goodwill for each reporting unit for which 
step one indicated potential impairment. The implied fair value 
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of goodwill is determined in a manner similar to how goodwill is 
calculated in a business combination. That is, the estimated fair 
value of the reporting unit, as calculated in step one, is allocated 
to the individual assets and liabilities as if the reporting unit was 
being acquired in a business combination. If the implied fair value 
of goodwill exceeds the carrying value of goodwill assigned to 
the reporting unit, there is no impairment. If the carrying value 
of goodwill assigned to a reporting unit exceeds the implied fair 
value of the goodwill, an impairment charge is recorded to write 
down the carrying value. An impairment loss cannot exceed the 
carrying value of goodwill assigned to a reporting unit and the loss 
establishes a new basis in the goodwill. Subsequent reversal of an 
impairment loss is not permitted.

The discount rate, sales growth and profitability assumptions and 
perpetual growth rate are the material assumptions utilized in the 
discounted cash flow model used to estimate the fair value of each 
reporting unit. The Company’s discount rate reflects a weighted 
average cost of capital (“WACC”) for a peer group of companies in 
the chemical manufacturing industry with an equity size premium 
added, as applicable, for each reporting unit. The WACC is calcu-
lated based on observable market data. Some of this data (such as 
the risk free or treasury rate and the pretax cost of debt) are based 
on the market data at a point in time. Other data (such as beta and 
the equity risk premium) are based upon market data over time.

The discounted cash flow analysis requires estimates, assump-
tions and judgments about future events. The Company’s analysis 
uses internally generated budgets and long-range forecasts. The 
Company’s discounted cash flow analysis uses the assumptions in 
these budgets and forecasts about sales trends, inflation, working 
capital needs, and forecasted capital expenditures along with an 
estimate of the reporting unit’s terminal value (the value of the 
reporting unit at the end of the forecast period) to determine the 
implied fair value of each reporting unit. The Company’s assump-
tions about working capital needs and capital expenditures are 
based on historical experience. The perpetual growth rate assumed 
in the discounted cash flow model was consistent with the long-
term rate of growth as measured by the U.S. Gross Domestic 
Product. 

The Company believes the assumptions used in its discounted cash 
flow analysis are appropriate and result in reasonable estimates 
of the implied fair value of each reporting unit. However, the 
Company may not meet its sales growth and profitability targets, 
working capital needs and capital expenditures may be higher 
than forecast, changes in credit markets may result in changes 
to the Company’s discount rate and general business conditions 
may result in changes to the Company’s terminal value assump-
tions for its reporting units. In order to evaluate the sensitivity of 

the fair value calculations on the goodwill impairment test, the 
Company applied a hypothetical 10% decrease to the fair value of 
each reporting unit. In most cases, the estimated fair value of the 
reporting units exceeded the carrying value of the reporting units 
by a substantial amount. However, this hypothetical 10% decrease 
in fair value would have triggered the need to perform additional 
step 2 analyses for three of the Company’s reporting units. The 
amount of goodwill associated with these reporting units was $253 
million at October 31, 2008.

Business Insurance Reserves

The Company has established insurance programs to cover 
workers’ compensation, business automobile and general liability 
claims. During fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, these programs had 
self-insured retention of $1 million per occurrence. For fiscal 2010, 
the self-insured retention will remain $1 million per occurrence 
with no additional aggregate retention. The Company reserves for 
its self-insured retention based on individual claim evaluations 
establishing loss estimates for known claims based on the current 
facts and circumstances. These known claims are then “devel-
oped” through actuarial computations, to reflect the expected 
ultimate loss for the known claims, as well as incurred but not 
reported claims. Actuarial computations use the Company’s spe-
cific loss history, payment patterns and insurance coverage, plus 
industry trends and other factors to estimate the required reserve 
for all open claims by policy year and loss type. Reserves for the 
Company’s self-insurance retention are evaluated monthly. Semi-
annually, the Company obtains a third-party actuarial report to 
validate that the computations and assumptions used are consistent 
with actuarial standards. Certain assumptions used in the actuarial 
computations are susceptible to change. Loss development fac-
tors are influenced by items such as medical inflation, changes in 
workers’ compensation laws, and changes in the Company’s loss 
payment patterns, all of which can have a significant influence on 
the estimated ultimate loss related to the Company’s self-insured 
retention. Accordingly, the ultimate resolution of open claims 
may be for amounts more or less than the reserve balances. The 
Company’s operations are spread across a significant number of 
locations, which helps to mitigate the potential impact of any given 
event that could give rise to an insurance-related loss. Over the last 
three years, business insurance expense has generally been in the 
range of 0.6% to 0.8% of sales.
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(a) The “Less than one Year” column relates to obligations due in fiscal 2010. The “1 to 3 
Years” column relates to obligations due in fiscal years ending March 31, 2011 and 2012. 
The “3 to 5 Years” column relates to obligations due in fiscal years ending March 31, 2013 
and 2014. The “More than 5 Years” column relates to obligations due in fiscal years ending 
March 31, 2015 and beyond.

(1) Aggregate long-term debt instruments are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of 
March 31, 2009. Long-term debt includes capital lease obligations, which were not material 
and, therefore, did not warrant separate disclosure. Principal payments on the term loan 
under the Credit Facility are not reflected in the “Less than 1 Year” column above due to 
the Company’s ability and intention to refinance the payments with borrowings under its 
long-term revolving credit line. See Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for 
more information regarding long-term debt instruments.

(2) The future interest payments on the Company’s long-term debt obligations were estimated 
based on the current outstanding principal reduced by scheduled maturities in each period 
presented and interest rates as of March 31, 2009. The actual interest payments may 
differ materially from those presented above based on actual amounts of long-term debt 
outstanding and actual interest rates in future periods. A majority of the Company’s variable 
rate debt is based on a spread over LIBOR. Based on the Company’s fixed to variable 
interest rate ratio at March 31, 2009, for every 25 basis point increase in LIBOR,  
the Company estimates that its annual interest expense would increase by approximately 
$2.2 million.

(3) Payments or receipts under interest rate swap agreements result from changes in market 
interest rates compared to contractual rates and payments to be exchanged between the 
parties to the agreements. The estimated payments in future periods were determined 
based on forward LIBOR rates as of March 31, 2009. Actual payments or receipts may differ 
materially from those presented above based on actual interest rates in future periods. 

(4) Non-compete agreements are obligations of the Company to make scheduled future 
payments, generally to former owners of acquired businesses, contingent upon their 
compliance with the covenants of the non-compete agreement.

(5) Letters of credit are guarantees of payment to third parties. The Company’s letters of 
credit principally back obligations associated with the Company’s self-insured retention on 
workers’ compensation, business automobile and general liability claims. The letters of credit 
are supported by the Company’s Credit Facility.

(6) The Company’s operating leases at March 31, 2009 include approximately $179 million in 
fleet vehicles under long-term operating leases. The Company guarantees a residual value of 
$29 million related to its leased vehicles. 

(7) In addition to the gas volumes supplied by Airgas Merchant Gases, the Company purchases 
industrial, medical and specialty gases pursuant to requirements contracts from national 
and regional producers of industrial gases. The Company has a long-term take-or-pay 

supply agreement, in effect through August 31, 2017, with Air Products to supply the Company 
with bulk liquid nitrogen, oxygen and argon. Additionally, the Company purchases helium and 
hydrogen gases from Air Products under long-term supply agreements. Based on the volume of 
fiscal 2009 purchases, the Air Products supply agreements represent approximately $55 million 
annually in liquid bulk gas purchases. 

 The Company also has long-term take-or-pay supply agreements with Linde AG to purchase 
oxygen, nitrogen, argon, helium and acetylene. The agreements expire at various dates through 
July 2019 and represent almost $50 million in annual bulk gas purchases. Additionally, 
the Company has long-term take-or-pay supply agreements to purchase oxygen, nitrogen, 
argon, and helium from other major producers. Annual purchases under these contracts are 
approximately $20 million and they expire at various dates through 2024. 

 The purchase commitments for future periods contained in the table above reflect estimates 
based on fiscal 2009 purchases. The supply agreements noted above contain periodic 
adjustments based on certain economic indices and market analysis. The Company believes 
the minimum product purchases under the agreements are within the Company’s normal 
product purchases. Actual purchases in future periods under the supply agreements could 
differ materially from those presented in the table due to fluctuations in demand requirements 
related to varying sales levels as well as changes in economic conditions. 

(8) The Company is a party to long-term take-or-pay supply agreements for the purchase of liquid 
carbon dioxide with approximately 15 suppliers that expire at various dates through 2044. 
The purchase commitments for future periods contained in the table above reflect estimates 
based on fiscal 2009 purchases. The Company believes the minimum product purchases under 
the agreements are within the Company’s normal product purchases. Actual purchases in 
future periods under the carbon dioxide supply agreements could differ materially from those 
presented in the table due to fluctuations in demand requirements related to varying sales 
levels as well as changes in economic conditions. Certain of the liquid carbon dioxide supply 
agreements contain market pricing subject to certain economic indices. 

 In June 2008, the Company signed a 15-year take-or-pay supply agreement with First United 
Ethanol LLC, (“FUEL”) to supply the Company with feed stock of raw carbon dioxide. The 
agreement is expected to commence in November 2009 after the Company completes its 450 
tons per day liquification plant at FUEL’s new complex in Camilla, GA. Annual purchases under 
this contract will be approximately $1.3 million annually.

(9) The Company purchases ammonia from a variety of sources and is obligated to purchase 
approximately $2 million annually under these contracts.

(10) Other purchase commitments primarily include property, plant and equipment expenditures.

(11) Construction commitments represent outstanding commitments to customers primarily to 
construct a raw liquid carbon dioxide plant in Camilla, GA.

Contractual Obligations 

The following table presents the Company’s contractual obligations as of March 31, 2009: 

(In thousands) Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations: Total Less than 1 Year(a) 1 to 3 Years(a) 3 to 5 Years(a) More than 5 Years(a)

Long-term debt (1) $  1,761,366 $  11,058 $  1,198,338 $  1,229 $  550,741 

Estimated interest payments on  

long-term debt (2) 359,942  56,438  96,538  75,912  131,054 

Estimated payments on  

interest rate swap agreements (3) 12,524  10,056  2,468  —  — 

Non-compete agreements (4) 21,607  4,744  7,364  5,257  4,242 

Letters of credit (5) 41,782  41,782  —  —  — 

Operating leases (6) 295,034  83,948  128,051  57,535  25,500 

Purchase obligations:

Liquid bulk gas supply agreements (7) 885,842  125,577  215,526  201,596  343,143 

Liquid carbon dioxide supply agreements (8) 201,193  18,324  28,238  26,062  128,569 

Ammonia supply agreements (9) 2,017  2,017  —  —  — 

Other purchase commitments (10) 6,917  6,917  —  —  — 

Construction commitments (11) 9,867  9,867  —  —  — 

Total Contractual Obligations $  3,598,091 $  370,728 $  1,676,523 $  367,591 $  1,183,249 
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

As disclosed in Note 4 to the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements, the Company participates in a securitization agreement 
with three commercial banks to sell, on a revolving basis, up to 
$345 million of qualifying trade receivables. The agreement expires 
in March 2010, but may be renewed subject to provisions con-
tained in the agreement. Under the securitization agreement, trade 
receivables are sold on a monthly basis to three commercial banks 
through a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity. The Company 
retains a subordinated interest in the receivables sold, which is 
included in trade receivables on the accompanying Consolidated 
Balance Sheet. At March 31, 2009, the amount of retained interest 
in the receivables sold was approximately $148 million. 

The securitization agreement is a form of off-balance sheet 
financing. The discount taken by the commercial banks reduces 
the proceeds from the sale of trade receivables and is generally at a 
lower cost than the Company can borrow under its Credit Facility. 
The table below reflects the amount of trade receivables sold at 
March 31, 2009 and the amount of the anticipated discount to be 
taken, based on market rates at March 31, 2009, on the sale of that 
quantity of receivables each month through the expiration date of 
the securitization agreement. The trade receivables securitization 
agreement expires in March 2010. The Company expects continued 
availability under the Agreement until it expires in March 2010 
and under similar agreements thereafter. Given the contraction 
of the securitized asset market in the current credit environment, 
the Company is evaluating the current arrangement with the 
banks and will evaluate this and other financing alternatives in 
fiscal 2010. Based on the characteristics of its receivable pool, the 
Company believes that trade receivable securitization will continue 
to be an attractive source of funds. In the event such source of 
funding was unavailable or reduced, the Company believes that it 
would be able to secure an alternative source of funds. 

(In thousands) Payments Due by Period
Off-balance sheet 
obligations as of  
March 31, 2009: Total

Less than 
1 Year

1 to 3 
Years

3 to 5 
Years

More than 
5 Years

Trade receivables 
securitization $ 311,400 $ 311,400 $ — $ — $ —

Estimated discount on 
securitization 3,800  3,800 — — —

Total off-balance  
sheet obligations $ 315,200 $ 315,200 $ — $ — $ —

Accounting Pronouncements Issued But Not Yet Adopted 

Business Combinations 

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 141R, Business Combinations (“SFAS 
141R”), which replaces SFAS No. 141 of the same title (“SFAS 
141”). This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2008 and prohibits early adoption. SFAS 141R will 
significantly change the way the Company accounts for business 

combinations. The Company has historically pursued new busi-
ness opportunities through acquisitions and intends to maintain 
this strategy for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Company 
expects the adoption of SFAS 141R to impact its operating results 
when significant acquisitions are completed and during the sub-
sequent acquisition measurement periods when the fair values for 
the individual assets and liabilities acquired are determined. The 
principles contained in SFAS 141R are, in a number of ways, very 
different from those previously applied to business combinations. 
Upon adoption, the impact of SFAS 141R on the consolidated 
financial statements for future acquisitions may be driven by, 
among other things, recognizing the direct costs of acquisitions as 
period costs when incurred and recasting previously issued con-
solidated financial statements as the provisional values assigned to 
the assets and liabilities acquired are trued-up to their acquisition 
date fair values. The Company will adopt SFAS 141R for its fiscal 
year beginning April 1, 2009.

In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. FAS 
141(R)-1, Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed 
in a Business Combination That Arise from Contingencies (“FSP 
141R-1”), which amends SFAS 141R regarding the initial recogni-
tion and measurement, subsequent measurement and accounting, 
and disclosure of assets and liabilities arising from contingencies 
in a business combination. FSP 141R-1 carries forward the general 
requirements of SFAS 141 for acquired contingencies in a business 
combination, yet encourages greater use of fair value as defined 
in SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 157”), when 
determinable. FSP 141R-1 is effective for fiscal years, beginning on 
or after December 15, 2008 with early adoption prohibited. The 
Company will adopt FSP 141R-1 in conjunction with SFAS 141R, 
and does not expect the adoption to have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 142-3, Determination 
of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets (“FSP 142-3”), which amends 
the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or 
extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a rec-
ognized intangible asset under SFAS 142. FSP 142-3 is effective for 
fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, begin-
ning on or after December 15, 2008 with early adoption prohibited. 
The Company will adopt FSP 142-3 in conjunction with SFAS 141R 
to improve consistency between the useful life of intangible assets 
under SFAS 142 and the period of expected cash flows used to 
measure fair value at acquisition under SFAS 141R. The Company 
does not expect the adoption of FSP 142-3 to have a material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In November 2008, the FASB ratified the consensus reached in 
Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 08-7, Accounting 
for Defensive Intangible Assets (“EITF 08-7”). EITF 08-7 clarifies 
how to account for acquired defensive intangible assets subsequent 
to initial measurement under SFAS 141R that an entity does not 
intend to actively use but does intend to hold to prevent others 
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from obtaining access to the assets. EITF 08-7 is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2008, along with SFAS 141R. 
The Company will adopt EITF 08-7 for fiscal 2010 and does not 
expect the adoption of EITF 08-7 to have a material impact on its 
consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157 effective for finan-
cial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 
2007. SFAS 157 did not require any new fair value measurements, 
but rather replaces multiple existing definitions of fair value with a 
single definition, establishes a consistent framework for measuring 
fair value and expands financial statement disclosures regarding 
fair value measurements. In February 2008, the FASB issued FSP 
No. FAS 157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157, which 
delayed the effective date of SFAS 157 until fiscal years beginning 
after November 15, 2008 for non-financial assets and liabilities 
that are not recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial 
statements on a recurring basis. The Company adopted SFAS 157 
for financial assets and liabilities on April 1, 2008 (see Note 12 to 
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements). The adop-
tion of SFAS 157 for financial assets and liabilities did not have a 
material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of 
operations. Additionally, the Company will adopt SFAS 157 for 
non-financial assets and liabilities that are not recognized or dis-
closed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis 
on April 1, 2009. The adoption of the deferred portion of SFAS 
157 is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1, 
Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
(“FSP 107-1”), which requires disclosures about the fair value of 
financial instruments for interim reporting periods as well as in 
annual financial statements. Currently, these disclosures are only 
required in the Company’s consolidated annual financial state-
ments. FSP 107-1 is effective for interim reporting periods ending 
after June 15, 2009 with early adoption permitted under specified 
circumstances. The Company will adopt FSP 107-1 for the interim 
reporting period ending June 30, 2009, and does not expect the 
adoption to have a material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling 
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements (“SFAS 160”), 
which amends Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, Consolidated 
Financial Statements. SFAS 160 establishes accounting and 
reporting standards that require (1) non-controlling interests held 
by non-parent parties be clearly identified and presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position within equity, sepa-
rate from the parent’s equity, and (2) the amount of consolidated 
net income attributable to the parent and to the non-controlling 

interests be clearly presented on the face of the consolidated state-
ment of income. SFAS 160 also requires consistent reporting of any 
changes to the parent’s ownership interest while retaining a con-
trolling financial interest, as well as specific guidelines over how to 
treat the deconsolidation of controlling interests and any applicable 
gains or losses. SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years and interim 
periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 
15, 2008 and is to be applied prospectively, except for the presen-
tation and disclosure requirements of SFAS 160 which are to be 
applied retrospectively for all periods presented. The Company is 
currently assessing the impact of SFAS 160 on the consolidated 
financial statements. Although all of the Company’s subsidiaries are 
currently 100% owned subsidiaries, the retrospective presentation 
and disclosure requirements will require previous non-controlling 
interests to be presented and disclosed for prior periods in the con-
solidated financial statements under the requirements of SFAS 160. 

Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains statements that are forward looking within 
the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 
1995. These statements include, but are not limited to, statements 
regarding: the Company’s expected net earnings for the first 
quarter ending June 30, 2009 to range from $0.62 to $0.67 per 
diluted share, and expected net earnings for the fiscal year ending 
March 31, 2010 to range from $2.60 to $2.90 per diluted share; the 
Company’s expectation of slight to moderate revenue declines in 
fiscal 2010; the Company’s continued efforts to reduce expenses 
and costs; the Company’s belief that the stimulus spending plan 
focus on infrastructure build will support demand for its indus-
trial gases, welding goods and safety supplies and that stimulus 
funds for research and healthcare should drive demand for the 
Company’s specialty and medical gases; the Company’s commit-
ment to its long-term growth strategy; the Company’s plan to 
continue to aggressively seek to identify businesses that bolster 
its core gas business, strengthen its adjacent offerings and give it 
entry into new markets; the Company’s belief that strategic prod-
ucts have good long-term growth profiles; the Company’s belief 
that its focus on marketing and selling strategic products will help 
to mitigate the impact of the current recessionary environment; 
the Company’s belief regarding the future growth prospects of 
the medical care markets; the Company’s belief regarding sup-
plying its customers and the availability of alternative supplies 
in the event of a termination of a major supply agreement; the 
Company’s expectation that the multi-year implementation process 
of the SAP system will minimize business disruption and conver-
sion risks, make it easier for customers to do business with the 
Company and that the implementation will be completed within 
four years; the Company’s continued progress selling specialty 
gases to the EPA Protocol market and sales of specialty gas equip-
ment; the Company’s estimate that for every 25 basis point increase 
in LIBOR, annual interest expense will increase approximately 
$2.2 million; the future declaration and payment of dividends; the 
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Company’s ability and intention to refinance principal payments 
under the term loan with borrowings under its long-term revolving 
credit line; the Company’s expectation that the air separation unit 
in Carrollton, Kentucky and the carbon dioxide plant in Camilla, 
Georgia are expected to be completed in fiscal 2010 and that a 
carbon dioxide supply agreement will commence in November 
2009 upon completion of its liquification plan in Camilla, Georgia; 
the Company’s expectation that capital spending for fiscal 2010 will 
be about 6% of net sales; the Company’s belief that it could obtain 
future financing at reasonable terms if required; the Company’s 
belief that the trade receivable securitization will continue to be an 
attractive source of funds; the ability of the Company to manage its 
exposure to interest rate risk through participation in interest rate 
swap agreements; the performance of counterparties under interest 
rate swap agreements; the Company’s estimate that $6.5 million 
of existing losses recorded in Accumulated Other Comprehensive 
Loss at March 31, 2009, net of tax benefits of $3.5 million, will 
be reclassified into earnings within the next twelve months; the 
Company’s belief that self-insured retention will remain $1.0 mil-
lion per occurrence for fiscal 2010; and the Company’s estimates of 
purchase commitments associated with product supply agreements 
and the belief that the minimum product purchases under the 
agreements are within the Company’s normal product purchases. 

These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertain-
ties. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially 
from those predicted in any forward-looking statement include, 
but are not limited to: the Company’s inability to diversify against 
economic cyclicality; higher than expected implementation costs 
of the SAP system; conversion problems related to the SAP system 
that disrupt the Company’s business and negatively impact cus-
tomer relationships; the Company’s inability to complete the SAP 
implementation in the expected timeframe, which could negatively 
impact the Company’s operations and abilities to operate efficiently 
and measure performance; continued weakening of the economy 
resulting in weakening demand for the Company’s products; 
weakening operating and financial performance of the Company’s 
customers, which can negatively impact the Company’s sales and 
the Company’s ability to collect its accounts receivables; construc-
tion delays with regard to the Carrollton, Kentucky air separation 
unit and the Camilla, Georgia carbon dioxide plant; the inability 
to successfully identify, consummate and integrate acquisitions 
and to achieve anticipated acquisition synergies; a downturn in 
the hospital, physician and dental care markets and its effect on 
the Company’s sales growth; the inability of the Company to raise 
prices to keep pace with cost increases; higher than estimated 
interest expense resulting from increases in LIBOR and/or changes 
in the Company’s credit rating; the loss of customers, acquisi-
tion integration problems and higher than expected expenses; 
continued economic downturn (including adverse changes in the 
specific markets for the Company’s products, including strategic 
products); adverse customer response to the Company’s products 

and/or the inability to identify products that will grow at a faster 
rate than the overall economy; the inability to obtain alternate 
supply sources of hardgoods products; the inability to obtain alter-
native supply sources to adequately meet customer demand and the 
effect on sales and customer relationships; the Company’s inability 
to control operating expenses and the potential impact of higher 
operating expenses in future periods; adverse changes in customer 
buying patterns; a lack of available cash flow and financing neces-
sary to pay future dividends and/or refinance term loan principal 
payments; changes in the Company’s debt levels, which prevent 
the Company from arranging additional financing; the inability to 
manage interest rate exposure; defaults by counterparties under 
interest rate swap agreements; potential liabilities arising from 
withdrawals from the Company’s assumed multi-employer pension 
plans; the effects of competition from independent distributors and 
vertically integrated gas producers on products, pricing and sales 
growth; future goodwill impairment due to changes in assump-
tions used in the annual impairment analysis; changes in actuarial 
assumptions and their impact on the ultimate loss related to the 
Company’s self-insured retention; changes in customer demand 
and the impact on the Company’s ability to meet minimum 
purchases under take-or-pay supply agreements; uncertainties 
regarding accidents or litigation which may arise in the ordinary 
course of business; and the effects of, and changes in, the economy, 
monetary and fiscal policies, laws and regulations, inflation and 
monetary fluctuations and fluctuations in interest rates, both on a 
national and international basis. The Company does not undertake 
to update any forward-looking statement made herein or that may 
be made from time to time by or on behalf of the Company.
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Management of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) 
prepared and is responsible for the consolidated financial state-
ments and related financial information in this Annual Report. The 
consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The consolidated 
financial statements reflect management’s informed judgment 
and estimation as to the effect of events and transactions that are 
accounted for or disclosed.

Management maintains a system of internal control, which 
includes internal control over financial reporting, at each busi-
ness unit. The Company’s system of internal control is designed 
to provide reasonable assurance that records are maintained in 
reasonable detail to properly reflect transactions and permit the 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. gener-
ally accepted accounting principles, that transactions are executed 
in accordance with management’s and the Board of Directors’ 
authorization, and that unauthorized transactions are prevented 
or detected on a timely basis such that they could not materially 
affect the financial statements. The Company also maintains a staff 
of internal auditors who review and evaluate the system of internal 
control on a continual basis. In determining the extent of the 
system of internal control, management recognizes that the cost 
should not exceed the benefits derived. The evaluation of these fac-
tors requires judgment by management.

Management evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting, as of March 31, 2009, based on cri-
teria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission. KPMG LLP, an independent registered public 
accounting firm, as stated in their report appearing herein, issued 
their opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting as of March 31, 2009 and an opinion on 
the fair presentation of the financial position of the Company as of 
March 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of the Company’s opera-
tions and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period 
ended March 31, 2009. 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting solely 
of independent directors, meets regularly (jointly and sepa-
rately) with the independent registered public accounting firm, 
the internal auditors and management to satisfy itself that they 
are properly discharging their responsibilities. The independent 
registered public accounting firm has direct access to the Audit 
Committee.

Airgas, Inc.

Peter McCausland
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Robert M. McLaughlin
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

June 1, 2009



Management’s Report on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting

39

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Airgas ,  In c .  20 0 9

Management of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) is 
responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system 
of internal control over financial reporting. Under the supervi-
sion and with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management conducted 
an assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting based on the framework established by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 
Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment, 
management concluded that, as of March 31, 2009, the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting was effective. KPMG LLP, 
an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in 
their report, has issued their opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 
2009.

Airgas, Inc.

Peter McCausland
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Robert M. McLaughlin
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

June 1, 2009
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Airgas, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2009 and 2008, 
and the related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’ 
equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period 
ended March 31, 2009. We also have audited Airgas, Inc.’s internal 
control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2009, based on cri-
teria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). Airgas, Inc.’s management is responsible for 
these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective 
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment 
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, 
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and an 
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement and whether effective 
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial state-
ments included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement pre-
sentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting 
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effec-
tiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits 
also included performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide 
a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial 
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately 
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of 
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial state-
ments in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 

made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisi-
tion, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial 
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, pro-
jections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are 
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2009 and 2008, 
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of 
the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2009, in con-
formity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also 
in our opinion, Airgas, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, 
effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 
2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission.

As discussed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, 
the Company adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting 
Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty 
in Income Taxes, effective April 1, 2007.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
June 1, 2009
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(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended March 31, 2009 2008 2007

Net Sales $  4,349,455 $  4,017,024 $  3,205,051 

Cost and Expenses

Cost of products sold (excluding depreciation expense)  2,045,020  1,929,263  1,567,232 

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses  1,558,772  1,422,162  1,148,979 

Depreciation  198,033  175,802 138,818 

Amortization (Note 8)  22,762  13,973 8,525 

 Total costs and expenses  3,824,587  3,541,200  2,863,554 

Operating Income  524,868  475,824  341,497 

Interest expense, net (Note 16)  (84,395)  (89,485)  (60,180)

Discount on securitization of trade receivables (Note 4)  (10,738)  (17,031)  (13,630)

Loss on the extinguishment of debt (Note 10)  —  —  (12,099)

Other income (expense), net  (382)  1,454  1,556 

 Earnings before income taxes and minority interest  429,353  370,762  257,144 

Income taxes (Note 6)  (168,265)  (144,184)  (99,883)

Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate (Note 13)  —  (3,230)  (2,845)

Net Earnings $  261,088 $  223,348 $  154,416 

Net Earnings per Common Share (Note 17)

Basic earnings per share $  3.19 $  2.74 $  1.98 

Diluted earnings per share $  3.12 $  2.66 $  1.92 

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic  81,926  81,402  78,025 

Diluted  83,816  84,235  82,566 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(In thousands, except per share amounts)  

March 31, 2009 2008

Assets
Current Assets

Cash $  47,188 $  43,048 

Trade receivables, less allowances for doubtful accounts of $27,572 in 

2009 and $22,624 in 2008 (Note 4)  184,739  183,569 

Inventories, net (Note 5)  390,445  330,732 

Deferred income tax asset, net (Note 6)  34,760  22,258 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  60,838  67,110 

  Total current assets  717,970  646,717 

Plant and equipment at cost (Note 7)  3,558,730  3,232,673 

Less accumulated depreciation  (1,192,204)  (1,037,803)

  Plant and equipment, net  2,366,526  2,194,870 

Goodwill (Note 8)  1,063,370  969,059 

Other intangible assets, net (Note 8)  216,070  148,998 

Other non-current assets  35,601  27,620 

  Total assets $  4,399,537 $  3,987,264 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable, trade $  156,838 $  185,111 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (Note 9)  264,564  288,883 

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10)  11,058  40,400 

  Total current liabilities  432,460  514,394 

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10)  1,750,308  1,539,648 

Deferred income tax liability, net (Note 6)  565,783  439,782 

Other non-current liabilities  79,231  80,104 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)

Stockholders’ Equity (Note 14)

Preferred stock, 20,030 shares authorized, no shares issued or 

outstanding in 2009 and 2008 — —

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 200,000 shares authorized, 

85,542 and 84,076 shares issued in 2009 and 2008, respectively  856  841 

Capital in excess of par value  533,030  468,302 

Retained earnings  1,198,985  983,663 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (10,753)  (4,713)

Treasury stock, 4,139 and 1,788 common shares at cost in 2009 and 

2008, respectively  (150,363)  (34,757)

  Total stockholders’ equity  1,571,755  1,413,336 

  Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $  4,399,537 $  3,987,264

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 

 Shares of 
Common 

Stock $0.01 
Par Value

Common 
Stock

Capital in
Excess of
Par Value

 Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Shares of
Treasury

Stock
Treasury 

Stock

Total
Stockholders’

Equity

Balance — April 1, 2006  78,569 $  786 $  289,598 $  665,158 $  4,751 (1,292) $  (13,134) $  947,159 

Cumulative adjustment to retained earnings for adoption  
of SAB 108, net of tax (Note 2) (5,161)  (5,161)

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings  154,416 $ 154,416 
Foreign currency translation adjustment  2 2 
Net change in fair value of interest rate  

swap agreements (Note 11)  (850) (850)
Net tax benefit of other comprehensive income items  280 280 
Total comprehensive income $  153,848 

Shares issued in connection with stock options  
exercised (Note 15)  960  10  15,097 15,107 

Dividends paid on common stock ($0.28) (Note 14)  (21,980) (21,980)
Tax benefit associated with the exercise of stock options  9,013 9,013 
Shares issued in connection with the Employee Stock 

Purchase Plan (Note 15)  431  3  11,948 11,951 
Expense related to stock-based compensation (Note 15)  15,445 15,445 
Balance — March 31, 2007  79,960 $  799 $  341,101 $  792,433 $  4,183  (1,292) $  (13,134) $  1,125,382 

Cumulative adjustment to retained earnings for  
adoption of FIN 48 (Note 6)  (290)  (290)

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings  223,348 $  223,348 
Foreign currency translation adjustment  4,738  4,738 
Net change in fair value of interest rate swap 

agreements (Note 11)  (20,956)  (20,956)
Net tax benefit of other comprehensive income items  7,322  7,322 
Total comprehensive income $  214,452 

Shares issued in connection with stock options  
exercised (Note 15)  1,238  13  20,368  20,381 

Dividends paid on common stock ($0.39) (Note 14)  (31,828)  (31,828)
Tax benefit associated with the exercise of stock options  13,327  13,327 
Shares issued in connection with the Employee Stock 

Purchase Plan (Note 15)  407  4  14,087  14,091 
Expense related to stock-based compensation (Note 15)  15,587  15,587 
National Welders exchange transaction (Note 13)  2,471  25  63,832  63,857 
Purchase of treasury stock (Note 14)  (496)  (21,623)  (21,623)
Balance — March 31, 2008  84,076 $  841 $  468,302 $  983,663 $  (4,713)  (1,788) $  (34,757) $  1,413,336 

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings  261,088 $  261,088 
Foreign currency translation adjustment  (11,451)  (11,451)
Net change in fair value of interest rate swap 

agreements (Note 11)  8,325  8,325 
Net tax expense of other comprehensive income items  (2,914)  (2,914)
Total comprehensive income $  255,048 

Shares issued in connection with stock options  
exercised (Note 15)  1,027  10  16,178 16,188 

Dividends paid on common stock ($0.56) (Note 14)  (45,766) (45,766)
Tax benefit associated with the exercise of stock options  11,846 11,846 
Shares issued in connection with the Employee Stock 

Purchase Plan (Note 15)  439  5  16,502 16,507 
Expense related to stock-based compensation (Note 15)  20,202 20,202 
Purchase of treasury stock (Note 14)  (2,351)  (115,606)  (115,606)
Balance — March 31, 2009  85,542 $  856 $  533,030 $1,198,985 $  (10,753) (4,139) $ (150,363) $  1,571,755 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(In thousands) 
Years Ended March 31, 2009 2008 2007

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net earnings $  261,088 $  223,348 $  154,416 

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by 

operating activities:

Depreciation  198,033  175,802  138,818 

Amortization  22,762  13,973  8,525 

Deferred income taxes  103,280  74,725  51,911 

Loss (gain) on sales of plant and equipment  (964)  714  39 

Minority interest in earnings  —  3,230  2,845 

Stock-based compensation expense  20,635  16,629  15,445 

Loss on debt extinguishment  —  —  12,099 

Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of business

acquisitions and divestitures:

Securitization of trade receivables  (48,600)  95,600  20,200 

Trade receivables, net  77,209  (23,308)  (37,687)

Inventories, net  441  (37,079)  (1,491)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  4,362  1,693  (23,326)

Accounts payable, trade  (40,239)  8,053  (15,163)

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  (15,097)  (749)  266 

Other non-current assets  (673)  (81)  1,809 

Other non-current liabilities  530  (2,624)  (2,363)

Net cash provided by operating activities  582,767  549,926  326,343 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures  (351,912)  (267,378)  (238,274)

Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment  14,360  9,345  8,685 

Business acquisitions and holdback settlements  (273,750)  (480,096)  (687,892)

Other, net  1,378  (1,316)  (474)

Net cash used in investing activities  (609,924)  (739,445)  (917,955)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings  1,364,423  1,162,452  1,577,967 

Repayment of debt  (1,188,675)  (953,749)  (1,008,186)

Financing costs  (9,201)  —  (5,103)

Premium paid on call of senior subordinated notes  —  —  (10,267)

Minority interest in earnings  —  (711)  (2,845)

Purchase of treasury stock  (120,219)  (17,010)  — 

Proceeds from the exercise of stock options  16,188  20,381  15,107 

Stock issued for the Employee Stock Purchase Plan  16,507  14,091  11,951 

Tax benefit realized from the exercise of stock options  11,846  13,327  9,013 

Dividends paid to stockholders  (45,766)  (31,828)  (21,980)

Change in cash overdraft  (13,806)  (317)  16,901 

Net cash provided by financing activities  31,297  206,636  582,558 

Change in Cash $  4,140 $  17,117 $  (9,054)

Cash — Beginning of year  43,048  25,931  34,985 

Cash — End of year $  47,188 $  43,048 $  25,931 

For supplemental cash flow disclosures, see Note 22.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Description of the Business

Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (“Airgas” or the “Company”) became a 
publicly traded company on the New York Stock Exchange in 1986. 
Since its inception, the Company has made nearly 400 acquisi-
tions to become the largest U.S. distributor of industrial, medical, 
and specialty gases (delivered in “packaged” or cylinder form), 
and hardgoods, such as welding equipment and supplies. Airgas 
is also one of the largest U.S. distributors of safety products, the 
largest U.S. producer of nitrous oxide and dry ice, the largest liquid 
carbon dioxide producer in the Southeast, the fifth largest producer 
of atmospheric merchant gases in North America, and a leading 
distributor of process chemicals, refrigerants, and ammonia prod-
ucts. The Company markets its products to its diversified customer 
base through multiple sales channels including branch-based sales 
representatives, retail stores, strategic customer account programs, 
telesales, catalogs, eBusiness and independent distributors. More 
than 14,000 employees work in over 1,100 locations including 
branches, retail stores, packaged gas fill plants, cylinder testing 
facilities, specialty gas labs, production facilities, and distribution 
centers. 

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 
Airgas, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Intercompany accounts and trans-
actions are eliminated in consolidation.

The Company has made estimates and assumptions relating to the 
reporting of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities to prepare these consolidated financial statements 
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”). Estimates are used for, but not limited to, determining 
the net carrying value of trade receivables, inventories, plant and 
equipment, goodwill, other intangible assets, asset retirement 
obligations, business and health insurance reserves, loss contingen-
cies and deferred tax assets. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Reclassifications and Prior Period Adjustments

The Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2008 reflects 
adjustments that increased insurance receivables, reflected in the 
line item “Prepaid expenses and other current assets,” by $8 mil-
lion and also increased business insurance reserves, reflected in 
the line item “Accrued expenses and other current liabilities,” by 
a corresponding $8 million. The insurance receivable and corre-
sponding increase in the business insurance reserves at March 31, 
2008 represent probable claim losses in excess of the Company’s 
self-insured retention for which the Company is fully insured. The 
adjustments to the March 31, 2008 balances were also reflected 
in Note 9 — Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities. The 
Company does not consider these adjustments to be material to its 

financial position and the adjustments did not affect its results of 
operations or liquidity. 

Additionally, certain reclassifications were made to the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended March 
31, 2008 and 2007, as well as the related notes, to conform to the 
current period presentation. These reclassifications principally 
resulted in increasing cost of products sold (excluding depre-
ciation) and reducing selling, distribution and administrative 
expenses. Additionally, some revenue was reclassified between Gas 
and Rent and Hardgoods. These reclassifications were the result of 
conforming the accounting policies of National Welders (see Note 
13) to the Company’s accounting policies and were not material. 
Consolidated net sales and net earnings for prior periods were not 
impacted by the reclassifications.

As a result of an organizational realignment during the fourth 
quarter of fiscal 2009, the March 31, 2008 and 2007 segment 
information as disclosed in Note 23 was restated to reflect the new 
segment structure. The change in business segments had no effect 
on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of opera-
tions or liquidity.

Cash and Cash Overdraft

On a daily basis, all available funds are swept from depository 
accounts into a concentration account and used to repay debt 
under the Company’s revolving credit facilities. Cash principally 
represents the balance of customer checks that have not yet cleared 
through the banking system and become available to be swept into 
the concentration account, and deposits made subsequent to the 
daily cash sweep. The Company does not fund its disbursement 
accounts for checks it has written until the checks are presented 
to the bank for payment. Cash overdrafts represent the balance of 
outstanding checks and are classified with other current liabili-
ties. There are no compensating balance requirements or other 
restrictions on the transfer of cash associated with the Company’s 
depository accounts.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts, 
which includes sales returns, sales allowances, and bad debts. The 
allowance adjusts the carrying value of trade receivables and the 
subordinated retained interest in trade receivables sold under 
the trade receivable securitization agreement for the estimate of 
accounts that will ultimately not be collected. An allowance for 
doubtful accounts is generally established as trade receivables age 
beyond their due date. As past due balances age, higher valua-
tion allowances are established lowering the net carrying value of 
receivables. The amount of valuation allowance established for each 
past due period reflects the Company’s historical collections expe-
rience and current economic conditions and trends. The Company 
also establishes valuation allowances for specific problem accounts 
and bankruptcies. The amounts ultimately collected on past due 
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trade receivables are subject to numerous factors including general 
economic conditions, the condition of the receivable portfolio 
assumed in acquisitions, the financial condition of individual 
customers, and the terms of reorganization for accounts exiting 
bankruptcy. Changes in these conditions impact the Company’s 
collection experience and may result in the recognition of higher 
or lower valuation allowances. 

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is deter-
mined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method, average-cost 
method and last-in, first-out (LIFO) method for approximately 
72%, 17% and 11%, respectively, of the inventories at March 31, 
2009. Cost is determined using the FIFO method, average-cost 
method and LIFO method for approximately 66%, 20% and 14%, 
respectively, of the inventories at March 31, 2008.

Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are initially stated at cost. Depreciation is 
computed using the straight line method based on the estimated 
useful lives of the related assets. The carrying values of long-lived 
assets, including plant and equipment, are reviewed for impair-
ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the recorded value cannot be recovered from the undiscounted 
future cash flows. When the book value of an asset exceeds the 
associated undiscounted expected future cash flows, it is consid-
ered to be potentially impaired and is written down to fair value, 
which is determined based on either discounted future cash flows 
or appraised values. The Company also leases property, plant and 
equipment, principally under operating leases. Rent expense for 
operating leases, which may have escalating rentals or rent holidays 
over the term of the lease, is recorded on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. 

Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Deferred Financing Costs

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired 
entity over the amounts assigned to the assets acquired and liabili-
ties assumed. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives are tested for impairment at least annually. The Company has 
elected to perform its annual tests for indications of goodwill and 
other indefinite lived intangibles impairment as of October 31 of 
each year. 

Other intangible assets primarily include non-competition agree-
ments and customer lists resulting from business acquisitions. Both 
non-competition agreements and customer lists are recorded based 
on their acquisition date fair value. Non-competition agreements 
are amortized using the straight-line method over the term of the 
agreement. Customer lists are amortized using the straight-line 
method over their estimated useful lives, which range from 7 to 17 
years. The Company assesses the recoverability of other intangible 
assets by determining whether the carrying value of the intangible 

asset can be recovered through projected undiscounted future cash 
flows of the related business unit.

Financing costs related to the issuance of long term debt and 
for the trade receivables securitization agreement (see Note 4) 
are deferred and included in other long-term assets. Deferred 
financing costs are amortized as interest expense over the term of 
the related debt instrument for long-term debt, and are amortized 
as interest expense over the term of the agreement for the trade 
receivables securitization. 

Asset Retirement Obligations

The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation is 
recognized in the period when the asset is placed in service. The 
fair value of the liability is estimated using projected discounted 
cash flows. In subsequent periods, the retirement obligation is 
accreted to its future value, which is the estimate of the obligation 
at the asset retirement date. When the asset is placed in service, a 
corresponding retirement asset equal to the fair value of the retire-
ment obligation is also recorded as part of the carrying amount of 
the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the asset’s useful 
life. The majority of the Company’s asset retirement obligations are 
related to the restoration costs associated with returning bulk tanks 
sites to their original condition upon termination of long-term 
leases or supply agreements. The Company’s asset retirement obli-
gations totaled $10.2 million and $9.3 million at March 31, 2009 
and 2008, respectively. 

Commitments and Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, 
litigation and other sources are recorded when it is probable that a 
liability has been incurred and the amount of the claim, assessment 
or damages can be reasonably estimated.

The Company maintains business insurance programs with self-
insured retention, which covers workers’ compensation, business 
automobile and general liability claims. The Company accrues 
estimated losses using actuarial models and assumptions based 
on historical loss experience. The actuarial calculations used to 
estimate business insurance reserves are based on numerous 
assumptions, some of which are subjective. The Company will 
adjust its business insurance reserves, if necessary, in the event 
future loss experience differs from historical loss patterns.

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefits plan, which 
provides medical benefits to employees electing coverage under 
the plan. The Company maintains a reserve for incurred but not 
reported medical claims and claim development. The reserve is an 
estimate based on historical experience and other assumptions, 
some of which are subjective. The Company will adjust its self-
insured medical benefits reserve as the Company’s loss experience 
changes due to medical inflation, changes in the number of plan 
participants and an aging employee base.
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Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability 
method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for 
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between 
the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
and their respective tax bases and operating loss carryforwards. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax 
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which 
those temporary differences and operating loss carryforwards are 
expected to be recovered, settled or utilized. The effect on deferred 
tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in 
income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation 
allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when it is 
more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized.

The Company recognizes the benefit of an income tax position 
only if it is more likely than not (greater than 50%) that the tax 
position will be sustained upon tax examination, based solely on 
the technical merits of the tax position. Otherwise, no benefit is 
recognized. The tax benefits recognized are measured based on the 
largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being real-
ized upon ultimate settlement. Additionally, the Company accrues 
interest and related penalties, if applicable, on all tax exposures for 
which reserves have been established consistent with jurisdictional 
tax laws. Interest and penalties are classified as income tax expense 
in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign operations is 
the applicable local currency. The translation of foreign curren-
cies into U.S. dollars is performed for balance sheet accounts using 
current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for 
revenue and expense accounts using average exchange rates during 
each reporting period. The gains or losses resulting from such 
translations are included in stockholders’ equity as a component 
of “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).” Gains and 
losses arising from foreign currency transactions are reflected in 
the Consolidated Statements of Earnings as incurred.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to 
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade receivables. 
Concentrations of credit risk are limited due to the Company’s 
large number of customers and their dispersion across many indus-
tries primarily throughout North America. Credit terms granted to 
customers are generally net 30 days.

Financial Instruments

In managing interest rate risk exposure, the Company enters into 
interest rate swap agreements. An interest rate swap is a contrac-
tual exchange of interest payments between two parties. A standard 
interest rate swap involves the payment of a fixed rate times a 

notional amount by one party in exchange for a floating rate 
times the same notional amount from the other party. As interest 
rates change, the difference to be paid or received is accrued and 
recognized as interest expense or income over the life of the agree-
ment. These instruments are not entered into for trading purposes. 
Counterparties to the Company’s interest rate swap agreements 
are major financial institutions. In accordance with Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, Accounting for 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended (“SFAS 
133”), the Company recognizes interest rate swap agreements 
on the balance sheet at fair value. The interest rate swap agree-
ments are marked to market with changes in fair value recognized 
in either accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) or in 
the carrying value of the hedged portions of fixed rate debt, as 
applicable. 

The carrying value of cash, trade receivables exclusive of the subor-
dinated retained interest, other current receivables, trade payables 
and other current liabilities (e.g., deposit liabilities, cash overdrafts, 
etc.) approximate fair value based on the short-term maturity of 
these financial instruments.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from sales of gases and hardgoods products is recognized 
when the product is shipped, a sales price is fixed or determinable 
and collectability is reasonably assured. Rental fees on cylinders, 
cryogenic liquid containers, bulk gas storage tanks and other 
equipment are recognized when earned. For contracts that contain 
multiple deliverables, principally product supply agreements for 
gases and container rental, revenue is recognized for each deliver-
able based on its objectively determinable fair value. For cylinder 
lease agreements in which rental fees are collected in advance, 
revenues are deferred and recognized over the term of the lease 
agreement. Amounts billed for sales tax, value added tax or other 
transactional taxes imposed on revenue producing transactions are 
presented on a net basis and are not recognized as revenue. 

Cost of Products Sold (Excluding Depreciation)

Cost of products sold (excluding depreciation) for the Distribution 
business segment principally consists of direct material costs, 
direct labor, manufacturing overhead and freight-in for bulk gas 
purchases and hardgoods (welding supplies and equipment, safety 
products and supplies). Maintenance costs associated with cylin-
ders, cryogenic liquid containers and bulk tanks are also reflected 
in cost of products sold.

Cost of products sold (excluding depreciation) for the All Other 
Operations business segment principally consists of direct material 
costs, direct labor and freight-in for bulk gas purchases. 
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Selling, Distribution and Administrative Expenses

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses consist of labor 
and overhead associated with the purchasing, marketing and dis-
tribution of the Company’s products, as well as costs associated 
with a variety of administrative functions such as legal, treasury, 
accounting and tax, and facility-related expenses. 

Depreciation

The Company determines depreciation expense using the straight-
line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets. The 
Company uses accelerated depreciation methods for tax purposes 
where appropriate. Depreciation expense is recognized on the 
Company’s property, plant and equipment in the Consolidated 
Statement of Earnings line item “Depreciation.”

Shipping and Handling Fees and Distribution Costs

The Company recognizes delivery and freight charges to customers 
as elements of net sales. Costs of third-party freight are recognized 
as cost of products sold (excluding depreciation). The majority of 
the costs associated with the distribution of the Company’s prod-
ucts, which include labor and overhead associated with filling, 
warehousing and delivery by Company vehicles, are reflected in 
selling, distribution and administrative expenses and were $712 
million, $643 million and $497 million for the fiscal years ended 
March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The Company con-
ducts multiple operations out of the same facilities and does not 
allocate facility-related expenses to each operational function. 
Accordingly, there is no facility-related expense in the distribu-
tion costs disclosed above. Depreciation expense associated with 
the Company’s delivery fleet of $18 million, $15 million and $11 
million was recognized in depreciation for the fiscal years ended 
March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Note 2 
Accounting and Disclosure Changes

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements 

SFAS 157

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 
157”), effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years 
beginning after November 15, 2007. SFAS 157 did not require any 
new fair value measurements, but rather replaces multiple existing 
definitions of fair value with a single definition, establishes a 
consistent framework for measuring fair value and expands finan-
cial statement disclosures regarding fair value measurements. In 
February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. 
FAS 157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157, which delayed 
the effective date of SFAS 157 until fiscal years beginning after 
November 15, 2008 for non-financial assets and liabilities that are 
not recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements 
on a recurring basis. The Company adopted SFAS 157 for financial 

assets and liabilities on April 1, 2008 (see Note 12). The adop-
tion of SFAS 157 for financial assets and liabilities did not have a 
material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of 
operations. Additionally, the Company will adopt SFAS 157 for 
non-financial assets and liabilities that are not recognized or dis-
closed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis 
on April 1, 2009. The adoption of the deferred portion of SFAS 
157 is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

SFAS 159

Effective April 1, 2008, the Company adopted SFAS No. 159,  
The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, 
which provides companies with an option to report selected finan-
cial assets and liabilities at fair value in an attempt to reduce both 
the complexity in accounting for financial instruments and the vol-
atility in earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities 
differently. The Company did not elect to re-measure any existing 
financial assets or liabilities under the provisions of this statement.

SFAS 161

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (“SFAS 161”), which 
enhances the requirements under SFAS 133. SFAS 161 requires 
enhanced disclosures about an entity’s derivative and hedging 
activities and how they affect an entity’s financial position, finan-
cial performance and cash flows. SFAS 161 is effective for fiscal 
years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008. The 
Company adopted SFAS 161 on January 1, 2009 — see Note 11 for 
required disclosures. The adoption of SFAS 161 did not have an 
impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations 
or liquidity. 

SFAS 162

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, The Hierarchy of 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“SFAS 162”). SFAS 162 
identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework 
for selecting the principles to be used in the preparation of finan-
cial statements that are presented in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States. The Company 
adopted SFAS 162 on November 15, 2008. The adoption of SFAS 
162 did not have an impact on the Company’s financial position, 
results of operations or liquidity. 

SAB 108

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission 
issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects 
of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in 
Current Year Financial Statements (“SAB 108”). SAB 108 pro-
vides interpretive guidance on how the effects of the carryover 
or reversal of prior year misstatements should be considered in 
quantifying a current year misstatement. Prior to SAB 108, either 
a balance sheet approach (“iron curtain”) or an income statement 
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approach (“rollover”) was utilized to quantify the materiality of 
misstatements. Although either approach could result in a different 
conclusion about materiality, both approaches were acceptable. 
Under SAB 108, both the balance sheet and the income statement 
approach must be considered when evaluating the materiality of 
misstatements. The Company adopted SAB 108 as of March 31, 
2007, as required. The cumulative effect adjustment, net of tax, 
related to the adoption of SAB 108 was $5.2 million, and was 
recorded to retained earnings as of April 1, 2006.

Accounting pronouncements issued but not yet adopted

SFAS 141R

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, Business 
Combinations (“SFAS 141R”), which replaces SFAS No. 141 of the 
same title (“SFAS 141”). This statement is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2008 and prohibits early adoption. 
SFAS 141R will significantly change the way the Company accounts 
for business combinations. The Company has historically pursued 
new business opportunities through acquisitions and intends to 
maintain this strategy for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, 
the Company expects the adoption of SFAS 141R to impact its 
operating results when significant acquisitions are completed and 
during the subsequent acquisition measurement periods when 
the fair values for the individual assets and liabilities acquired 
are determined. The principles contained in SFAS 141R are, in a 
number of ways, very different from those previously applied to 
business combinations. Upon adoption, the impact of SFAS 141R 
on the consolidated financial statements for future acquisitions 
may be driven by, among other things, recognizing the direct costs 
of acquisitions as period costs when incurred and recasting previ-
ously issued consolidated financial statements as the provisional 
values assigned to the assets and liabilities acquired are trued-up 
to their acquisition date fair values. The Company will adopt SFAS 
141R for its fiscal year beginning April 1, 2009.

SFAS 160

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling 
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements (“SFAS 160”), 
which amends Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, Consolidated 
Financial Statements. SFAS 160 establishes accounting and 
reporting standards that require (1) non-controlling interests held 
by non-parent parties be clearly identified and presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position within equity, sepa-
rate from the parent’s equity, and (2) the amount of consolidated 
net income attributable to the parent and to the non-controlling 
interests be clearly presented on the face of the consolidated state-
ment of income. SFAS 160 also requires consistent reporting of any 
changes to the parent’s ownership interest while retaining a con-
trolling financial interest, as well as specific guidelines over how to 
treat the deconsolidation of controlling interests and any applicable 
gains or losses. SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years, and interim 
periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 
15, 2008 and is to be applied prospectively, except for the presen-
tation and disclosure requirements of SFAS 160, which are to be 

applied retrospectively for all periods presented. The Company is 
currently assessing the impact of SFAS 160 on the consolidated 
financial statements. Although all of the Company’s subsidiaries are 
currently 100% owned subsidiaries, the retrospective presentation 
and disclosure requirements will require previous non-controlling 
interests to be presented and disclosed for prior periods in the con-
solidated financial statements under the requirements of SFAS 160. 

FSP 142-3

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 142-3, Determination 
of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets (“FSP 142-3”), which amends 
the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or 
extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a rec-
ognized intangible asset under SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”). FSP 142-3 is effective for fiscal 
years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on 
or after December 15, 2008 with early adoption prohibited. The 
Company will adopt FSP 142-3 in conjunction with SFAS 141R 
to improve consistency between the useful life of intangible assets 
under SFAS 142 and the period of expected cash flows used to 
measure fair value at acquisition under SFAS 141R. The Company 
does not expect the adoption of FSP 142-3 to have a material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

FSP 141R-1

In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 141(R)-1, Accounting 
for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a Business 
Combination That Arise from Contingencies (“FSP 141R-1”), which 
amends SFAS 141R regarding the initial recognition and measure-
ment, subsequent measurement and accounting, and disclosure of 
assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in a business com-
bination. FSP 141R-1 carries forward the general requirements of 
SFAS 141 for acquired contingencies in a business combination, yet 
encourages greater use of fair value as defined in SFAS 157 when 
determinable. FSP 141R-1 is effective for fiscal years, beginning on 
or after December 15, 2008 with early adoption prohibited. The 
Company will adopt FSP 141R-1 in conjunction with SFAS 141R 
and does not expect the adoption to have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

FSP 107-1 and APB 28-1

In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1, 
Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
(“FSP 107-1”), which requires disclosures about the fair value of 
financial instruments for interim reporting periods as well as in 
annual financial statements. Currently, these disclosures are only 
required in the Company’s consolidated annual financial state-
ments. FSP 107-1 is effective for interim reporting periods ending 
after June 15, 2009, with early adoption permitted under specified 
circumstances. The Company will adopt FSP 107-1 for the interim 
reporting period ending June 30, 2009, and does not expect the 
adoption to have a material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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EITF 08-7

In November 2008, the FASB ratified the consensus reached in 
Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 08-7, Accounting 
for Defensive Intangible Assets (“EITF 08-7”). EITF 08-7 clarifies 
how to account for acquired defensive intangible assets subsequent 
to initial measurement under SFAS 141R that an entity does not 
intend to actively use but does intend to hold to prevent others 
from obtaining access to the assets. EITF 08-7 is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2008, along with SFAS 141R. 
The Company will adopt EITF 08-7 in conjunction with SFAS 141R 
and does not expect the adoption of EITF 08-7 to have a material 
impact on its consolidated results of operations, financial position 
or cash flows.

Note 3
Acquisitions

Acquisitions have been recorded using the purchase method of 
accounting and, accordingly, results of the acquired companies’ 
operations have been included in the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements since the effective date of each respective 
acquisition. 

Fiscal 2009

During fiscal 2009, the Company purchased 14 businesses. The 
largest of these businesses, acquired on July 31, 2008, was Refron, 
Inc., a New York-based distributor of refrigerant gases with his-
torical annual sales of $93 million. With the acquisition of Refron, 
Inc., the Company formed Airgas Refrigerants, Inc. and merged 
the newly acquired operations with its existing refrigerant gas 
business. Airgas Refrigerants, Inc. is reflected in the All Other 
Operations business segment. 

Other significant acquisitions included Oilind Safety, an Arizona-
based provider of industrial safety services offering a full array 
of rental equipment, safety supplies and technical support and 
training with historical annual sales of $23 million; A&N Plant, a 
European-based supplier of positioning and welding equipment 
for sale and rent with historical annual sales of $20 million; and 
Gordon Woods Industrial Welding Supply, an industrial gas and 
welding supply distributor with ten locations in the northern Los 
Angeles area with historical annual sales of $25 million. These 
acquisitions were merged into the operations of the Distribution 
business segment.

The 14 business acquired in fiscal 2009 had aggregate historical 
annual revenues of approximately $205 million. A total of $274 
million in cash was paid for these businesses, including the settle-
ment of acquisition-related holdbacks. The Company acquired the 
businesses to expand its geographic coverage and strengthen its 
national network of branch-store locations, as well as strengthen its 
refrigerant gas, safety product offerings, and international presence.

In connection with certain acquisitions, the Company is required 
to make future payments to sellers based on future earnings of the 

acquired business in excess of predetermined amounts. Amounts 
payable under contingent payment terms continue through 2019 
and are limited to $9.9 million, the majority of which, if required, 
will be capitalized as additional costs of the acquisitions. 

Purchase Price Allocation

The Company negotiated the respective purchase prices of the 
businesses based on the expected cash flows to be derived from 
their operations after integration into the Company’s existing 
distribution network. The purchase price of each acquired busi-
ness was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
based on their estimated fair values as of the date of each respec-
tive acquisition. Certain purchase price allocations continue to be 
based on preliminary estimates of fair value and are subject to revi-
sion as the Company finalizes appraisals and other analyses.

The table below summarizes the allocation of the purchase price of 
all fiscal 2009 acquisitions by business segment, as well as adjust-
ments related to prior year acquisitions. The credit of $46 thousand 
in the All Other Operations business segment is attributable to a 
reduction of $1.43 million related to plant and equipment adjust-
ments to fiscal 2008 acquisitions, net of $1.39 million of plant and 
equipment acquired in fiscal 2009 acquisitions. Of the total good-
will in the table below, $84 million is deductible for income tax 
purposes. Additionally, approximately $85 million of the $91 mil-
lion allocated to other intangible assets represents value assigned to 
customer relationships, with the remaining $6 million representing 
non-competition agreements.

(In thousands)

Distribution 

Business 

Segment

All Other 
Operations 

Business 
Segment Total

Current assets, net $  22,611 $  72,460 $  95,071 
Property and equipment  32,380  (46)  32,334 
Goodwill  34,138  65,228  99,366 
Other intangible assets  65,344  25,662  91,006 
Current liabilities  (15,984)  (7,660)  (23,644)
Long-term liabilities  (17,159)  (3,224)  (20,383)
Total cash consideration $  121,330 $  152,420 $  273,750 

Pro Forma Operating Results

The pro forma results are prepared from financial information 
obtained from the sellers of the businesses as well as information 
obtained during the due diligence process associated with the 
acquisitions. Pro forma adjustments to the historic financial infor-
mation of the businesses acquired are limited to those related to 
the Company’s stepped-up basis in acquired assets and adjustments 
to reflect the Company’s borrowing and tax rates. The pro forma 
operating results do not include benefits associated with antici-
pated synergies related to combining the businesses or integration 
costs. 
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The following represents unaudited pro forma operating results as 
if the fiscal 2009 and 2008 acquisitions had occurred on April 1, 
2007. The pro forma operating results were prepared for compara-
tive purposes only and do not purport to be indicative of what 
would have occurred had the acquisitions been made as of April 1, 
2007 or of results that may occur in the future. 

Unaudited 
Years Ended March 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2009 2008

Net sales $  4,433,158 $  4,406,837 
Net earnings 261,725 222,442

Diluted earnings per share $  3.12 $  2.65 

Fiscal 2008

During fiscal 2008, the Company purchased 18 businesses, 
including 15 associated with the distribution of packaged gases 
and related hardgoods products. The largest of these acquisitions 
was the June 30, 2007 acquisition of most of the U.S. packaged gas 
operations (“Linde Packaged Gas”) of Linde AG (“Linde”) for $310 
million in cash. The operations acquired included 130 locations in 
18 states, with more than 1,400 employees, and generated approxi-
mately $346 million in revenues for the year ended December 31, 
2006. The Linde Packaged Gas business was merged into the opera-
tions of the Distribution business segment. A total of $162 million 
in cash was paid for the 14 other acquired packaged gas distribu-
tors and the settlement of holdback liabilities related to prior year 
acquisitions. These packaged gas distributors had aggregate histor-
ical annual revenues of approximately $150 million. The remaining 
three acquisitions were purchased for $8 million in cash and had 
combined historical annual revenues of approximately $13 million. 
These acquisitions are included in the All Other Operations busi-
ness segment. The Company acquired the 18 businesses to expand 
its geographic coverage and strengthen its national network of 
branch store locations.

Purchase Price Allocation

The aggregate cash paid for the fiscal 2008 acquisitions and the 
settlement of holdback liabilities associated with certain prior year 
acquisitions was $480 million. The Company negotiated the respec-
tive purchase prices of the businesses based on the expected cash 
flows to be derived from their operations after integration into 
the Company’s existing distribution network. The purchase price 
of each acquired business was allocated to the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as of the 
date of each respective acquisition. 

The table below summarizes the allocation of the purchase price of 
all fiscal 2008 acquisitions by business segment as well as adjust-
ments related to prior year acquisitions. Of the total goodwill in 
the table below, $93 million is deductible for income tax purposes.

Linde
Acquisitions Remaining Acquisitions

(In thousands)

Distribution 
Business 
Segment

Distribution
Business 
Segment

All Other
Operations

Business 
Segment Total

Current assets, net $  85,227 $  31,171 $  1,341 $  117,739 
Property and equipment  153,756  68,272  4,583  226,611 
Goodwill  54,714  77,909  1,584  134,207 
Other intangible assets  73,609  23,426  3,465  100,500 
Current liabilities  (47,313)  (15,490)  (2,306)  (65,109)
Long-term liabilities  (10,003)  (22,903)  (946)  (33,852)
Total cash consideration $  309,990 $  162,385 $  7,721 $  480,096 

Pursuant to the Company’s plan to integrate the Linde Packaged 
Gas business into its regional company structure, the Company 
recorded accruals primarily associated with one-time severance 
benefits to acquired employees who were involuntarily terminated, 
facility exit related costs associated with exiting certain acquired 
facilities that overlap with the Company’s existing operations and 
a multi-employer pension plan withdrawal liability associated 
with exiting certain union contracts. Payments related to these 
severance accruals will continue into early fiscal 2010. Of the $3.6 
million remaining facility exit accrual, $2.9 million relates to the 
former Linde corporate headquarters. Other integration accruals 
of $4.6 million consist primarily of the multi-employer pension 
accrual, which is expected to be paid during fiscal 2010 and 2011. 

The table below summarizes the liabilities established through 
acquisition accounting, adjustments to these liabilities based on 
revisions to the Company’s integration plan and the related pay-
ments made during fiscal 2008 and 2009. 

(In thousands)
Severance

Accruals

Facility 
Exit

Accruals

Other 
Integration

Accruals

Total 
Integration

Accruals

Amounts originally included 
in acquisition accounting $  5,265 $  5,700 $ — $  10,965 

Payments  (2,781)  (873)  (962)  (4,616)
Adjustments  892  369  6,213  7,474 
Balance at March 31, 2008  3,376  5,196  5,251  13,823 
Payments  (2,577)  (1,637)  (839)  (5,053)
Adjustments  (640)  19  221  (400)
Balance at March 31, 2009 $ 159 $  3,578 $  4,633 $  8,370 

Pro Forma Operating Results

The following represents unaudited pro forma operating results as 
if the fiscal 2008 and 2007 acquisitions had occurred on April 1, 
2006. The pro forma operating results were prepared for compara-
tive purposes only and do not purport to be indicative of what 
would have occurred had the acquisitions been made as of April 1, 
2006 or of results that may occur in the future. 
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Unaudited
Years Ended March 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2008 2007

Net sales $  4,205,464 $  3,950,425 
Net earnings  224,303  160,283 

Diluted earnings per share $  2.67 $  1.99

Fiscal 2007

During fiscal 2007, the Company purchased 13 businesses. The 
largest of the acquisitions was the U.S. bulk gas business of Linde 
(“Linde Bulk Gas”), purchased March 9, 2007. The acquisition 
included eight air separation units and related bulk gas business 
with about 300 employees and approximate historical annual rev-
enues of $176 million, net of sales to the Company. The acquired 
business was renamed “Airgas Merchant Gases” and now manages 
production, distribution and administrative functions for the air 
separation plants. In connection with the transaction, most of the 
acquired bulk gas customers and related service equipment were 
transferred to existing Distribution business units. Airgas Merchant 
Gases is reported in the Distribution business segment and oper-
ates principally as an internal supplier to the other business units 
within the Distribution business segment. Included in the All 
Other Operations business segment is the refrigerant products and 
services business acquired from CFC Refimax, LLC, with historical 
annual revenues of approximately $25 million. The acquisition 
was integrated into the operations of Airgas Specialty Products 
and later transferred to the newly formed Airgas Refrigerants. The 
remaining fiscal 2007 acquisitions, with historical annual revenues 
of approximately $142 million, were assumed by regional operating 
companies in the Distribution business segment. The Company 
acquired the businesses to expand its geographic coverage and 
strengthen its national network of branch store locations.

Purchase Price Allocation

The aggregate cash paid for the fiscal 2007 acquisitions and the 
settlement of holdback liabilities associated with certain prior year 
acquisitions was $688 million. The Company negotiated the respec-
tive purchase prices of the businesses based on the expected cash 
flows to be derived from their operations after integration into 
the Company. The purchase price of each acquired business was 
allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on 
their estimated fair values as of the dates of each respective acqui-
sition. The purchase price allocations were based on preliminary 
estimates of fair value and were subject to revision as the Company 
finalized appraisals and other analyses. Goodwill associated with 
the fiscal 2007 acquisitions is deductible for income tax purposes. 
The table below summarizes the allocation of purchase price of all 
fiscal 2007 acquisitions as well as adjustments related to prior year 
acquisitions. Transaction costs of approximately $5 million associ-
ated with the Linde Bulk Gas acquisition are reflected in current 
liabilities below.

Linde 
Acquisition Remaining Acquisitions

(In thousands)

Distribution
Business 
Segment

Distribution
Business 
Segment

All Other
Operations

Business 
Segment Total

Current assets, net $  26,924 $  25,839 $  10,600 $  63,363 
Property and equipment  302,388  66,248  1,977  370,613 
Goodwill  166,920  73,784  19,890  260,594 
Other intangible assets  16,700  21,842  6,000  44,542 
Current liabilities  (16,254)  (19,484)  (3,555)  (39,293)
Long-term liabilities  (1,868)  (7,978)  (2,081)  (11,927)
Total cash consideration $  494,810 $  160,251 $  32,831 $  687,892

Note 4
Trade Receivables Securitization

The Company participates in a securitization agreement (the 
“Agreement”) with three commercial banks to which it sells 
qualifying trade receivables on a revolving basis. The maximum 
amount of the facility is $345 million ($360 million at March 31, 
2008). The size of the facility was reduced from $360 million to 
$345 million in March 2009, due to the elimination of a $15 mil-
lion subordinated funding tranche, which was previously part of 
the facility. The Agreement expires in March 2010. The Company 
expects continued availability under the Agreement until it expires 
in March 2010 and under similar agreements thereafter. Given the 
contraction of the securitized asset market in the current credit 
environment, the Company is evaluating the current arrangement 
with the banks and will evaluate this and other financing alterna-
tives in fiscal 2010. Based on the characteristics of its receivable 
pool, the Company believes that trade receivable securitization 
will continue to be an attractive source of funds. In the event 
such source of funding was unavailable or reduced, the Company 
believes that it would be able to secure an alternative source of 
funds. During the year ended March 31, 2009, the Company sold 
approximately $4.0 billion of trade receivables and remitted to 
bank conduits, pursuant to a servicing agreement, approximately 
$4.0 billion in collections on those receivables. The amount of 
receivables sold under the Agreement was $311 million at March 
31, 2009 and $360 million at March 31, 2008. The Agreement con-
tains customary events of termination, including standard cross 
default provisions with respect to outstanding debt.

The transaction has been accounted for as a sale under the pro-
visions of SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing 
of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. Under the 
Agreement, trade receivables are sold to bank conduits through a 
bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity, which is consolidated 
for financial reporting purposes. The difference between the pro-
ceeds from the sale and the carrying value of the receivables is 
recognized as “Discount on securitization of trade receivables” in 
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings and varies 
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on a monthly basis depending on the amount of receivables sold 
and market rates. The Company retains a subordinated interest in 
the receivables sold, which is recorded at the receivables’ previous 
carrying value. Accordingly, the Company is exposed to credit 
risk associated with its retained interest in the receivables. The 
Company is not exposed to interest rate risk due to the short-term 
nature of the receivables and their general collectibility. 

Subordinated retained interests of approximately $148 million, 
net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $26.4 million, and 
$164 million, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $21.9 
million, are included in trade receivables in the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2009 and 2008, respec-
tively. At March 31, 2009 and 2008, approximately 6.4% and 9.2%, 
respectively, of the accounts included in the retained interest were 
delinquent, as defined under the Agreement. Credit losses for the 
years ended March 31, 2009 and 2008 were $22 million and $14 
million, respectively. On a monthly basis, management calculates 
the fair value of the retained interest based on management’s best 
estimate of the undiscounted expected future cash collections 
on the receivables. Changes in the fair value are recognized as 
bad debt expense. Actual cash collections may differ from these 
estimates and would directly affect the fair value of the retained 
interest. In accordance with the servicing agreement, the Company 
continues to service, administer and collect the trade receivables on 
behalf of the bank conduits. The servicing fees charged to the bank 
conduits approximate the costs of collections. Accordingly, the net 
servicing asset is immaterial. The Company does not provide any 
financial guarantees of the bank conduits’ obligations.

Note 5
Inventories, Net

Inventories, net, consist of:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2009 2008

Hardgoods $  249,125 $  275,611 
Gases 141,320 55,121 

$  390,445 $  330,732 

Hardgoods inventories determined using the LIFO inventory 
method totaled $46 million at March 31, 2009 and $50 million at 
March 31, 2008. The balance of the hardgoods inventories is valued 
using the FIFO and average-cost inventory methods. If the hard-
goods inventories valued under the LIFO method had been valued 
using the FIFO method, the carrying value of hardgoods inven-
tories would have been $10.4 million higher at March 31, 2009 
and $8.5 million higher at March 31, 2008. Substantially all of the 
inventories are finished goods. The increase in gas inventories was 
primarily due to the acquisition of Refron, Inc. (see Note 3).

Note 6
Income Taxes

Earnings before income taxes and minority interest were derived 
from the following sources:

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2009 2008 2007

United States $  419,377 $  358,381 $  246,699 
Foreign  9,976  12,381  10,445 

$  429,353 $  370,762 $  257,144 

Income tax expense consists of: 

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2009 2008 2007

Current:
 Federal $  52,562 $  60,221 $  41,760 
 Foreign  2,658  3,718  2,725 
  State  9,765  5,520  3,487 

 64,985  69,459  47,972 

Deferred:
 Federal  87,751  62,351  46,440 
 Foreign  562  484  491 
 State  14,967  11,890  4,980 

 103,280  74,725  51,911 
$  168,265 $  144,184 $  99,883 
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Significant differences between taxes computed at the federal statu-
tory rate and the provision for income taxes were:

Years Ended March 31, 2009 2008 2007

Taxes at U.S. federal  
statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Increase (decrease) in income 
taxes resulting from:

State income taxes,  
net of federal benefit 3.6% 3.3% 2.9%

Stock-based compensation 
expense 0.3% 0.3% 0.5%

Change in state tax law 0.1% (0.3%) (0.8%)
Other, net 0.2% 0.6% 1.2%

39.2% 38.9% 38.8%

The tax effects of cumulative temporary differences and carryfor-
wards that gave rise to the significant portions of the deferred tax 
assets and liabilities were as follows: 

(In thousands) 
March 31, 2009 2008

Deferred Tax Assets:
 Inventories $  17,190 $  10,881 
 Accounts receivable  368  (1,379)
 Deferred rental income  17,198  14,480 
 Insurance reserves  14,087  9,864 
 Litigation settlement and other reserves  1,721  1,634 
 Asset retirement obligations  3,766  3,513 
 Stock-based compensation  13,555  8,801 
 Other  15,707  16,011 
 Net operating loss carryforwards  20,240  20,424 
 Valuation allowance  (6,211)  (5,098)

 97,621  79,131 

Deferred Tax Liabilities:
 Plant and equipment  (517,225)  (414,961)
 Intangible assets  (94,123)  (66,211)
 Other  (17,296)  (15,483)

 (628,644)  (496,655)
Net deferred tax liability $  (531,023) $  (417,524)

Current deferred tax assets and current deferred tax liabilities 
have been netted for presentation purposes. Non-current deferred 
tax assets and non-current deferred tax liabilities have also been 
netted. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected in the 
Company’s consolidated balance sheets as follows:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2009 2008

Current deferred tax asset, net $  34,760 $  22,258 
Non-current deferred tax liability, net  (565,783)  (439,782)
Net deferred tax liability $  (531,023) $  (417,524)

The Company has recorded tax benefits amounting to $11.8 mil-
lion, $13.3 million and $9.0 million in the years ended March 31, 
2009, 2008 and 2007 respectively, resulting from the exercise of 
stock options. This benefit has been recorded in capital in excess of 
par value.

The Company has recorded deferred tax assets related to the 
expected future tax benefits of net operating losses of $20.2 million 
and $20.4 million as of March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. All 
federal loss carryforwards recorded in fiscal 2005 and 2006 were 
utilized in fiscal 2007. State loss carryforwards expire at various 
times through 2029.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management 
considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or 
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate real-
ization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of 
future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary 
differences and carryforward deferred tax assets become deduct-
ible or utilized. Management considers the reversal of deferred 
tax liabilities and projected future taxable income in making this 
assessment.

Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections 
for future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred 
tax assets reverse, at March 31, 2009, management believes it is 
more likely than not that the Company will realize the benefits of 
these deductible differences, net of the existing valuation allow-
ances. Valuation allowances primarily relate to certain state net 
operating loss carryforwards. In fiscal 2009, the Company revised 
its estimates of the realizability of certain tax benefits associated 
with state net operating loss carryforwards. Those revisions, along 
with changes due to the realization and expiration of net operating 
loss carryforwards, resulted in a $1.1 million increase in the related 
valuation allowance at March 31, 2009.

U.S. income taxes have not been provided on approximately $57 
million of undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries because 
it is the Company’s intention to continue to reinvest these earnings 
in those subsidiaries to support their growth. Due to the timing 
and circumstances of repatriation of such earnings, if any, it is not 
practicable to determine the unrecognized deferred tax liability 
relating to such amounts.

Effective April 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation 
(“FIN”) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN 
48”), which provides guidance on how a company should recog-
nize, measure and disclose in its financial statements uncertain 
income tax positions that a company has taken or expects to take 
on a tax return. Unrecognized tax benefits represent income tax 
positions taken on income tax returns that have not been recog-
nized in the consolidated financial statements. The adoption of 
FIN 48 in fiscal 2008 resulted in the Company recording a $290 
thousand incremental liability for unrecognized tax benefits and a 
corresponding reduction in retained earnings.

As of March 31, 2009, the Company has unrecognized tax ben-
efits of approximately $12 million, which have been recorded as a 
non-current liability, and a related $4 million tax asset recorded 
in other non-current assets. If recognized, all of the unrecognized 
tax benefits and related interest and penalties would reduce tax 
expense. The Company does not anticipate significant changes in 
the amount of unrecognized income tax benefits over the next year.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrec-
ognized income tax benefits, excluding potential interest and 
penalties associated with uncertain tax positions, is as follows:

(In thousands)

Unrecognized income tax benefits as of April 1, 2008 $  6,963 
Additions for tax positions of prior years  518 
Additions for current year tax positions  1,196 
Reductions for settlements with taxing authorities  (175)
Reductions as a result of expiration of applicable statutes of limitations  (93)
Unrecognized income tax benefits as of March 31, 2009 $  8,409 

Interest and penalties of $800 thousand were recognized for the 
year ended March 31, 2009 and were classified as income tax 
expense in the consolidated financial statements. Consistent with 
past practice, the Company will continue to record interest and 
penalties associated with uncertain tax positions in income tax 
expense.

The Company files income tax returns in the United States and 
various foreign jurisdictions. The Company also files income tax 
returns in every state which imposes a corporate income tax. The 
Company is not under examination by the IRS or in any significant 
foreign, state and local tax jurisdictions. With limited exceptions, 
the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local or 
foreign income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 
fiscal 2006.

Note 7 
Plant and Equipment

The major classes of plant and equipment, at cost, are as follows: 

(In thousands)
March 31,

Depreciable 

Lives (Yrs) 2009 2008

Land and land 
improvements — $  145,412 $  118,019 

Buildings and leasehold 
improvements 25  344,360  306,308 

Cylinders 30  1,251,919  1,218,959 
Bulk tank stations 10 to 30 (Average 19)  448,764  402,352 
Rental equipment 3 to 10  222,302  199,794 
Machinery and equipment 7 to 10  665,966  593,758 
Computers, furniture  

and fixtures 3 to 10  152,059  146,387 
Transportation equipment 3 to 15  230,435  200,892 
Construction in progress —  97,513  46,204 

$  3,558,730 $  3,232,673

Note 8
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is the excess of cost of an acquired entity over the 
amounts assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a 
purchase business combination. The valuations of goodwill and 
other intangible assets from recent acquisitions are based on pre-
liminary estimates of fair value and are subject to revision as the 
Company finalizes appraisals and other analyses. As discussed 
in Note 1 and Note 23, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, the 
Company realigned its business segments. The fiscal 2008 and 2007 
disclosures by business segment below were restated to reflect the 
realignment. Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for fiscal 
2009 and 2008 were as follows:

(In thousands)

Distribution
Business 
Segment

All Other 
Operations

Business 
Segment Total

Balance at March 31, 2007 $  714,600 $  117,562 $  832,162 
 Acquisitions 132,623 1,584 134,207 
 Other adjustments 2,539 151 2,690 
Balance at March 31, 2008  849,762  119,297  969,059 
 Acquisitions  34,138  65,228  99,366 
 Other adjustments  (4,818)  (237)  (5,055)
Balance at March 31, 2009 $  879,082 $  184,288 $  1,063,370 

Test for Goodwill Impairment

SFAS 142 requires the Company to perform an assessment of the 
carrying value of goodwill associated with each of its reporting 
units at least annually and whenever events or circumstances indi-
cate that it is more likely than not that goodwill may be impaired. 
The Company has elected to perform its annual assessment of 
the carrying value of goodwill as of October 31 of each year. As 
of October 31, 2008, the Company had 17 reporting units in the 
Distribution business segment and six reporting units in the All 
Other Operations business segment. The Company determined 
the estimated fair value of each of its reporting units as of October 
31, 2008 using a discounted cash flow model and compared those 
values to the carrying value of each of the respective reporting 
units. Significant assumptions used in the cash flow model include 
revenue growth rates, profit margins, future capital expenditures, 
working capital needs, discount rates and perpetual growth rates. 
At October 31, 2008, the discount rates used in the model were 
10% for the Distribution reporting units and 12% for the smaller 
reporting units in the All Other Operations business segment. The 
perpetual growth rate assumed in the discounted cash flow model 
was consistent with the long-term rate of growth as measured by 
the U.S. Gross Domestic Product. The annual assessment of the 
carrying value of goodwill at October 31, 2008 indicated that the 
Company’s carrying value of goodwill was not impaired. 

In order to evaluate the sensitivity of the fair value calculations on 
the goodwill impairment test, the Company applied a hypothetical 
10% decrease to the fair value of each reporting unit. In most 
cases, the estimated fair value of the reporting units exceeded 
the carrying value of the reporting units by a substantial amount. 
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However, this hypothetical 10% decrease in fair value would 
have triggered the need to perform additional step 2 analyses for 
three of the Company’s reporting units. The amount of goodwill 
associated with these reporting units was $253 million at October 
31, 2008.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets that are not fully amortized amounted 
to $216 million and $149 million, net of accumulated amortiza-
tion of $39 million and $28 million at March 31, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. These intangible assets primarily consist of customer 
relationships, which are amortized over the estimated benefit 
periods which range from 7 to 17 years, and non-competition 
agreements, which are amortized over the term of the agreements. 
The determination of the estimated benefit period associated 
with customer relationships is based on the analysis of historical 
customer sales attrition information and other customer-related 
factors at the date of acquisition. There are no expected residual 
values related to these intangible assets. The Company evaluates 
the estimated benefit periods and recoverability of its intangible 
assets that are subject to amortization when facts and circum-
stances indicate that the lives may not be appropriate and/or the 
carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. If the carrying 
value is not recoverable, impairment is measured as the amount 
by which the carrying value exceeds its estimated fair value. Fair 
value is generally estimated based on either appraised value or 
other valuation techniques. Intangible assets also include trade 
names with indefinite useful lives valued at $1.3 million. Estimated 
future amortization expense by fiscal year is as follows: 2010 – $24.0 
million; 2011 – $23.4 million; 2012 – $22.1 million; 2013 – $21.3 
million; 2014 – $19.0 million; and $105.0 million thereafter.

Note 9
Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities include:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2009 2008

Accrued payroll and employee benefits $  80,630 $  86,490 
Business insurance reserves  44,986  37,433 
Taxes other than income taxes  17,098  22,628 
Cash overdraft  42,933  56,739 
Deferred rental revenue  25,611  22,641 
Other accrued expenses and current liabilities  53,306  62,952 

$  264,564 $  288,883

With respect to the business insurance reserves above, the 
Company had corresponding insurance receivables of $9.7 million 
at March 31, 2009 and $8.0 million at March 31, 2008. The insur-
ance receivables represent the balance of probable claim losses 
in excess of the Company’s self-insured retention for which the 
Company is fully insured. 

Note 10 
Indebtedness 

Long-term debt consists of:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2009 2008

Revolving credit borrowings — U.S. $  751,200 $  859,500 
Revolving credit borrowings — Multi-currency  23,712 —
Revolving credit borrowings — Canadian  14,660  23,791 
Term loans  397,500  487,500 
Money market loan —  30,000 
Senior subordinated notes  550,000  150,000 
Acquisition notes and other  24,294  29,257 
Total long-term debt  1,761,366  1,580,048 
Less current portion of long-term debt  (11,058)  (40,400)
Long-term debt, excluding current portion $  1,750,308 $  1,539,648

Senior Credit Facility 

The Company maintains a senior credit facility (the “Credit 
Facility”) with a syndicate of lenders. In July 2008, the Company 
amended its Credit Facility to, among other things, create a multi-
currency borrowing facility. Under this multi-currency revolver, 
the Company and certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries 
may borrow any foreign currency that is readily available and freely 
transferable and convertible into U.S. dollars, including Euros, 
pounds sterling and Mexican pesos. The Company may borrow 
up to $75 million (U.S. dollar equivalent) in U.S. dollars or any 
permitted foreign currency or multiple currencies in the aggre-
gate. To accommodate the size of the multi-currency revolver, the 
Company’s U.S. dollar revolving credit line was reduced by $75 
million so that the total size of the Company’s Credit Facility was 
not changed.
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At March 31, 2009, the Credit Facility permitted the Company to 
borrow up to $991 million under a U.S. dollar revolving credit line, 
up to $75 million (U.S. dollar equivalent) under the multi-currency 
revolving credit line, and up to C$40 million (U.S. $32 million) 
under a Canadian dollar revolving credit line. The Credit Facility 
also contains a term loan provision through which the Company 
borrowed $600 million with scheduled repayment terms. The 
term loans are repayable in quarterly installments of $22.5 million 
through June 30, 2010. The quarterly installments then increase to 
$71.2 million from September 30, 2010 to June 30, 2011. Principal 
payments due over the next twelve months on the term loans are 
classified as “Long-term debt” in the Company’s Consolidated 
Balance Sheets based on the Company’s ability and intention to refi-
nance the payments with borrowings under its long-term revolving 
credit facilities. As principal amounts under the term loans are 
repaid, no additional borrowing capacity is created under the term 
loan provision. The Credit Facility will mature on July 25, 2011. 

As of March 31, 2009, the Company had approximately $1.2 bil-
lion of borrowings under the Credit Facility: $751 million under 
the U.S. dollar revolver, $24 million (in U.S. dollars) under the 
multi-currency revolver, C$18 million (U.S. $15 million) under the 
Canadian dollar revolver and $398 million under the term loans. 
The Company also had outstanding letters of credit of $42 mil-
lion issued under the Credit Facility. The U.S. dollar borrowings 
and the term loans bear interest at the London Interbank Offered 
Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 62.5 basis points. The multi-currency revolver 
bears interest based on a spread of 62.5 basis points over the Euro 
currency rate applicable to each foreign currency borrowing. The 
Canadian dollar borrowings bear interest at the Canadian Bankers’ 
Acceptance Rate plus 62.5 basis points. As of March 31, 2009, 
the average effective interest rates on the U.S. dollar revolver, the 
term loans, the multi-currency revolver and the Canadian dollar 
revolver were 1.24%, 1.85%, 2.05% and 1.49%, respectively. 

As of March 31, 2009, approximately $266 million remained 
unused under the Company’s Credit Facility. The Company’s 
margins of compliance with the financial covenants of the Credit 
Facility result in no restrictions on the Company’s ability to borrow 
on the unused portion of the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility 
contains customary events of default, including nonpayment and 
breach covenants. In the event of default, repayment of borrowings 
under the Credit Facility may be accelerated. 

The Company’s domestic subsidiaries, exclusive of the bankruptcy-
remote special purpose entity (the “domestic subsidiaries”), 
guarantee the U.S. dollar revolver, multi-currency revolver, 
Canadian dollar revolver and term loans. The multi-currency 
revolver and Canadian dollar revolver are also guaranteed by the 
Company and the Company’s foreign subsidiaries. The guarantees 
are full and unconditional and are made on a joint and several 
basis. The Company has pledged 100% of the stock of its domestic 
subsidiaries and 65% of the stock of its foreign subsidiaries as 
surety for its obligations under the Credit Facility. The Credit 

Facility provides for the release of the guarantees and collateral 
if the Company attains an investment grade credit rating and a 
similar release on certain other debt.

Money Market Loans

The Company has an agreement with a financial institution that 
provides access to short-term advances not to exceed $30 million 
for a maximum term of three months. The agreement expires on 
June 30, 2009, but may be extended subject to renewal provisions 
contained in the agreement. The amount, term and interest rate 
of an advance are established through mutual agreement with the 
financial institution when the Company requests such an advance. 
At March 31, 2009, the Company had no outstanding advances 
under the agreement. 

The Company also has an agreement with another financial insti-
tution that provides access to short-term advances not to exceed 
$35 million. The agreement expires on December 1, 2009, but may 
be extended subject to renewal provisions contained in the agree-
ment. The advances are generally overnight or for up to seven days. 
The amount, term and interest rate of an advance are established 
through mutual agreement with the financial institution when the 
Company requests such an advance. At March 31, 2009, there were 
no advances outstanding under the agreement.

Senior Subordinated Notes

At March 31, 2009, the Company had $150 million of senior subor-
dinated notes (the “2004 Notes”) outstanding with a maturity date 
of July 15, 2014. The 2004 Notes bear interest at a fixed annual rate 
of 6.25%, payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15 of each 
year. The 2004 Notes have a redemption provision, which permits 
the Company, at its option, to call the 2004 Notes at scheduled 
dates and prices. The first scheduled optional redemption date is 
July 15, 2009 at a price of 103.125% of the principal amount. 

On June 5, 2008, the Company issued $400 million of senior sub-
ordinated notes (the “2008 Notes”) at par with a maturity date of 
October 1, 2018. The net proceeds from the sale of the 2008 Notes 
were used to reduce borrowings under the Company’s revolving 
credit line under the Credit Facility. The 2008 Notes bear interest 
at a fixed annual rate of 7.125%, payable semi-annually on October 
1 and April 1 of each year, commencing October 1, 2008. The 2008 
Notes have a redemption provision, which permits the Company, 
at its option, to call the 2008 Notes at scheduled dates and prices. 
The first scheduled optional redemption date is October 1, 2013 at 
a price of 103.563% of the principal amount. 

The 2004 and 2008 Notes contain covenants that could restrict 
the payment of dividends, the repurchase of common stock, the 
issuance of preferred stock, and the incurrence of additional 
indebtedness and liens. The 2004 and 2008 Notes are fully and 
unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally, on a subordinated 
basis, by each of the 100% owned domestic guarantors under the 
Credit Facility. 
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Acquisition Notes and Other

The Company’s long-term debt also included acquisition and other 
notes, principally consisting of notes issued to sellers of businesses 
acquired, which are repayable in periodic installments. At March 
31, 2009, acquisition and other notes totaled $24 million with an 
average interest rate of approximately 6% and an average maturity 
of approximately two years. 

Loss on Debt Extinguishment

On October 27, 2006, the Company redeemed its $225 million 
9.125% senior subordinated notes in full at a premium of 104.563% 
of the principal amount with proceeds from the Company’s Credit 
Facility. In conjunction with the redemption of the notes, the 
Company recognized a charge on the early extinguishment of debt 
of approximately $12.1 million ($7.9 million after tax) in October 
2006. The charge relates to the redemption premium and the write-
off of unamortized debt issuance costs.

Aggregate Long-term Debt Maturities

The aggregate maturities of long-term debt at March 31, 2009 are 
as follows:

(In thousands)
Years Ending March 31,(1)

Debt 
Maturities

2010 $  11,058 
2011  244,212 
2012  954,126 
2013  719 
2014  511 
Thereafter  550,740 

$  1,761,366 

(1)  The Company has the ability and intention of refinancing current maturities related to 
the term loans under its Credit Facility with its long-term revolving credit line. Therefore, 
principal payments due in fiscal 2010 on the term loans have been reflected as long-term in 
the aggregate maturity schedule.

Note 11 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company manages its exposure to changes in market interest 
rates. The Company’s involvement with derivative instruments is 
limited to highly effective fixed interest rate swap agreements used 
to manage well-defined interest rate risk exposures. The Company 
monitors its positions and credit ratings of its counterparties 
and does not anticipate non-performance by the counterparties. 
Interest rate swap agreements are not entered into for trading 
purposes. 

SFAS 133 requires companies to recognize certain derivative 
instruments as either assets or liabilities at fair value in the state-
ment of financial position. In accordance with SFAS 133, the 
Company designates fixed interest rate swap agreements as cash 
flow hedges of interest payments on variable-rate debt associated 
with the Company’s Credit Facility. For derivative instruments 
designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or 

loss on the derivative is reported as a component of accumulated 
other comprehensive income (AOCI) and reclassified into earnings 
in the same period or periods during which the hedge transaction 
affects earnings. Gains and losses on the derivative representing 
hedge ineffectiveness are recognized in current earnings. 

During fiscal 2009, the Company entered into three fixed interest 
rate swap agreements for a notional amount of $125 million, and 
four fixed interest rate swap agreements with a notional amount 
of $100 million matured. At March 31, 2009, the Company had 18 
fixed interest rate swap agreements outstanding with a notional 
amount of $627 million. These swaps effectively convert $627 mil-
lion of variable interest rate debt associated with the Company’s 
Credit Facility to fixed rate debt. At March 31, 2009, these swap 
agreements required the Company to make fixed interest pay-
ments based on a weighted average effective rate of 4.21% and 
receive variable interest payments from the counterparties based 
on a weighted average variable rate of 1.70%. The remaining terms 
of these swap agreements range from 1 to 21 months. For the 
year ended March 31, 2009, the fair value of the liability for the 
fixed interest rate swap agreements decreased and the Company 
recorded a corresponding adjustment to “Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Loss” of $8.3 million, or $5.4 million after tax. 
For the year ended March 31, 2008, the fair value of the liability 
for the fixed interest rate swap agreements increased and the 
Company recorded a corresponding adjustment to “Accumulated 
Other Comprehensive Loss” of $21.0 million, or $13.6 million after 
tax. For the year ended March 31, 2007, the fair value of the net 
asset for the fixed interest rate swap agreements decreased and the 
Company recorded a corresponding adjustment to “Accumulated 
Other Comprehensive Income” of $0.9 million, or $0.6 million 
after tax.

As denoted in the tables below, the Company’s interest rate swap 
agreements were reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets 
at March 31, 2009 and March 31, 2008 as liabilities at their fair 
values of $12.5 million and $20.8 million, respectively, with cor-
responding deferred tax assets of $4.4 million and $7.3 million 
and accumulated other comprehensive losses after tax of $8.1 mil-
lion and $13.5 million, respectively. The estimated net amount of 
existing losses recorded in Accumulated Other Comprehensive 
Loss at March 31, 2009 that is expected to be reclassified into earn-
ings within the next twelve months is $6.5 million, net of estimated 
tax benefits of $3.5 million. 

Fair Value of Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments

March 31, 2009 March 31, 2008

(In thousands)
Balance Sheet 
Location Fair Value

Balance Sheet 
Location Fair Value

Interest rate swaps
Other non-current 
liabilities $ 12,525 

Other non-current 
liabilities $ 20,849
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The carrying value of cash, trade receivables exclusive of the subor-
dinated retained interest, other current receivables, trade payables 
and other current liabilities (e.g., deposit liabilities, cash overdrafts, 
etc.) approximate fair value and such items have not been impacted 
by the adoption of SFAS 157. 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
at March 31, 2009 are categorized in the table below based on the 
lowest level of significant input to the valuation.

(In thousands)
Carrying value at 

March 31, 2009

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets
Level 1 

Significant
other 

observable 
inputs

Level 2

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
Level 3

Assets:
Subordinated retained 

interest in trade 
receivables sold under 
the Company’s trade 
receivable securitization $  147,853 $ — $ — $  147,853 

Deferred compensation 
plan assets  4,598  4,598 — —

Total assets measured at 
fair value on a recurring 
basis $  152,451 $  4,598 $ — $  147,853 

Liabilities:
Deferred compensation 

plan liabilities $  4,598 $  4,598 $ — $ —
Derivative liabilities —  

interest rate swap 
agreements  12,525 —  12,525 —

Total liabilities measured 
at fair value on a 
recurring basis $  17,123 $  4,598 $  12,525 $ —

The following is a general description of the valuation methodolo-
gies used for financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value:

Subordinated retained interest

The Company’s subordinated retained interest in trade receivables 
sold under its trade receivable securitization agreement is classi-
fied as “Trade receivables” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The 
Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts of $26.4 
million and $21.9 million at March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, 
related to the subordinated retained interests to adjust the carrying 
value to fair value. The fair value of the subordinated retained 
interest reflects management’s best estimate of the undiscounted 
expected future cash flows adjusted for unobservable inputs (Level 
3), which management believes a market participant would use to 
assess the risk of credit losses. Those inputs reflect the diversified 
customer base, the short-term nature of the securitized asset, aging 
trends and historical collections experience. Adjustments to the 
fair value of the Company’s retained interest are recorded through 
the Consolidated Statement of Earnings as bad debt expense. The 
Company believes that the fair value of the subordinated retained 
interest in trade receivables reflects the amount expected to be real-
ized when the receivables are ultimately settled.

Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Statements 

of Earnings

(In thousands)

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging 
Relationships

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in  
OCI on Derivatives

Years Ended March 31,

2009 2008 2007

Interest rate swaps $ 8,325 $ (20,956) $ (850)
Tax (expense) benefit (2,914)  7,322  280
Net effect $ 5,411 $ (13,634) $ (570)

Location of Gain (Loss) Reclassified from 
AOCI into Income for Derivatives in Cash 
Flow Hedging Relationships

Amount of Gain (Loss) Reclassified  
from AOCI into Income

Years Ended March 31,

2009 2008 2007

Interest expense, net $ (13,130) $  63 $ 1,375 
Income taxes  4,596 (22) (481)
Net effect $ (8,534) $ 41 $  894 

The amount of gain or loss recognized in current earnings as a 
result of hedge ineffectiveness is immaterial for the years ended 
March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

Note 12 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

Effective April 1, 2008, the Company adopted SFAS 157. SFAS 
157 does not require any new fair value measurements, but rather 
replaces multiple existing definitions of fair value with a single 
definition, establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair 
value and expands financial statement disclosures regarding fair 
value measurements. 

SFAS 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transac-
tion between market participants at the measurement date. Assets 
and liabilities recorded at fair value in accordance with SFAS 157 
are classified based upon the level of judgment associated with 
the inputs used to measure their fair value. The hierarchical levels 
related to the subjectivity of the valuation inputs are defined by 
SFAS 157 as follows:

•	 Level	1	inputs	are	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

•	 Level	2	inputs	are	inputs,	other	than	quoted	prices	included	
within Level 1, that are observable, directly or indirectly  
through corroboration with observable market data at the 
measurement date.

•	 Level	3	inputs	are	unobservable	inputs	that	reflect	management’s	
best estimate of the assumptions (including assumptions about 
risk) that market participants would use in pricing the asset or 
liability at the measurement date. 
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Deferred compensation plan assets and corresponding liabilities

The Company’s deferred compensation plan assets consist of 
exchange traded open-ended mutual funds with quoted prices in 
active markets (Level 1). The Company’s deferred compensation 
plan liabilities are equal to the plan’s assets. Gains or losses on the 
deferred compensation plan assets are recognized as other income 
(expense), net, while gains or losses on the deferred compensa-
tion plan liabilities are recognized as compensation expense in the 
Consolidated Statement of Earnings. 

Derivative liabilities — interest rate swap agreements

The Company’s interest rate swap agreements are with highly rated 
counterparties and effectively convert variable rate debt to fixed rate 
debt. The swap agreements are valued using pricing models that 
rely on observable market inputs such as interest rate yield curves 
and treasury spreads (Level 2). Changes to the fair value measure-
ment of the Company’s interest rate swap agreements are reported 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet through “Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Loss.”

The following table presents the changes in financial assets for 
which Level 3 inputs were significant to their valuation for the year 
ended March 31, 2009: 

(In thousands)
Subordinated 

retained interest

Balance at April 1, 2008 $  163,561 
Net realized losses included in earnings (bad debt expense)  (22,026)
Additional retained interest, net  6,318 
Balance at March 31, 2009 $  147,853 

The carrying value of debt generally reflects the cash proceeds 
received upon its issuance, net of subsequent repayments. The 
fair value of the Company’s variable interest rate revolving 
credit borrowings and term loans disclosed in the table below 
were estimated based on observable forward yield curves and 
unobservable credit spreads management believes a market 
participant would assume for these facilities under market 
conditions as of the balance sheet date. The fair value of the fixed 
rate notes disclosed below were determined based on quoted 
prices from the broker/dealer market, observable market inputs 
for similarly termed treasury notes adjusted for the Company’s 
credit spread and unobservable inputs management believes a 
market participant would use in determining imputed interest for 
obligations without a stated interest rate. 

(In thousands)
Carrying Value at 

March 31, 2009
Fair Value at

March 31, 2009
Carrying Value at 

March 31, 2008
Fair Value at

March 31, 2008

Revolving credit 
borrowings $  789,572 $  757,989 $  883,291 $  883,291 

Term loans  397,500  381,600  487,500  487,500 
Money market loans  —  —  30,000  30,000 
2004 Notes  150,000  139,500  150,000  148,125 
2008 Notes  400,000  378,000  —  — 
Acquisition and  

other notes  24,294  24,294  29,257  29,662 
Total debt $ 1,761,366 $ 1,681,383 $ 1,580,048 $ 1,578,578 

Note 13 
National Welders Exchange Transaction

Since the December 2003 adoption of FIN 46R, Consolidation of 
Variable Interest Entities, the Company’s National Welders joint 
venture was consolidated with the operations of the Company. 
As a consolidated entity, the assets and liabilities of the joint ven-
ture were included with the Company’s assets and liabilities and 
the preferred stockholders’ interest in those assets and liabilities 
was reflected as “Minority interest in affiliate” on the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Likewise, the operating results of 
the joint venture were reflected broadly across the Consolidated 
Statement of Earnings with the preferred stockholders’ propor-
tionate share of the joint venture’s operating results reflected, net of 
tax, as “Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate.”

On July 3, 2007, the preferred stockholders of the National Welders 
joint venture exchanged their preferred stock for common stock 
of Airgas (the “NWS Exchange Transaction”). The Company 
issued 2.471 million shares of Airgas common stock to the pre-
ferred stockholders in exchange for all 3.2 million preferred 
shares of National Welders. As part of the negotiated exchange, 
the Company issued an additional 144 thousand shares (included 
in the 2.471 million shares) of Airgas common stock to the pre-
ferred shareholders, which resulted in a one-time net after-tax 
charge of $2.5 million, or $0.03 per diluted share. The net after-tax 
charge was reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings as 
“Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate” and con-
sisted of $7 million related to the additional shares issued net of the 
reversal of a deferred tax liability related to the undistributed earn-
ings of the National Welders joint venture of $4.5 million. Upon 
the exchange, National Welders became a 100% owned subsidiary 
of Airgas.
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Note 14 
Stockholders’ Equity 

Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 200 million shares of 
common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share. At March 31, 
2009, the number of shares of common stock outstanding was 81.4 
million, excluding 4.1 million shares of common stock held as trea-
sury stock. At March 31, 2008, the number of shares of common 
stock outstanding was 82.3 million, excluding 1.8 million shares of 
common stock held as treasury stock.

Preferred Stock and Redeemable Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 20 million shares of 
preferred stock. Of the 20 million shares authorized, 200 thou-
sand shares have been designated as Series A Junior Participating 
Preferred Stock, 200 thousand shares have been designated as 
Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock and 200 thousand 
shares have been designated as Series C Junior Participating 
Preferred Stock (see Stockholder Rights Plan below). At March 31, 
2009 and 2008, no shares of the preferred stock were issued or 
outstanding. The preferred stock may be issued from time to time 
by the Company’s Board of Directors in one or more series. The 
Board of Directors is authorized to fix the dividend rights and 
terms, conversion rights, voting rights, rights and terms of redemp-
tion, liquidation preferences, and any other rights, preferences, 
privileges and restrictions of any series of preferred stock, and the 
number of shares constituting such series and designation thereof.

Additionally, the Company is authorized to issue 30 thousand 
shares of redeemable preferred stock. At March 31, 2009 and 
2008, no shares of redeemable preferred stock were issued or 
outstanding.

Dividends

The Company paid its stockholders quarterly cash dividends of 
$0.12 per share at the end of each of the first two quarters of fiscal 
2009. In the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2009, the Company 
paid dividends of $0.16 per share, representing a 33% increase in 
the quarterly dividend payments. During fiscal 2008, the Company 
paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of $0.09 
per share at the end of each of the first three quarters and $0.12 
per share at the end of the fourth quarter. During fiscal 2007, the 
Company paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of 
$0.07. Future dividend declarations and associated amounts paid 
will depend upon the Company’s earnings, financial condition, 
loan covenants, capital requirements and other factors deemed rel-
evant by management and the Company’s Board of Directors.

Stockholder Rights Plan

Effective May 8, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted 
a stockholder rights plan (the “2007 Rights Plan”). Pursuant to the 
2007 Rights Plan, the Board of Directors declared a dividend dis-
tribution of one right for each share of common stock. Each right 
entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one ten-thou-

sandth of a share of Series C Junior Participating Preferred Stock 
at an initial exercise price of $230 per share. The 2007 Rights Plan 
is intended to assure that all of the Company’s stockholders receive 
fair and equal treatment in the event of any proposed takeover of 
the Company and to protect stockholders’ interests in the event the 
Company is confronted with partial tender offers or other coercive 
or unfair takeover tactics.

Rights become exercisable after ten days following the acquisi-
tion by a person or group of 15% (or 20% in the case of Peter 
McCausland and certain of his affiliates) or more of the Company’s 
outstanding common stock, or ten business days (or later if deter-
mined by the Board of Directors in accordance with the plan) after 
the announcement of a tender offer or exchange offer to acquire 
15% (or 20% in the case of Peter McCausland and certain of his 
affiliates) or more of the outstanding common stock. If such a 
person or group acquires 15% or more (or 20% or more, as the case 
may be) of the common stock, each right (other than such person’s 
or group’s rights, which will become void) will entitle the holder 
to purchase, at the exercise price, common stock having a market 
value equal to twice the exercise price. In certain circumstances, 
the rights may be redeemed by the Company at an initial redemp-
tion price of $0.0001 per right. If not redeemed, the rights will 
expire on May 8, 2017. 

Stock Repurchase Plan

In November 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a 
stock repurchase plan (the “Repurchase Plan”) that provided the 
Company with the authorization to repurchase up to $150 mil-
lion of its common stock. The Repurchase Plan was suspended 
in July 2006 while the Company consummated its acquisitions of 
Linde AG’s U.S. bulk and packaged gas assets. In March 2008, the 
Company announced the reinstatement of its Repurchase Plan. 
During fiscal 2009 and 2008, 2.4 million and 496 thousand shares 
were repurchased for $115.6 million and $21.6 million, respec-
tively. Since inception, a total of 4.1 million shares have been 
repurchased under the plan for $150 million satisfying the original 
$150 million authorized for common stock repurchase. 

Comprehensive Income

The Company’s comprehensive income was $255 million, $214 
million and $154 million for the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 
and 2007, respectively. Comprehensive income consists of net 
earnings, foreign currency translation adjustments, the net change 
in the fair value of interest rate swaps and the net tax expense or 
benefit of other comprehensive income items. Net tax expense or 
benefit of comprehensive income items pertains to the Company’s 
interest rate swap agreements only, as foreign currency translation 
adjustments relate to permanent investments in foreign subsid-
iaries. The net change in the fair value of interest rate swaps reflects 
valuation adjustments for changes in interest rates, as well as cash 
settlements with the counterparties. 
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Note 15 
Stock-Based Compensation

The Company adopted SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment 
(“SFAS 123R”), effective April 1, 2006 using the modified prospec-
tive method. Under the modified prospective method, stock-based 
compensation recognized since the date of adoption includes: (a) 
any share-based payments granted subsequent to the date of adop-
tion, and (b) any portion of share-based payments granted prior to 
the date of adoption that vests subsequent to the date of adoption.

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2009 2008 2007

Stock-based compensation expense  
related to:

Stock option plans $ 14,863 $ 12,660 $ 12,164 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan —  

options to purchase stock  5,772  3,969  3,281 
 20,635  16,629  15,445 

Tax benefit  (6,544)  (5,282)  (4,589)
Stock-based compensation expense, net of tax $ 14,091 $ 11,347 $ 10,856

2006 Equity Incentive Plan

The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2006 Equity Plan”) was 
approved by the Company’s stockholders in August 2006. At March 
31, 2009, a total of 11.8 million shares were authorized under the 
2006 Equity Plan for grants of stock options and restricted stock 
to employees and directors of the Company, of which 2.4 million 
shares of common stock were available for issuance. 

Stock options granted prior to fiscal 2007 vest 25% annually and 
have a maximum term of ten years. Stock options granted subse-
quent to April 1, 2006 also vest 25% annually and have a maximum 
term of eight years. 

Fair Value

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing model to 
determine the fair value of stock options under SFAS 123R. The 
weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted 
during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was 
$18.17, $15.27 and $13.75, respectively. The following assump-
tions were used by the Company in valuing the stock option grants 
issued in each fiscal year:

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007

Stock Option Grant Assumptions:
Expected volatility 29.6% 30.8% 36.2%
Expected dividend yield 0.90% 0.82% 0.80%
Expected term 5.6 years 5.6 years 5.4 years
Risk-free interest rate 3.2% 4.7% 5.0%

The expected volatility assumption used in valuing stock options 
was determined based on anticipated changes in the underlying 
stock price over the expected term using historical daily changes 
of the Company’s closing stock price. The expected dividend yield 
was based on the Company’s history and expectation of future 

dividend payouts. The expected term represents the period of time 
that the options are expected to be outstanding prior to exercise or 
forfeiture. The expected term was determined based on historical 
exercise patterns. The risk-free interest rate was based on U.S. 
Treasury rates in effect at the time of grant commensurate with the 
expected term. 

Summary of Stock Option Activity

The following table summarizes the stock option activity during 
the three years ended March 31, 2009:

Number 
of Stock 
Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise 

Price
Per Share

Aggregate
Intrinsic 

Value
(In thousands)

Outstanding at March 31, 2006  6,993,818 $ 16.37
 Granted  991,440 $ 36.19
 Exercised  (967,590)  (1) $ 15.91
 Forfeited  (134,694) $ 26.09
Outstanding at March 31, 2007  6,882,974 $ 19.12 $ 158,515
 Granted  1,082,550 $ 43.94
 Exercised  (1,238,457) $ 16.46
 Forfeited  (94,364) $ 32.18
Outstanding at March 31, 2008  6,632,703 $ 23.52 $ 145,588
 Granted  1,120,273 $ 59.67
 Exercised  (1,027,129) $ 15.76
 Forfeited  (85,478) $ 31.63
Outstanding at March 31, 2009  6,640,369 $ 30.71 $ 60,142

Vested or expected to vest as of
 March 31, 2009  6,109,139 $ 30.71 $ 59,988

Exercisable as of March 31, 2009  3,458,387 $ 21.21 $ 58,217

(1) Actual shares issued associated with stock option exercises was 960 thousand due to a net 
share issue exercise.

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between 
the Company’s closing stock price on the last trading day of each 
fiscal year and the exercise price of in the money stock options 
multiplied by the number of stock options outstanding or exer-
cisable as of that date. The total intrinsic value of stock options 
exercised during the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 
was $33.1 million, $37.0 million and $22.7 million, respectively. 
The weighted-average remaining contractual term of stock options 
outstanding as of March 31, 2009 was 4.94 years. Common stock to 
be issued in conjunction with future stock option exercises will be 
obtained from either new shares or shares from treasury stock. 

As of March 31, 2009, $25.2 million of unrecognized compensation 
expense related to non-vested stock options is expected to be rec-
ognized over a weighted-average vesting period of 1.7 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) 
encourages and assists employees in acquiring an equity interest 
in the Company. The ESPP is authorized to issue up to 3.5 million 
shares of Company common stock, of which 967 thousand shares 
were available for issuance at March 31, 2009. 
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Under the terms of the ESPP, eligible employees may elect to have 
up to 15% of their annual gross earnings withheld to purchase 
common stock at 85% of the market value. Employee purchases 
are limited in any calendar year to an aggregate market value of 
$25,000. Market value under the ESPP is defined as either the 
closing share price on the New York Stock Exchange as of an 
employee’s enrollment date or the closing price on the first business 
day of a fiscal quarter when the shares are purchased, whichever 
is lower. An employee may lock-in a purchase price for up to 12 
months. The ESPP effectively resets at the beginning of each fiscal 
year at which time employees are re-enrolled in the plan and a 
new 12-month purchase price is established. The ESPP is designed 
to comply with the requirements of Sections 421 and 423 of the 
Internal Revenue Code. 

Compensation expense under SFAS 123R is measured based on the 
fair value of the employees’ option to purchase shares of common 
stock at the grant date and is recognized over the future periods 
in which the related employee service is rendered. The fair value 
per share of employee options to purchase shares under the ESPP 
was $12.46, $9.61 and $8.30 for the years ended March 31, 2009, 
2008 and 2007, respectively. The fair value of the employees’ option 
to purchase shares of common stock was estimated using the 
Black-Scholes model. The following assumptions were used by the 
Company in valuing the employees’ option to purchase shares of 
common stock under the ESPP: 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007

Expected volatility 61.3% 23.6% 30.8%
Expected dividend yield 1.07% 0.86% 0.73%
Expected term 3 to 6 months 3 to 12 months 2 to 8 months
Risk-free interest rate 1.7% 5.0% 5.0%

The following table summarizes the activity of the ESPP during the 
three years ended March 31, 2009:

Number 
of Purchase 

Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise 

Price
Per Share

Aggregate
Intrinsic 

Value
(In thousands)

Outstanding at March 31, 2006  137,687 $ 20.50
 Granted  395,587 $ 31.10
 Exercised  (430,519) $ 27.76
Outstanding at March 31, 2007  102,755 $ 30.86 $ 1,160
 Granted  412,917 $ 36.00
 Exercised  (407,038) $ 34.62
Outstanding at March 31, 2008  108,634 $ 36.21 $ 1,006
 Granted  463,443 $ 35.52
 Exercised  (439,325) $ 37.57
Outstanding at March 31, 2009  132,752 $ 29.30 $ 599

Note 16
Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, consists of:

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2009 2008 2007

Interest expense $  87,142 $  92,210 $  62,095 
Interest and finance charge (income)  (2,747)  (2,725)  (1,915)

$  84,395 $  89,485 $  60,180 

Note 17
Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net earnings by 
the weighted average number of shares of the Company’s common 
stock outstanding during the period. Outstanding shares consist of 
issued shares less treasury stock. Diluted earnings per share is cal-
culated by dividing net earnings by the weighted average common 
shares outstanding adjusted for the dilutive effect of common stock 
equivalents related to stock options and the Company’s ESPP. For 
periods prior to the July 3, 2007 NWS Exchange Transaction, the 
calculation of diluted earnings per share also assumed the conver-
sion of National Welders’ preferred stock to Airgas common stock 
(see Note 1 to the table below). 

Outstanding stock options that are anti-dilutive are excluded from 
the Company’s diluted earnings per share computation. There were 
approximately 1.9 million, 1.3 million, and 780 thousand out-
standing stock options that were not dilutive for the years ended 
March 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.
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The table below presents the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Years Ended March 31, 2009 2008 2007

Basic Earnings per Share Computation

Numerator:

Net earnings $  261,088 $  223,348 $  154,416 

Denominator:

Basic shares outstanding  81,926  81,402  78,025 

Basic net earnings per share $  3.19 $  2.74 $  1.98 

Years Ended March 31, 2009 2008 (2) 2007 (1)

Diluted Earnings per Share Computation

Numerator:

Net earnings $  261,088 $  223,348 $  154,416 

Plus: Preferred stock dividends  —  711  2,845 

Plus: Income taxes on earnings of National Welders  —  245  1,166 

Net earnings assuming preferred stock conversion $  261,088 $  224,304 $  158,427 

Denominator:

Basic shares outstanding  81,926  81,402  78,025 

Incremental shares from assumed exercises and conversions:

  Stock options and options under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan  1,890  2,242  2,214 

  Preferred stock of National Welders  —  591  2,327 

Diluted shares outstanding  83,816  84,235  82,566 

Diluted net earnings per share $  3.12 $  2.66 $  1.92 

(1) On July 3, 2007, the preferred stockholders of the National Welders joint venture exchanged their preferred stock for common stock of Airgas (see Note 13). Prior to July 3, 2007, the preferred 
stockholders of National Welders had the option to exchange their 3.2 million preferred shares of National Welders either for cash at a price of $17.78 per share or for approximately 2.3 million 
shares of Airgas common stock. If Airgas common stock had a market value of $24.45 per share or greater, exchange of the preferred stock for Airgas common stock was assumed because it 
provided greater value to the preferred stockholders. Based on the assumed exchange of the preferred stock for Airgas common stock, the 2.3 million shares were included in the diluted shares 
outstanding. 

 The National Welders preferred stockholders earned a 5% dividend, recognized as “Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate” in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings. Upon the 
exchange of the preferred stock for Airgas common stock, the dividend was no longer paid to the preferred stockholders, resulting in additional net earnings for Airgas. For the periods in which the 
exchange was assumed, the 5% preferred stock dividend was added back to net earnings in the diluted earnings per share computation. 

 For periods prior to the NWS Exchange Transaction, the earnings of National Welders for tax purposes were treated as a deemed dividend to Airgas, net of an 80% dividend exclusion. Upon the 
exchange of National Welders preferred stock for Airgas common stock, National Welders became a 100% owned subsidiary of Airgas. As a 100% owned subsidiary, the net earnings of National 
Welders are not subject to additional tax at the Airgas level. For the period in which the exchange was assumed, the additional tax was added back to net earnings in the diluted earnings per 
share computation. 

(2) The diluted earnings per share computation for the year ended March 31, 2008 includes the effect of the items described in (1) above, weighted to reflect the impact of the NWS Exchange 
Transaction.
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Note 18 
Leases 

The Company leases certain distribution facilities, fleet vehicles 
and equipment under long term operating leases with varying 
terms. Most leases contain renewal options and in some instances, 
purchase options. Rentals under these operating leases for the 
years ended March 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, totaled approximately 
$99 million, $96 million, and $79 million, respectively. Certain 
operating facilities are leased at market rates from employees of 
the Company who were previous owners of businesses acquired. 
Outstanding capital lease obligations and the related capital assets 
are not material to the consolidated balance sheets at March 31, 
2009 and 2008. In connection with the fleet vehicle operating 
leases, the Company guarantees a residual value of $29 million, 
representing approximately 16% of the original cost.

At March 31, 2009, future minimum lease payments under non-
cancelable operating leases were as follows:

(In thousands) 
Years Ending March 31, 

2010 $  83,948 
2011  71,307 
2012  56,744 
2013  37,407 
2014  20,128 
Thereafter  25,500 

$  295,034

Note 19 
Commitments and Contingencies

Legal

The Company is involved in various legal and regulatory proceed-
ings that have arisen in the ordinary course of its business and have 
not been fully adjudicated. These actions, when ultimately con-
cluded and determined, will not, in the opinion of management, 
have a material adverse effect upon the Company’s financial posi-
tion, results of operations or liquidity. 

Insurance Coverage

The Company has established insurance programs to cover 
workers’ compensation, business automobile and general liability 
claims. During fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, these programs had 
self-insured retention of $1 million per occurrence. For fiscal 2010, 
the self-insured retention will remain $1 million per occurrence. 
The Company believes its insurance reserves are adequate. The 
Company accrues estimated losses using actuarial models and 
assumptions based on historical loss experience. The nature of the 
Company’s business may subject it to product and general liability 
lawsuits. To the extent that the Company is subject to claims that 
exceed its liability insurance coverage, such suits could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results 
of operations or liquidity.

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefits plan, which 
provides medical benefits to employees electing coverage under 
the plan. The Company maintains a reserve for incurred but not 
reported medical claims and claim development. The reserve is an 
estimate based on historical experience and other assumptions, 
some of which are subjective. The Company will adjust its self-
insured medical benefits reserve as the Company’s loss experience 
changes due to medical inflation, changes in the number of plan 
participants and an aging employee base.

Supply Agreements

The Company purchases bulk quantities of industrial gases under 
long-term take-or-pay supply agreements. The Company is a party 
to a long-term take-or-pay supply agreement, in effect through 
August 2017, under which Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. (“Air 
Products”) will supply the Company with bulk nitrogen, oxygen 
and argon. Additionally, the Company has commitments to pur-
chase helium and hydrogen from Air Products under the terms of 
the take-or-pay supply agreement. The Company is committed to 
purchase approximately $55 million annually in bulk gases under 
the Air Products supply agreement. The Company also has long-
term take-or-pay supply agreements with Linde AG to purchase 
oxygen, nitrogen, argon, helium and acetylene. The agreements 
expire at various dates through July 2019 and represent almost $50 
million in annual bulk gas purchases. Additionally, the Company 
has long-term take-or-pay supply agreements to purchase oxygen, 
nitrogen, argon and helium from other major producers. Annual 
purchases under these contracts are approximately $20 million 
and they expire at various dates through 2024. The annual pur-
chase commitments above reflect estimates based on fiscal 2009 
purchases. 

The Company also purchases liquid carbon dioxide and ammonia 
under take-or-pay supply agreements. The Company is a party to 
long-term take-or-pay supply agreements for the purchase of liquid 
carbon dioxide with approximately 15 suppliers that expire at 
various dates through 2044 and represent approximately $18 mil-
lion in annual purchases. The Company purchases ammonia from 
a variety of sources and is obligated to purchase approximately $2 
million annually under these contracts. The annual purchase com-
mitments reflect estimates based on fiscal 2009 purchases.

The supply agreements noted above contain periodic pricing 
adjustments based on certain economic indices and market 
analyses. The Company believes the minimum product purchases 
under the agreements are within the Company’s normal product 
purchases. Actual purchases in future periods under the supply 
agreements could differ materially from those presented above due 
to fluctuations in demand requirements related to varying sales 
levels as well as changes in economic conditions. The Company 
believes that if a long-term supply agreement with a major supplier 
of gases or other raw materials was terminated, it would look to 
utilize excess internal production capacity and to locate alternative 
sources of supply to meet customer requirements. The Company 
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purchases hardgoods from major manufacturers and suppliers. For 
certain products, the Company has negotiated national purchasing 
arrangements. The Company believes that if an arrangement with 
any supplier of hardgoods was terminated, it would be able to 
negotiate comparable alternative supply arrangements. 

Construction Commitments

At March 31, 2009, the Company’s remaining construction com-
mitments totaled approximately $10 million. Construction 
commitments represent outstanding commitments to customers 
primarily to construct a raw liquid carbon dioxide plant in 
Camilla, GA. The Camilla, GA plant is expected to be completed in 
mid-fiscal 2010. 

Letters of Credit 

At March 31, 2009, the Company had outstanding letters of credit 
of approximately $42 million. Letters of credit are guarantees of 
payment to third parties. The Company’s letters of credit princi-
pally back obligations associated with the Company’s self-insured 
retention on workers’ compensation, business automobile and 
general liability claims. The letters of credit are supported by the 
Company’s Credit Facility.

Note 20 
Benefit Plans

The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the “401(k) 
plan”) covering substantially all full time employees. Under the 
terms of the 401(k) plan, the Company makes matching con-
tributions of up to two percent of participant’s wages. Amounts 
expensed under the 401(k) plan for fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007 were 
$8.6 million, $6.9 million and $5.8 million, respectively.

The Company participates in several multi-employer pension plans 
providing defined benefits to union employees under the provi-
sions of collective bargaining agreements. Contributions are made 
to the plans in accordance with negotiated collective bargaining 
agreements. The plans generally provide retirement benefits to 
participants based on their service to contributing employers. The 
Company contributed $753 thousand, $893 thousand and $1.2 mil-
lion to these plans in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

During fiscal 2009 and 2008, in connection with negotiated 
changes in collective bargaining agreements, the Company is no 
longer required to make contributions to certain pension funds. 
The Company believes that it has triggered a partial withdrawal lia-
bility for certain plans and has recorded estimated accruals totaling 
$6.2 million. If the Company elected to withdraw from all of its 
multi-employer pension plans, the additional withdrawal liability 
at March 31, 2009 is estimated to be $6 million. Though the latest 
information available to the Company from the plans was used in 
computing this estimate, it is not current and does not reflect the 
market conditions that impacted calendar 2008 and is calculated 
with numerous assumptions, including investment returns, benefit 
levels and continued participation by other companies that are in 
the plans.
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Note 21
Related Parties 

The Company purchases and sells goods and services in the ordi-
nary course of business with certain corporations in which some of 
its directors are officers or directors. The Company also leases cer-
tain operating facilities from employees who were previous owners 
of businesses acquired. Payments made to related parties for fiscal 
2009, 2008, and 2007 were $3.5 million, $1.1 million and $843 
thousand, respectively. Amounts paid to related parties represented 
values considered fair and reasonable and reflective of arm’s length 
transactions.

Note 22
Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash Paid for Interest and Taxes

Cash paid for interest and income taxes was as follows: 

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31,  2009 2008 2007

Interest paid $ 75,630 $ 93,076 $ 71,965
Discount on securitization 10,738 17,031 13,630
Income taxes (net of refunds) 64,616 52,254 50,021

Significant Non-cash Investing and Financing Transactions 

During the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the 
Company purchased $7.3 million, $13.7 million and $5.3 million, 
respectively, of rental welders, which were financed directly by a 
vendor. The vendor financing was reflected as long-term debt on 
the respective Consolidated Balance Sheets. Future cash payments 
in settlement of the debt will be reflected in the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows when paid.

During the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the 
Company recorded capitalized interest for construction in progress 
of $3.4 million, $1.6 million and $502 thousand, respectively. 

In connection with the NWS Exchange Transaction (see Note 13), 
the Company issued 2.471 million shares of common stock valued 
at approximately $64 million in a non-cash transaction in exchange 
for the preferred stock of National Welders. 

In an acquisition consummated during fiscal 2008, a seller of a 
business provided direct financing in the form of a $5 million 
note payable by the Company. Approximately $3 million was out-
standing on the note at March 31, 2009. Payment of the note will 
be reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows when the 
cash is paid. In addition, the Company assumed capital lease obli-
gations of $1.8 million in connection with an acquisition. 

In March 2008, the Company executed a $4.6 million purchase 
transaction of its common stock under its Repurchase Plan (see 
Note 14) that settled in April 2008. The purchase was a non-cash 
financing transaction that was recognized in treasury stock and as 
an accrued liability on the March 31, 2008 Consolidated Balance 
Sheet.

Note 23 
Summary by Business Segment

The Company aggregates its operations, based on products and 
services, into two reportable business segments, Distribution and 
All Other Operations. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, the 
Company changed the operating practices and organization of its 
air separation production facilities and national specialty gas labs. 
The new operating practices and organization reflect the evolution 
of these businesses and their role to support the regional distribu-
tion companies. The regional distribution companies market to 
and manage the end customer relationships, coordinating and 
cross-selling the Company’s multiple product and service offerings 
in a closely coordinated and integrated manner. As a result of these 
changes, these businesses are now reflected in the Distribution 
business segment. Also as a result of an organizational realignment, 
Airgas National Welders is now part of the Distribution business 
segment. Segment information from fiscal 2008 and 2007 was 
restated to reflect these changes. 

The Distribution business segment’s principal products include 
industrial, medical and specialty gases sold in packaged and bulk 
quantities, as well as hardgoods. The Company’s air separation pro-
duction facilities and national specialty gas labs primarily produce 
these gases for sale through the regional distribution companies. 
Business units in the Distribution business segment also recog-
nize rental revenue and distribute hardgoods. Gas sales include 
nitrogen, oxygen, argon, helium, hydrogen, propylene, propane 
welding and fuel gases such as acetylene, carbon dioxide, nitrous 
oxide, ultra high purity grades, special application blends and 
process chemicals. Rent is derived from gas cylinders, cryogenic 
liquid containers, bulk storage tanks, tube trailers and through the 
rental of welding and welding related equipment. Gas and rent rep-
resented 57%, 56% and 53% of the Distribution business segment’s 
sales in each of fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Hardgoods 
consist of welding consumables and equipment, safety products, 
construction supplies and MRO supplies. In fiscal 2009, 2008 and 
2007, hardgoods sales represented 43%, 44% and 47%, respectively, 
of the Distribution business segment’s sales. During fiscal 2009, 
2008 and 2007, the Distribution business segment accounted for 
approximately 90% of consolidated sales. 

The All Other Operations business segment consists of six busi-
ness units. The primary products manufactured and distributed are 
carbon dioxide, dry ice, nitrous oxide, ammonia and refrigerant 
gases. The business units reflected in the All Other Operations 
business segment individually do not meet the thresholds to be 
reported as separate business segments. Elimination entries repre-
sent intercompany sales from the Company’s All Other Operations 
business segment to its Distribution business segment.

The Company’s operations are predominantly in the United States. 
However, the Company does conduct operations outside of the 
United States, principally in Canada and to a lesser extent Mexico, 
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Russia, Dubai and Europe. Revenues derived from foreign coun-
tries are based on the point of sale and were $86 million, $63 
million and $51 million in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2009, 
2008 and 2007, respectively. Long-lived assets attributable to the 
Company’s foreign operations represent less than 3.5% of the con-
solidated total long-lived assets and were $116 million, $74 million 
and $56 million at March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
The Company’s customer base is diverse with its largest customer 
accounting for approximately 0.5% of total net sales. 

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those 
described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Note 
1). Additionally, corporate operating expenses are allocated to each 
segment based on sales dollars. Corporate assets have been allo-
cated to the Distribution business segment, intercompany sales are 
recorded on the same basis as sales to third parties, and intercom-
pany transactions are eliminated in consolidation. See Note 3 for 
the impact of acquisitions and divestitures on the operating results 
of each business segment.

Management utilizes more than one measurement and multiple 
views of data to measure segment performance and to allocate 
resources to the segments. However, the dominant measurements 
are consistent with the Company’s consolidated financial state-
ments and, accordingly, are reported on the same basis below. 

(In thousands) Distribution
All Other

Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2009
Gas and rent $  2,239,724 $  452,037 $  (26,236) $  2,665,525 
Hardgoods  1,678,652  5,292  (14)  1,683,930 
Total net sales  3,918,376  457,329  (26,250)  4,349,455 

Cost of products 
sold, excluding 
deprec. expense  1,813,125  258,145  (26,250)  2,045,020 

Selling, distribution 
and administrative 
expenses  1,432,105  126,667 —  1,558,772 

Depreciation  184,991  13,042 —  198,033 
Amortization  18,267  4,495 —  22,762 
Operating income $  469,888 $  54,980 $ — $  524,868 

Assets $  3,921,339 $  478,198 $  4,399,537 
Capital expenditures $  319,256 $  32,656 $  351,912

(In thousands) Distribution
All Other 

Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2008

Gas and rent $  2,048,070 $  339,455 $  (15,003) $  2,372,522 
Hardgoods  1,640,896  3,791  (185)  1,644,502 
Total net sales  3,688,966  343,246  (15,188)  4,017,024 

Cost of products 
sold, excluding 
deprec. expense  1,770,000  174,451  (15,188)  1,929,263 

Selling, distribution 
and administrative 
expenses  1,317,717  104,445 —  1,422,162 

Depreciation  163,470  12,332 —  175,802 
Amortization  11,857  2,116 —  13,973 
Operating income $  425,922 $  49,902 $ — $  475,824 

Assets $  3,694,717 $  292,547 $  3,987,264 
Capital expenditures $  251,130 $  16,248 $  267,378

(In thousands) Distribution
All Other 

Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2007

Gas and rent $  1,560,846 $  274,683 $  (11,942) $  1,823,587 
Hardgoods  1,378,439  3,046  (21)  1,381,464 
Total net sales  2,939,285  277,729  (11,963)  3,205,051 

Cost of products 
sold, excluding 
deprec. expense  1,445,204  133,991  (11,963)  1,567,232 

Selling, distribution 
and administrative 
expenses  1,059,329  89,650 —  1,148,979 

Depreciation  129,112  9,706 —  138,818 
Amortization  7,075  1,450 —  8,525 
Operating income $  298,565 $  42,932 $ — $  341,497 

Assets $  3,077,467 $  255,990 $  3,333,457 
Capital expenditures $  216,609 $  21,665 $  238,274
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Note 24
Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

This table summarizes the unaudited results of operations for each 
quarter of fiscal 2009 and 2008: 

(In thousands, 
except per share 
amounts) First Second Third Fourth

2009

Net sales $  1,116,714 $  1,161,908 $  1,078,733 $  992,100 
Operating income  134,852  144,988  130,522  114,506 
Net earnings  68,883  72,821  62,903  56,481 
Basic earnings  

per share (a) $  0.83 $  0.88 $  0.77 $  0.69 
Diluted earnings  

per share (a) $  0.81 $  0.86 $  0.76 $  0.68 

2008

Net sales $  915,099 $  1,007,283 $  1,008,045 $  1,086,597 
Operating income  111,038  115,396  118,330  131,060 
Net earnings (b)  51,720  50,609  56,806  64,213 
Basic earnings per 

share (a)(b) $  0.65 $  0.62 $  0.69 $  0.78 
Diluted earnings per 

share (a)(b) $  0.63 $  0.60 $  0.67 $  0.76

(a) Earnings per share calculations for each of the quarters are based on the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding in each quarter. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly earnings 
per share does not necessarily equal the full year earnings per share disclosed on the 
Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

(b) The quarterly results for fiscal 2008 include a one-time, non-cash expense in the second 
fiscal quarter of $2.5 million, or $0.03 per diluted share, related to the NWS Exchange 
Transaction through which the joint venture became a 100% owned subsidiary and a tax 
benefit in the third fiscal quarter of $1.3 million, or $0.01 per diluted share, related to a 
change in Texas state income tax law.

Note 25 
Subsequent Event

On May 19, 2009 the Company announced that its Board of 
Directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.18 per 
share. The dividend is payable June 30, 2009 to stockholders of 
record as of June 15, 2009. 

Note 26
Condensed Consolidating Financial Information of 
Subsidiary Guarantors

The obligations of the Company under its registered securities, the 
2004 Notes, are guaranteed by the Company’s domestic subsidiaries 
(the “Guarantors”). The guarantees are made fully and uncon-
ditionally on a joint and several basis. The Company’s foreign 
holdings and bankruptcy remote special purpose entity (the “Non-
guarantors”) are not guarantors of the 2004 Notes. The claims of 
creditors of Non-guarantor subsidiaries have priority over the 
rights of the Company to receive dividends or distributions from 
such subsidiaries. 

Presented below is supplementary condensed consolidating 
financial information for the Company, the Guarantors and the 
Non-guarantors as of March 31, 2009 and March 31, 2008 and 
for each of the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. The 
accounting policies of the subsidiary guarantors are the same as 
those described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(see Note 1).
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(In thousands)
March 31, 2009 Parent Guarantors Non-Guarantors

Elimination 
Entries Consolidated

Assets

Current Assets

Cash $  — $  40,492 $  6,696 $  — $  47,188 

Trade receivables, net  —  30,157  154,582  —  184,739 

Intercompany receivable (payable)  —  (4,115)  4,115  —  — 

Inventories, net  —  379,448  10,997  —  390,445 

Deferred income tax asset, net  23,901  12,995  (2,136)  —  34,760 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  25,639  33,572  1,627  —  60,838 

 Total current assets  49,540  492,549  175,881  —  717,970 

Plant and equipment, net  30,649  2,287,603  48,274  —  2,366,526 

Goodwill  —  1,045,691  17,679  —  1,063,370 

Other intangible assets, net  —  207,083  8,987  —  216,070 

Investments in subsidiaries  3,244,303  —  —  (3,244,303)  — 

Other non-current assets  21,250  9,183  5,168  —  35,601 

 Total assets $  3,345,742 $  4,042,109 $  255,989 $  (3,244,303) $  4,399,537 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable, trade $  1,797 $  147,167 $  7,874 $  — $  156,838 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  85,534  176,338  2,692  —  264,564 

Current portion of long-term debt  —  9,612  1,446  —  11,058 

 Total current liabilities  87,331  333,117  12,012  —  432,460 

Long-term debt, excluding current portion  1,698,700  11,465  40,143  —  1,750,308 

Deferred income tax liability, net  (41,992)  595,431  12,344  —  565,783 

Intercompany (receivable) payable  —  177,216  (177,216)  —  — 

Other non-current liabilities  29,948  44,071  5,212  —  79,231 

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred stock  —  —  —  —  — 

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share  856  —  —  —  856 

Capital in excess of par value  533,030  1,442,400  8,223  (1,450,623)  533,030 

Retained earnings  1,198,985  1,440,884  355,696  (1,796,580)  1,198,985 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (10,753)  (2,105)  (425)  2,530  (10,753)

Treasury stock  (150,363)  (370)  —  370  (150,363)

 Total stockholders’ equity  1,571,755  2,880,809  363,494  (3,244,303)  1,571,755 

 Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $  3,345,742 $  4,042,109 $  255,989 $  (3,244,303) $  4,399,537
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(In thousands)
March 31, 2008 Parent Guarantors Non-Guarantors

Elimination 
Entries Consolidated

Assets

Current Assets

Cash $  — $  40,397 $  2,651 $  — $  43,048 

Trade receivables, net  —  11,405  172,164  —  183,569 

Intercompany receivable (payable)  —  (2,385)  2,385  —  — 

Inventories, net  —  322,090  8,642  —  330,732 

Deferred income tax asset, net  11,399  12,995  (2,136)  —  22,258 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  25,095  40,408  1,607  —  67,110 

 Total current assets  36,494  424,910  185,313  —  646,717 

Plant and equipment, net  15,213  2,135,949  43,708  —  2,194,870 

Goodwill  —  951,650  17,409  —  969,059 

Other intangible assets, net  —  148,105  893  —  148,998 

Investments in subsidiaries  2,992,576  —  —  (2,992,576)  — 

Other non-current assets  16,121  9,181  2,318  —  27,620 

 Total assets $  3,060,404 $  3,669,795 $  249,641 $  (2,992,576) $  3,987,264 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable, trade $  5,740 $  174,498 $  4,873 $  — $  185,111 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  111,536  174,813  2,534  —  288,883 

Current portion of long-term debt  30,000  9,162  1,238  —  40,400 

 Total current liabilities  147,276  358,473  8,645  —  514,394 

Long-term debt, excluding current portion  1,497,000  16,953  25,695  —  1,539,648 

Deferred income tax liability, net  (33,481)  462,857  10,406  —  439,782 

Intercompany (receivable) payable  450  106,971  (107,421)  —  — 

Other non-current liabilities  35,823  39,400  4,881  —  80,104 

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred stock  —  —  —  —  — 

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share  841  —  —  —  841 

Capital in excess of par value  468,302  1,502,919  8,224  (1,511,143)  468,302 

Retained earnings  983,663  1,180,816  292,065  (1,472,881)  983,663 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  (4,713)  1,776  7,146  (8,922)  (4,713)

Treasury stock  (34,757)  (370)  —  370  (34,757)

 Total stockholders’ equity  1,413,336  2,685,141  307,435  (2,992,576)  1,413,336 

 Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $  3,060,404 $  3,669,795 $  249,641 $  (2,992,576) $  3,987,264
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(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2009 Parent Guarantors Non-Guarantors

Elimination 
Entries Consolidated

Net Sales $  — $  4,284,869 $  64,586 $  — $  4,349,455 

Costs and Expenses:

Cost of products sold  

(excluding depreciation expense)  —  2,022,575  22,445  —  2,045,020 

Selling, distribution and  

administrative expenses  4,824  1,509,012  44,936  —  1,558,772 

Depreciation  4,050  189,050  4,933  —  198,033 

Amortization  —  21,720  1,042  —  22,762 

  Operating Income (Loss)  (8,874)  542,512  (8,770)  —  524,868 

Interest (expense) income, net  (85,207)  2,824  (2,012)  —  (84,395)

(Discount) gain on securitization  

of trade receivables  —  (118,235)  107,497  —  (10,738)

Other income (expense), net  (1,041)  (360)  1,019  —  (382)

Earnings (loss) before income taxes  (95,122)  426,741  97,734  —  429,353 

Income tax benefit (expense)  32,511  (166,674)  (34,102)  —  (168,265)

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries  323,699  —  —  (323,699)  — 

  Net Earnings $  261,088 $  260,067 $  63,632 $  (323,699) $  261,088 

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2008 Parent Guarantors Non-Guarantors

Elimination 
Entries Consolidated

Net Sales $  — $  3,972,305 $  44,719 $  — $  4,017,024 

Costs and Expenses:

Cost of products sold  

(excluding depreciation expense)  —  1,917,251  12,012  —  1,929,263 

Selling, distribution and  

administrative expenses  271  1,389,079  32,812  —  1,422,162 

Depreciation  4,685  167,196  3,921  —  175,802 

Amortization  16  13,927  30  —  13,973 

   Operating Income (Loss)  (4,972)  484,852  (4,056)  —  475,824 

Interest (expense) income, net  (88,363)  43  (1,165)  —  (89,485)

(Discount) gain on securitization  

of trade receivables  —  (104,174)  87,143  —  (17,031)

Other income (expense), net  (380)  (173)  2,007  —  1,454 

Earnings (loss) before income  

taxes and minority interest  (93,715)  380,548  83,929  —  370,762 

Income tax benefit (expense)  35,195  (150,051)  (29,328)  —  (144,184)

Minority interest in earnings of 

consolidated affiliate  (2,519)  (711)  —  —  (3,230)

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries  284,387  —  —  (284,387)  — 

  Net Earnings $  223,348 $  229,786 $  54,601 $  (284,387) $  223,348 
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(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2007 Parent Guarantors Non-Guarantors

Elimination 
Entries Consolidated

Net Sales $  — $  3,168,232 $  36,819 $  — $  3,205,051 

Costs and Expenses:

Cost of products sold  

(excluding depreciation expense)  —  1,556,252  10,980  —  1,567,232 

Selling, distribution and  

administrative expenses  6,593  1,117,741  24,645  —  1,148,979 

Depreciation  6,074  129,656  3,088  —  138,818 

Amortization  —  8,525  —  —  8,525 

  Operating Income (Loss)  (12,667)  356,058  (1,894)  —  341,497 

Interest (expense) income, net  (74,369)  15,315  (1,126)  —  (60,180)

(Discount) gain on securitization  

of trade receivables  —  (81,487)  67,857  —  (13,630)

Loss on the extinguishment of debt  (12,099)  —  —  —  (12,099)

Other income (expense), net  (82)  (733)  2,371  —  1,556 

Earnings (loss) before income  

taxes and minority interest  (99,217)  289,153  67,208  —  257,144 

Income tax benefit (expense)  34,555  (110,978)  (23,460)  —  (99,883)

Minority interest in earnings of  

consolidated affiliate  —  (2,845)  —  —  (2,845)

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries  219,078  —  —  (219,078)  — 

  Net Earnings $  154,416 $  175,330 $  43,748 $  (219,078) $  154,416 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

74

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Airgas ,  In c .  20 0 9

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2009 Parent Guarantors Non-Guarantors

Elimination 
Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in)  

operating activities $  (107,739) $  602,221 $  88,285 $  — $  582,767 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures  (19,780)  (323,959)  (8,173)  —  (351,912)

Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment  303  4,711  9,346  —  14,360 

Business acquisitions and holdback settlements  —  (252,070)  (21,680)  —  (273,750)

Other, net  (10)  9,980  (8,592)  —  1,378 

Receipts from subsidiaries, net  82,368  —  —  (82,368)  — 

Net cash provided by (used in)  

investing activities  62,881  (561,338)  (29,099)  (82,368)  (609,924)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings  1,309,188  26,981  28,254  —  1,364,423 

Repayment of debt  (1,119,879)  (55,197)  (13,599)  —  (1,188,675)

Financing costs  (9,201)  —  —  —  (9,201)

Purchase of treasury stock  (120,219)  —  —  —  (120,219)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options  16,188  —  —  —  16,188 

Stock issued for the employee stock  

purchase plan  16,507  —  —  —  16,507 

Tax benefit realized from  

the exercise of stock options  11,846  —  —  —  11,846 

Dividends paid to stockholders  (45,766)  —  —  —  (45,766)

Change in cash overdraft  (13,806)  —  —  —  (13,806)

Changes in due to/from parent  —  (12,572)  (69,796)  82,368  — 

Net cash provided by (used in)  

financing activities  44,858  (40,788)  (55,141)  82,368  31,297 

Change in Cash $  — $  95 $  4,045 $  — $  4,140 

Cash — Beginning of period  —  40,397  2,651  —  43,048 

Cash — End of period $  — $  40,492 $  6,696 $  — $  47,188 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued 

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

75

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Airgas ,  In c .  20 0 9

(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2008 Parent Guarantors Non-Guarantors

Elimination 
Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in)  

operating activities $  (33,482) $  547,867 $  35,541 $  — $  549,926 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures  (3,910)  (255,264)  (8,204)  —  (267,378)

Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment  6  8,592  747  —  9,345 

Business acquisitions and holdback settlements  —  (480,096)  —  —  (480,096)

Other, net  (18)  7,398  (8,696)  —  (1,316)

Advances to subsidiaries, net  (262,684)  —  —  262,684  — 

Net cash used in investing activities  (266,606)  (719,370)  (16,153)  262,684  (739,445)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings  1,132,610  19,565  10,277  —  1,162,452 

Repayment of debt  (831,166)  (119,127)  (3,456)  —  (953,749)

Minority interest in earnings  —  (711)  —  —  (711)

Purchase of treasury stock  (17,010)  —  —  —  (17,010)

Proceeds from the exercise of stock options  20,381  —  —  —  20,381 

Stock issued for the employee stock  

purchase plan  14,091  —  —  —  14,091 

Tax benefit realized from  

the exercise of stock options  13,327  —  —  —  13,327 

Dividends paid to stockholders  (31,828)  —  —  —  (31,828)

Change in cash overdraft  (317)  —  —  —  (317)

Changes in due to/from parent  —  286,923  (24,239)  (262,684)  — 

Net cash provided by (used in)  

financing activities  300,088  186,650  (17,418)  (262,684)  206,636 

Change in Cash $  — $  15,147 $  1,970 $  — $  17,117 

Cash — Beginning of period  —  25,250  681  —  25,931 

Cash — End of period $  — $  40,397 $  2,651 $  — $  43,048
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(In thousands)
Year Ended March 31, 2007 Parent Guarantors Non-Guarantors

Elimination 
Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in)  

operating activities $  (102,808) $  432,677 $  (3,526) $  — $  326,343 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures  (4,012)  (228,672)  (5,590)  —  (238,274)

Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment  177  8,349  159  —  8,685 

Business acquisitions and holdback settlements  —  (687,892)  —  —  (687,892)

Other, net  (572)  58  40  —  (474)

Advances to subsidiaries, net  (462,564)  —  —  462,564  — 

Net cash used in investing activities  (466,971)  (908,157)  (5,391)  462,564  (917,955)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings  1,480,984  95,149  1,834  —  1,577,967 

Repayment of debt  (926,827)  (79,215)  (2,144)  —  (1,008,186)

Financing costs  (5,103)  —  —  —  (5,103)

Premium paid on call of senior  

subordinated notes  (10,267)  —  —  —  (10,267)

Minority interest in earnings  —  (2,845)  —  —  (2,845)

Proceeds from the exercise of stock options  15,107  —  —  —  15,107 

Stock issued for the employee stock  

purchase plan  11,951  —  —  —  11,951 

Tax benefit realized from  

the exercise of stock options  9,013  —  —  —  9,013 

Dividends paid to stockholders  (21,980)  —  —  —  (21,980)

Change in cash overdraft  16,901  —  —  —  16,901 

Changes in due to/from parent  —  457,458  5,106  (462,564)  — 

Net cash provided by financing activities  569,779  470,547  4,796  (462,564)  582,558 

Change in Cash $  — $  (4,933) $  (4,121) $  — $  (9,054)

Cash — Beginning of period  —  30,183  4,802  —  34,985 

Cash — End of period $  — $  25,250 $  681 $  — $  25,931
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Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Free Cash Flow

(In thousands) 
Years Ended March 31, 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Net cash provided by operating activities $  212,410 $  346,045 $  326,343 $  549,926 $  582,767 

Adjustments to cash provided by operating activities:

Cash used (provided) by the securitization of trade receivables  (27,300)  (54,300)  (20,200)  (95,600)  48,600 

Stock issued for the Employee Stock Purchase Plan  9,907  10,534  11,951  14,091  16,507 

Tax benefit realized from the exercise of stock options  —  —  9,013  13,327  11,846 

Adjusted cash from operations  195,017  302,279  327,107  481,744  659,720 

Capital expenditures  (167,977)  (208,603)  (238,274)  (267,378)  (351,912)

Adjustments to capital expenditures:

Operating lease buyouts  24,130  14,558  9,509  979  5,575 

Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment  5,361  8,202  8,685  9,345  14,360 

Adjusted capital expenditures  (138,486)  (185,843)  (220,080)  (257,054)  (331,977)

Free cash flow $  56,531 $  116,436 $  107,027 $  224,690 $  327,743 

The Company believes that free cash flow provides investors meaningful insight into the Company’s ability to generate cash from operations, which is available for servicing debt obligations and for the 
execution of its business strategy, including acquisitions, the prepayment of debt, or to support other investing and financing activities. 

Non-GAAP numbers should be read in conjunction with GAAP financial measures, as non-GAAP metrics are merely a supplement to, and not a replacement for, GAAP financial measures.

It should be noted as well that our free cash flow metric may be different from a free cash flow metric provided by other companies.
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Reconciliation and Computation of Return on Capital

(In thousands) 
Years Ending March 31, 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Operating Income $  202,454 $  269,142 $  341,497 $  475,824 $  524,868 

Five Quarter Average of Total Assets $  2,112,504 $  2,378,324 $  2,679,575 $  3,710,066 $  4,239,658 

Five Quarter Average of

Securitized Trade Receivables  183,300  216,360  246,240  310,880  350,280 

Five Quarter Average of

Current Liabilities (Exclusive of Debt)  (269,975)  (326,618)  (354,623)  (423,266)  (456,154)

Five Quarter Average Capital Employed $  2,025,829 $  2,268,066 $  2,571,193 $  3,597,680 $  4,133,784 

Return on Capital 10.0% 11.8% 13.3% 13.2% 12.7%

The Company believes this return on capital computation helps investors assess how effectively the Company uses the capital invested in its operations.

Management uses return on capital as one of the metrics for determining employee compensation. 

Non-GAAP numbers should be read in conjunction with GAAP financial measures, as non-GAAP metrics are merely a supplement to, and not a replacement for, GAAP financial measures.

It should be noted as well that our return on capital computation may be different from a return on capital computation provided by other companies.

Quarterly averages used in the computation of return on capital above reflect the impact of acquisitions as of their acquisition date.

Twenty-one Year Reconciliation of Operating income to Adjusted EBITDA to Cash from Operations

(In thousands) 
Years Ended March 31, 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Operating income $  15,958 $  23,221 $  17,286 $  26,316 $  34,367 $  48,667 $  72,600 $  92,987 $  80,480 $  111,709 $  112,607 $  105,461 $  106,728 $  124,938 $  156,336 $  168,544 $  202,454 $  269,142 $  341,497 $  475,824 $  524,868 
Add:
Depreciation & amortization  11,147  17,387  21,158  23,420  28,042  30,571  36,868  45,762  64,428  82,227  83,839  85,262  82,796  71,757  79,279  87,447  111,078  127,542  147,343  189,775  220,795 
Adjusted EBITDA  27,105  40,608  38,444  49,736  62,409  79,238  109,468  138,749  144,908  193,936  196,446  190,723  189,524  196,695  235,615  255,991  313,532  396,684  488,840  665,599  745,663 

(Uses)/sources of cash excluded from Adjusted 

EBITDA, included in Cash from Operations:

Interest expense, net  (12,245)  (16,198)  (15,179)  (12,838)  (11,403)  (12,486)  (17,625)  (24,862)  (39,367)  (52,603)  (59,677)  (56,879)  (59,550)  (46,775)  (46,374)  (42,357)  (51,245)  (54,145)  (60,180)  (89,485)  (84,395)
Discount on securitization of receivables  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (1,303)  (4,846)  (3,326)  (3,264)  (4,711)  (9,371)  (13,630)  (17,031)  (10,738)
Current income taxes  404  1,700  (599)  (3,591)  (5,653)  (7,838)  (12,345)  (17,654)  (20,012)  (16,502)  (17,244)  (16,902)  (13,402)  4,546  (33,174)  (24,623)  (22,622)  (30,718)  (47,972)  (69,459)  (64,985)
Other income (expense)  215  157  870  214  546  453  1,607  781  1,695  9,811  29,491  18,625  1,324  5,987  2,132  1,472  1,129  2,411  1,556  1,454  (382)
Equity in earnings of Elkem joint venture  1,415  1,435  2,009  2,019  (897)  (1,258)  (840)  (1,428)  (1,356)  (1,478)  (869)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
(Gains)/losses on divestitures  —  —  —  —  —  —  (560)  —  —  (1,452)  (25,468)  (17,712)  (1,173)  (5,548)  241  —  (360)  1,900  —  —  — 
(Gains)/losses on sale of PP&E  (32)  2  (715)  (76)  (292)  (63)  110  (12)  616  (504)  (222)  (915)  502  405  (257)  (837)  (321)  (1,330)  39  714  (964)
Stock-based compensation expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  15,445  16,629  20,635 
Income/(loss) on discontinued operations  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  478  (635)  (871)  (335)  (400)  (3,529)  (1,776)  (457)  464  (1,424)  —  —  — 
Other non-cash charges  260  308  252  250  —  —  —  —  3,930  11,422  —  458  2,281  1,068  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Cash provided by (used in) changes  

in assets and liabilities  4,379  702  6,712  15,968  13,608  6,752  (2,030)  (6,948)  (14,801)  (13,548)  (25,273)  (22,686)  78,329  95,691  33,931  17,865  (23,456)  42,038  (57,755)  41,505  (22,067)

Net Cash Provided  
by Operating Activities $  21,501 $  28,714 $  31,794 $  51,682 $  58,318 $  64,798 $  77,785 $  88,626 $  76,091 $  128,447 $  96,313 $  94,377 $  196,132 $  243,694 $  187,012 $  203,790 $  212,410 $  346,045 $  326,343 $  549,926 $  582,767 

The Company believes Adjusted EBITDA provides investors meaningful insight into the Company’s ability to generate cash from operations to support required working capital, capital expenditures and financial obligations.

Non-GAAP numbers should be read in conjunction with GAAP financial measures, as non-GAAP metrics are merely a supplement to, and not a replacement for, GAAP financial measures.

It should be noted as well that our Adjusted EBITDA metric may be different from an Adjusted EBITDA metric provided by other companies.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial statements to conform to the current presentation.
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Twenty-one Year Reconciliation of Operating income to Adjusted EBITDA to Cash from Operations

(In thousands) 
Years Ended March 31, 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Operating income $  15,958 $  23,221 $  17,286 $  26,316 $  34,367 $  48,667 $  72,600 $  92,987 $  80,480 $  111,709 $  112,607 $  105,461 $  106,728 $  124,938 $  156,336 $  168,544 $  202,454 $  269,142 $  341,497 $  475,824 $  524,868 
Add:
Depreciation & amortization  11,147  17,387  21,158  23,420  28,042  30,571  36,868  45,762  64,428  82,227  83,839  85,262  82,796  71,757  79,279  87,447  111,078  127,542  147,343  189,775  220,795 
Adjusted EBITDA  27,105  40,608  38,444  49,736  62,409  79,238  109,468  138,749  144,908  193,936  196,446  190,723  189,524  196,695  235,615  255,991  313,532  396,684  488,840  665,599  745,663 

(Uses)/sources of cash excluded from Adjusted 

EBITDA, included in Cash from Operations:

Interest expense, net  (12,245)  (16,198)  (15,179)  (12,838)  (11,403)  (12,486)  (17,625)  (24,862)  (39,367)  (52,603)  (59,677)  (56,879)  (59,550)  (46,775)  (46,374)  (42,357)  (51,245)  (54,145)  (60,180)  (89,485)  (84,395)
Discount on securitization of receivables  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (1,303)  (4,846)  (3,326)  (3,264)  (4,711)  (9,371)  (13,630)  (17,031)  (10,738)
Current income taxes  404  1,700  (599)  (3,591)  (5,653)  (7,838)  (12,345)  (17,654)  (20,012)  (16,502)  (17,244)  (16,902)  (13,402)  4,546  (33,174)  (24,623)  (22,622)  (30,718)  (47,972)  (69,459)  (64,985)
Other income (expense)  215  157  870  214  546  453  1,607  781  1,695  9,811  29,491  18,625  1,324  5,987  2,132  1,472  1,129  2,411  1,556  1,454  (382)
Equity in earnings of Elkem joint venture  1,415  1,435  2,009  2,019  (897)  (1,258)  (840)  (1,428)  (1,356)  (1,478)  (869)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
(Gains)/losses on divestitures  —  —  —  —  —  —  (560)  —  —  (1,452)  (25,468)  (17,712)  (1,173)  (5,548)  241  —  (360)  1,900  —  —  — 
(Gains)/losses on sale of PP&E  (32)  2  (715)  (76)  (292)  (63)  110  (12)  616  (504)  (222)  (915)  502  405  (257)  (837)  (321)  (1,330)  39  714  (964)
Stock-based compensation expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  15,445  16,629  20,635 
Income/(loss) on discontinued operations  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  478  (635)  (871)  (335)  (400)  (3,529)  (1,776)  (457)  464  (1,424)  —  —  — 
Other non-cash charges  260  308  252  250  —  —  —  —  3,930  11,422  —  458  2,281  1,068  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Cash provided by (used in) changes  

in assets and liabilities  4,379  702  6,712  15,968  13,608  6,752  (2,030)  (6,948)  (14,801)  (13,548)  (25,273)  (22,686)  78,329  95,691  33,931  17,865  (23,456)  42,038  (57,755)  41,505  (22,067)

Net Cash Provided  
by Operating Activities $  21,501 $  28,714 $  31,794 $  51,682 $  58,318 $  64,798 $  77,785 $  88,626 $  76,091 $  128,447 $  96,313 $  94,377 $  196,132 $  243,694 $  187,012 $  203,790 $  212,410 $  346,045 $  326,343 $  549,926 $  582,767 

The Company believes Adjusted EBITDA provides investors meaningful insight into the Company’s ability to generate cash from operations to support required working capital, capital expenditures and financial obligations.

Non-GAAP numbers should be read in conjunction with GAAP financial measures, as non-GAAP metrics are merely a supplement to, and not a replacement for, GAAP financial measures.

It should be noted as well that our Adjusted EBITDA metric may be different from an Adjusted EBITDA metric provided by other companies.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial statements to conform to the current presentation.
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Corporate Office

259 North Radnor-Chester Road 
Radnor, PA 19087-5283 
Telephone: 800 255-2165 
Fax: 610 687-1052

www.airgas.com

Annual Meeting
The 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Airgas, Inc. will be 
held on Tuesday, August 18, 2009, at 11:00 a.m., Eastern Daylight 
Time, at the Independence Seaport Museum, 211 South Columbus 
Boulevard and Walnut Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19106.

Financial Information
The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports 
on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amend-
ments to those reports filed with or furnished to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) are available free of charge on the 
Company’s website (www.airgas.com) under the “Investors” sec-
tion. The Company makes these documents available as soon as 
reasonably practicable after they are filed with or furnished to the 
SEC, but no later than the end of the day in which they are filed or 
furnished to the SEC. Requests for copies of Airgas’ publicly filed 
documents and other stockholder inquiries should be directed to:

Airgas, Inc. 
Attention: Investor Relations 
259 North Radnor-Chester Road 
Radnor, PA 19087-5283 
Telephone: 610 902-6256 
Fax: 610 225-3271

E-mail: investors@airgas.com

Quarterly Stock Information

 High  Low 
Dividends
Per Share 

Fiscal 2009
First Quarter $  64.72 $  45.98 $  0.12 
Second Quarter  60.00  44.35  0.12 
Third Quarter  47.00  27.45  0.16 
Fourth Quarter  40.65  27.09  0.16 

Fiscal 2008
First Quarter $  48.23 $  41.49 $  0.09 
Second Quarter  52.05  42.31  0.09 
Third Quarter  55.27  45.85  0.09 
Fourth Quarter  51.01  40.24  0.12

Common Stock
Airgas’ common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange 
under the ticker symbol ARG. The closing sale price of the 
Company’s common stock as reported by the New York Stock 
Exchange on May 28, 2009 was $42.04 per share. As of May 28, 
2009, there were approximately 458 stockholders of record. 

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

KPMG LLP 
1601 Market Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103

Transfer Agent

The Bank of New York Mellon 
480 Washington Boulevard 
Jersey City, NJ 07310-1900

Equal Opportunity at Airgas

Airgas is committed to providing equal opportunities in the 
workplace.

Forward-Looking Statements
All forward-looking statements are based on current expectations 
regarding important risk factors, which include, but are not limited 
to, the factors described in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” contained in 
this Annual Report.

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct
The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct 
applicable to its employees, officers and directors. The Code 
of Ethics and Business Conduct is available on the Company’s 
website, under the web pages “Company Information,” “About 
Airgas,” “Corporate Governance.” Amendments to and waivers 
from the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct will also be dis-
closed promptly on the website. In addition, stockholders may 
request a printed copy of the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, 
free of charge, by contacting the Company’s Investor Relations 
department.

Corporate Governance Guidelines 
The Company has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines 
as well as charters for its Audit Committee and Governance & 
Compensation Committee. These documents are available on the 
Company’s website, as noted above. Stockholders may also request 
a copy of these documents, free of charge, by contacting the 
Company’s Investor Relations department. 

Certifications
The certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer required 
by Section 303A.12(a) of The New York Stock Exchange Listed 
Company Manual relating to the Company’s compliance with 
The New York Stock Exchange’s Corporate Governance Listing 
Standards was submitted to the New York Stock Exchange on 
August 29, 2008. 

The Company has also filed certifications of its Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer and Senior Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer pursuant to Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 as exhibits to its Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for each of the years ended March 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. 
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Board of Directors 
(from Left to Right)

James W. Hovey (4) 
President 
The Fox Companies

Lee M. Thomas (3) 
Chairman, President and CEO 
Rayonier, Inc.

David M. Stout (1)(3) 
Former President, Pharmaceuticals 
GlaxoSmithKline

Peter McCausland (1) 
Chairman and CEO 
Airgas, Inc.

Ellen C. Wolf (2) 
Senior VP and CFO 
American Water

John C. van Roden, Jr. (2)(4) 
Former EVP and Chief Financial Officer  
P.H. Glatfelter Company

W. Thacher Brown (1)(4) 
Former Chairman and President 
1838 Investment Advisors, LLC

Paula A. Sneed (2) 
Former EVP Global Marketing  
Resources & Initiatives  
Kraft Foods 

Richard C. III (3) 
President and CEO 
Triumph Group, Inc. 

(1) Executive Committee
(2) Audit Committee
(3) Governance and Compensation Committee
(4) Finance Committee
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